
1

Planning, Taxi Licensing & Rights of Way 
Committee
Meeting Venue
Council Chamber - County Hall, 
Llandrindod Wells, Powys

Meeting Date
Thursday, 2 August 2018

Meeting Time
9.30 am

For further information please contact

County Hall
Llandrindod Wells

Powys
LD1 5LG

Carol Johnson
01597826206
carol.johnson@powys.gov.uk

26 July, 2018

The use of Welsh by participants is welcomed. If you wish to use Welsh please 
inform us by noon, two working days before the meeting

AGENDA

1. APOLOGIES 

To receive apologies for absence.

2. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING 

To authorise the Chair to sign the minutes of the previous meeting of the Committee 
held on 5 July, 2018 as a correct record.
(To Follow)

Planning

3. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

a) To receive any declarations of interest from Members relating to items to be 
considered on the agenda. 
b) To receive Members' requests that a record be made of their membership of 
town or community councils where discussion has taken place of matters for the 
consideration of this Committee. 
c) To receive declarations from Members of the Committee that they will be 
acting as 'Local Representative' in respect of an individual application being 
considered by the Committee. 

Public Document Pack



d) To note the details of Members of the County Council (who are not Members 
of the Committee) who will be acting as 'Local Representative' in respect of an 
individual application being considered by the Committee.

4. PLANNING APPLICATIONS FOR CONSIDERATION BY THE COMMITTEE 

To consider the reports of the Head of Regeneration and Regulatory Services  and 
to make any necessary decisions thereon.

(Pages 5 - 8)

4.1. Updates
Any Updates will be added to the Agenda, as a Supplementary Pack, 
wherever possible, prior to the meeting.
(To Follow)

4.2. P/2018/0587 Abermule Business Park, Abermule, Powys
(Pages 9 - 62)

4.3. P/2018/0632 Brynllywarch Residential School, Kerry, Newtown 
Powys SY16 4PB
(Pages 63 - 72)

4.4. P/2018/0507 Land at West Street, Knighton, Powys, LD7 1EN
(Pages 73 - 88)

4.5. P/2018/0627 Land Adjacent to Llanbister County Primary School, 
Llanbister, Llandrindod Wells, Powys, LD1 6TN
(Pages 89 - 100)

4.6. P/2017/1453 Dolygarn, Llanbadarn Fynydd, Llandrindod Wells 
Powys LD1 6YL
(Pages 101 - 112)

4.7. P/2017/1274 Sites A, B & C Nr. Riverside & Nr. Latham Park, 
Newtown, Powys
(Pages 113 - 136)



4.8. P/2018/0592 Trefonnen Church In Wales School, Trefonen Lane, 
Llandrindod Wells, Powys, LD1 5EB
(Pages 137 - 142)

4.9. P/2018/0467 Y Ffrydd, Canal Road, Newtown, Powys, SY16 2JY
(Pages 143 - 148)

5. DECISIONS OF THE HEAD OF REGENERATION AND REGULATORY 
SERVICES ON DELEGATED APPLICATIONS 

To receive for information a list of decisions made by the Head of Regeneration and 
Regulatory Services under delegated powers.
(To Follow)

Rights of Way

6. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

To receive any declarations of interest from Members relating to the following 
Agenda items.

7. APPLICATION TO CORRECT THE REGISTER OF COMMON LAND 

To conisder an application to correct the Register of Common Land, sections 22 and 
Schedule 2 of the Commons Act 2006 – Application 17-001CA, Register unit MCL76, 
area Y – Land at Rhiwgriafol, community of Glantwymyn
(Pages 149 - 276)

8. OPPOSED DIVERSION ORDER 2017: ABANDONMENT AND MAKING OF 
A NEW PUBLIC PATH ORDER 

To consider a report regardigng Footpaths C15 and C18, Wernllwyd (Community of 
Welshpool.) Proposed abandonment of diversion Order 2017 and making of a new 
diversion Order under section 119 of the Highways Act 1980.
(Pages 277 - 298)

Taxi and other licensing

9. MINUTES OF TAXI REVIEW PANELS 

To authorise the Chair presiding at the following Taxi Review Panel to sign the 
minutes as a correct record: 1 May 2018.  
(Pages 299 - 302)





Planning, Taxi Licensing and Rights of Way Committee
2nd August 2018

For the purpose of the Government (Access to Information) Act 1985, the 
background papers relating to each individual planning application constitute all the 

correspondence on the file as numbered in the left hand column.

Applications for consideration by Committee:

Application No:                                     Nature of Development:
Community:                                          Location of Development:
O.S. Grid Reference:                            Applicant:
Date Received:                                     Recommendation of Head of Planning:

P/2018/0587

Abermule with Llandyssil

315781.85  294091.63

06/06/2018

Hybrid application comprising of a full 
application for a proposed recycling bulking 
facility and associated works and an outline 
application for the erection of business units 
(B1/B2/B8) and all associated works

Abermule Business Park, Abermule, Powys 

Powys County Council

Recommendation:
Conditional Consent 

P/2018/0632

Kerry

315123.71  289297.18

19/06/2018

Full: Erection of a classroom unit

Brynllywarch Residential School, Kerry, 
Newtown Powys SY16 4PB

Powys County Council

Recommendation:
Conditional Consent 

P/2018/0507

Knighton Town Council

328392.3  272534.84

10/05/2018

Section 73 application for variation of 
condition nos 2 and 3 attached to planning 
permission P/2015/0419 to extend the time 
limit for commencement

Land at West Street, Knighton, Powys, LD7 
1EN

D Willowridge, Willowridge International, 10 
Old Cheltenham Road,   Longlevens, 
Gloucester, GL2 0AW

Recommendation:
Conditional Consent

Page 5

4



P/2018/0627

Llanbister

310907.19  273407.47

19/06/2018

Full: Change of use of agricultural land to 
playing field and erection of fencing

Land Adjacent to Llanbister County Primary 
School, Llanbister, Llandrindod Wells, 
Powys, LD1 6TN

Powys County Council

Recommendation:
Conditional Consent 

P/2017/1453

Llanbadarn

308555.64  278616.33

15/12/2017

Full: Erection of an agricultural livestock 
building

Dolygarn, Llanbadarn Fynydd, Llandrindod 
Wells Powys LD1 6YL

Mr James Powell, E A Powell & Sons, 
Dolygarn, Llanbadarn Fynydd, Llandrindod 
Wells Powys LD1 6YL

Recommendation:
Conditional Consent 

P/2017/1274

Newtown

310254.79  291198.41

01/12/2017

Full: Proposed Green Infrastructure Project 
to include  Site A - Change of use of land to 
form a play park / amenity area and erection 
of play equipment; Site B - Construction of a 
BMX pump track; Site C - Erection of hub 
building & formation of storage compound, 
formation of car park, new entrance and all 
associated works

Sites A, B & C Nr. Riverside & Nr. Latham 
Park, Newtown, Powys

Mr Lee Davies, Going Green For A Living 
Community Trust Ltd, The Cross,  Broad 
Street,  Newtown, Powys, SY16 2BB

Recommendation:
Conditional Consent 

Page 6



P/2018/0592

Llandrindod Wells

306290.08  261902.33

31/05/2018

Section 192 application for a certificate of 
lawful development for a proposed use for a 
single storey rear extension to school

Trefonnen Church In Wales School, 
Trefonen Lane, Llandrindod Wells, Powys, 
LD1 5EB

Powys County Council

Recommendation:
Approval

P/2018/0467

Newtown

311249.4  291900.05

08/05/2018

Full : New parking arrangements and 
associated works

Y Ffrydd, Canal Road, Newtown, Powys, 
SY16 2JY

Powys County Council

Recommendation:
Conditional Consent 

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Planning, Taxi Licensing and Rights of Way Committee Report

Application No: P/2018/0587 Grid Ref: 315781.85 294091.63

Community 
Council:

Abermule with Llandyssil Valid Date:
06/06/2018

Officer:
Tamsin Law

Applicant: Powys County Council

Location: Abermule Business Park, Abermule, Powys 

Proposal: Hybrid application comprising of a full application for a proposed 
recycling bulking facility and associated works and an outline application 
for the erection of business units (B1/B2/B8) and all associated works

Application 
Type: 

Application for Full Planning Permission

The reason for Committee determination

The application has been submitted by Powys County Council.

Site Location and Description

The application site is located partially within and outside the development boundary of 
Abermule as defined by the Powys Local Development Plan 2018.

The application site is accessed through an existing access from the B4386 which leads from 
the A483 trunk road to Abermule. The site is bound to the north by the B4386, the east and 
south by a railway line and the west by agricultural land and the A483.

The application has been submitted as a hybrid application with one part of the scheme being 
considered in full and one part being considered in outline with all matters reserved. 

Full planning permission is sought for the construction of a recycling bulking facility to allow 
the bulking of paper, cardboard, cans, glass and plastic bottles. The proposed bulking facility 
is located on the south-western part of the site. The facility will also incorporate an area for 
the collection of green/food waste. The proposed development will provide 33 staff parking 
spaces along with 25 spaces for refuse vehicles. Facilities are also provided for the re-
fuelling and cleaning of vehicles. The site will be operational from 07:00 to 18:00.

The proposed building will measure approximately 48.4 metres in length, 34 metres in width 
with a maximum height of 13.4 metres. A single storey element is located on the south 
eastern elevation which measure approximately 34 metres in length, 6.4 metres in depth, 
with a maximum height of 6.7 metres. This will provide approximately 1863 square metres of 
floorspace. The building will be of a steel portal construction finished in matt black plastic 
coated profile steel sheeting and render for the walls and matt black plastic coated profile 
steel sheeting for the roof. Windows and doors will be finished in black framed to match the 

Page 9

4.2



2

walls. The site will be finished with 2.4 metre high black powder coated steel palisade fencing 
and an 8 metre wide entrance gate at the access to the bulking site.

Outline planning permission is sought for the construction of 6 units for B1 (Business), B2 
(General Industrial) and B8 (Storage or distribution) on the site. The proposed units would be 
located on the north-eastern section of the site. All matters are reserved for future 
consideration. The parameters for the buildings are as follows;

Proposed units 
(sq.m)

Min-Max Ridge 
height (m)

Min-Max Eaves 
height (m)

Min-Max Width 
(m)

Min-Max Depth 
(m)

Unit 1 (1,000) 6.0 – 7.0 3.0 – 4.0 22.0 – 26.0 35.0 – 42.0
Unit 2 (200) 4.5 – 5.9 3.0 – 4.0 7.5 – 12.0 15.0 – 22.0
Unit 3 (150) 4.5 – 5.5 3.0 – 3.6 7.5 – 12.0 12.0 – 20.0
Unit 4 (250) 4.5 – 5.9 3.0 – 4.0 7.5 – 12.0 20.0 – 30.0
Unit 5 (150) 4.5 – 5.5 3.0 – 3.6 7.5 – 12.0 12.0 – 20.0
Unit 6 (150) 4.5 – 5.5 3.0 – 3.6 7.5 – 12.0 12.0 – 20.0

The area of land to the south west of the development is utilised for the creation of surface 
water compensation. This section of land has been submitted in full and lies outside the 
development boundary of Abermule, although it does immediate adjoin the development 
boundary.

The application also seeks consent to improve an existing agricultural access on to the A483 
trunk road.

Consultee Response

Abermule with Llandyssil Community Council

The Community Council has met and discussed this application and has the following 
comments 
 
• Concern was shown that this site had a B1 designation, no application can be seen in 
relation to change of use to have additional usage of B2 and B8.
• Whilst flooding of the site has been explained it does not appear that consideration has 
been given to the water displacement possibly affecting the dwellings at Cwrt Close.
• Concern was shown that the reliance on the natural topography i.e. trees, railway 
embankment and vegetation to prevent noise carrying to Cwrt Close and the village is 
insufficient, bearing in mind it was found necessary to erect sound baffle at other sites for all 
the outside noise.
• Also concern was shown as to the visual impact, being comforted by such an overpowering 
large building on the entrance to the village of the A483, this will be detrimental to the local 
community and tourism in the area.
• If this application proceeds, would the applicant considering consulting with the Community 
Council before deciding on the external colour scheme for their buildings       

PCC - Highways

1st Response

Page 10



3

The County Council as Highway Authority for the County Class II Highway, B4386

Wish the following recommendations/Observations be applied
Recommendations/Observations

Full Application – Proposed recycling bulking facility and associated works

Prior to the first beneficial use of the development, a bus shelter and all associated works 
shall be constructed alongside the bus layby on the B4386.  The specification of which is to 
be agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority.

HC1 Prior to the first beneficial use of the development any entrance gates shall be set 
back at least 20 metres distant from the edge of the adjoining carriageway and shall be 
constructed so as to be incapable of opening towards the highway and shall be retained in 
this position and form of construction for as long as the dwelling/development hereby 
permitted remains in existence.

HC8 Prior to the first beneficial use of the development, provision shall be made within the 
curtilage of the site for the parking of not less than 50 cars and 25 heavy goods vehicles 
together with all operational access routes within the site such that all vehicles serving the 
site may both enter and leave the site in a forward gear. The parking and turning areas shall 
be retained for their designated use for as long as the development hereby permitted remains 
in existence.

Outline Application – Erection of business units (B1/B2/B8) and all associated works

Whilst the Highway Authority do not object to the principle of development, any detailed 
application should include full access details which should include visibility splays, access 
surfacing, radii, width, gradient and drainage for all accesses.  Furthermore, the parking 
arrangements should comply with the CSS Parking Standards for both operational and non-
operational elements.

2nd Response

The County Council as Highway Authority for the County Class II Highway, B4386

Wish the following recommendations/Observations be applied
Recommendations/Observations

We have reviewed the revised Transport Statement in relation to the proposed number of 
Non Operational parking bays to be provided and the rationale for the reduction from the 
original submission.  

The proposed number of Non Operational parking bays are in accordance with the CSS 
Wales Parking Standards for a comparatively sized premise of the B8 business classification 
(being the closest comparable use).  Therefore, the Highway Authority wish to replace 
Condition HC8 from our previous response dated 26th June 2018, with the following 
condition.

Page 11



4

HC8 Prior to the first beneficial use of the development, provision shall be made within the 
curtilage of the site for the parking of not less than 33 cars and 25 heavy goods vehicles 
together with all operational access routes within the site such that all vehicles serving the 
site may both enter and leave the site in a forward gear. 

The parking and turning areas shall be retained for their designated use for as long as the 
development hereby permitted remains in existence.

Wales & West Utilities

We enclose an extract from our mains records of the area covered by your proposals 
together with a comprehensive list of General Conditions for your guidance. This plan shows 
only those pipes owned by Wales & West Utilities in its role as a Licensed Gas Transporter 
(GT).Gas pipes owned by other GT's and also privately owned pipes may be present in this 
area. Information with regard to such pipes should be obtained from the owners. The 
information shown on this plan is given without obligation, or warranty and the accuracy 
thereof cannot be guaranteed. Service pipes, valves, syphons, stub connections, etc., are not 
shown but their presence should be anticipated. No liability of any kind whatsoever is 
accepted by Wales & West Utilities, its agents or servants for any error or omission.

Wales & West Utilities has pipes in the area. Our apparatus may be affected and at risk 
during construction works. Should the planning application be approved then we require the 
promoter of these works to contact us directly to discuss our requirements in detail before 
any works commence on site. Should diversion works be required these will be fully 
chargeable.

You must not build over any of our plant or enclose our apparatus.

Please note that the plans are only valid for 28 days from the date of issue and updated 
plans must be requested before any work commences on site if this period has expired.

Severn Trent

Thank you for the opportunity to comment on this planning application. Please find our 
response noted below:

With Reference to the above planning application the company’s observations regarding 
sewerage are as follows.

I can confirm that we have no objections to the proposals subject to the inclusion of the 
following condition:
·         The development hereby permitted should not commence until drainage plans for the 
disposal of foul and surface water flows have been submitted to and approved by the Local 
Planning Authority, and
·         The scheme shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details before the 
development is first brought into use. This is to ensure that the development is provided with 
a satisfactory means of drainage as well as to reduce or exacerbate a flooding problem and 
to minimise the risk of pollution

Page 12



5

Severn Trent Water advise that there is a public sewer located within this  site. Public sewers 
have statutory protection and may not be built close to, directly over or be diverted without 
consent. You are advised to contact Severn Trent Water to discuss the proposals. Severn 
Trent will seek to assist in obtaining a solution which protects both the public sewer and the 
building. Please note, when submitting a Building Regulations application, the building control 
officer is required to check the sewer maps supplied by Severn Trent and advise them of any 
proposals located over or within 3 meters of a public sewer. Under the provisions of Building 
Regulations 2000 Part H4, Severn Trent can direct the building control officer to refuse 
building regulations approval.

There is a pumping station close to the site and any new development must not restrict our 
access to the Sewage Pumping Station (SPS). We will require free access to the SPS at all 
times in order to complete any  programmed routine maintenance tasks and also for any 
emergency reactive visits in case of failure.  Please note that due to the close proximity of the 
proposed new development the occupant may experience noise and/or smell pollution. In 
order to minimise disruption to any future occupant(s), we would advise that all habitable 
buildings are constructed a minimum of 15metres from the curtilage of the SPS compound.

To help us provide an efficient response please could you send all responses to 
welshplanning@severntrent.co.uk rather than to named individuals, including the STW ref 
within the email/subject.

PCC - Environmental Health

1st Response

Re: Hybrid application comprising of a full application for a proposed recycling bulking facility 
and associated works and an outline application for the erection of business units (B1/B2/B8) 
and all associated works.

Noise impact assessment

There are two components to consider: the noise generated by the recycling bulking facility 
on its own, and the cumulative impact once the recycling bulking facility and all the other 
business units are in operation at the same time.

The noise impact assessment has demonstrated that, by incorporating design features and 
mitigation measures, noise emissions from the recycling bulking facility are considered 
unlikely to cause adverse impacts on residential amenity or human health.

At this stage it is not known what the eventual uses of the business units will be and they will 
be subject to further approval at a later date.  The types of business which can operate within 
use classes B1/B2/B8 have the potential to generate noise.  The noise assessment (section 
4.2), together with information contained in the Technical Note, outlines the range of potential 
noise emissions from the business units that would still be considered acceptable when 
combined with noise from the recycling bulking facility.  This shows that the bulking recycling 
facility will not be so loud as to preclude any further development in the vicinity, and that the 
typical acceptable noise emission limits from the business units are considered to be 
achievable.  However, this will need to be demonstrated by any future business prior to its 
use of the site.

Page 13

mailto:welshplanning@severntrent.co.uk


6

Therefore, I would recommend the following condition:

Condition: Prior to occupation of the business/employments units on the development, an 
impact assessment will be submitted to and approved by the Council to demonstrate how the 
proposed use, design and any required mitigation measures will ensure that the amenity of 
nearby noise-sensitive properties shall not be unacceptably affected by levels of noise.  The 
assessment will consider the potential combined impacts of noise from all permitted uses on 
the Abermule Business Park development site (i.e. including the Recycling Bulking Facility), 
and will be conducted in accordance with the method set out in BS 4142:2014, and must 
demonstrate that the combined noise impact from the development site will be no greater 
than indicated in the Abermule Business Park Noise Impact Assessment report ref 
70032991-NV1-02-R1.

Reason: To comply with Powys County Council Local Development Plan policy DM13 
‘Design and Resources’.

Information: The assessment applies to the business units consented with matters reserved.  
The assessment should have regard to the existing noise impact assessment information and 
recommendations contained in the Abermule Business Park Noise Impact Assessment report 
ref 70032991-NV1-02-R1 dated June 2018.

2nd Response

Odour

As a recycling bulking facility, the application does not give cause for concerns in respect of 
odour emissions.  The majority of materials will be dealt with inside the building.  There will 
be green/food waste at the site but this will be stored in sealed skips to contain any odours.

PCC - Contaminated Land

The following report has been submitted in support of planning application P/2018/0587:

Arcadis ‘Abermule Business Park – Phase 1 Geo-Environmental Desk Study for Powys 
County Council’ (Report No: 0001-UA006590-26-UP32R-01) December 2017.

Based on the information submitted in the above referenced document, the following advice 
is provided for the consideration of Development Control.

Advice
1. Under section 3.2 ‘Radon’, of the above referenced report, it is stated: “The Site is located 
within an intermediate probability radon area (5 to 10% of homes are estimated to be at or 
above the action level). The BRE211 guidance document […] indicates that basic radon 
protection measures should be considered for all new developments on this Site. It is 
recommended that the level of protection required is confirmed with the Local Authority 
Building Control Department […].”

It is recommended that Development Control consult with Building Control to confirm the 
requirements for Radon protection measures in the proposed development.

Page 14



7

2. Section 8.2 ‘Recommendations’, of the above referenced report, states: “It is […] 
recommended that an intrusive investigation of the Site is carried out to better characterise 
the potential risk levels and establish a land quality baseline for the Site which can be used in 
the planning application process.”

A detailed scope of works for the proposed intrusive investigation should be submitted for 
review and approval, prior to the works being undertaken.

Furthermore, the detailed scope of works should be prepared by a qualified and experienced 
environmental consultant, and in accordance with current guidance and best practice, such 
as BS10175:2011+A1:2013 ‘Investigation of Potentially Contaminated Sites – Code of 
Practice’.

Summary
Based on the information provided, it is recommended that the following Conditions and 
Note, to the applicant, are attached to any permission granted for planning application 
P/2018/0587:

Condition 1. Site Characterisation
No development shall take place until a site investigation of the nature and extent of 
contamination has been carried out, by a suitably qualified competent person, in accordance 
with a methodology which has previously been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
local planning authority. A written report of the findings of the site investigation shall be made 
available to the local planning authority before any development begins.

The written report should include an appraisal of remedial options and identification of the 
most appropriate remediation option(s) for each relevant pollutant linkage. The report is 
subject to the written approval of the local planning authority.

Condition 2. Submission of Remediation Scheme
No development shall take place until a detailed remediation scheme to bring the site to a 
condition suitable for the intended use by removing unacceptable risks to human health, 
buildings and other property and the natural and historical environment must be prepared, 
and is subject to the approval in writing of the local planning authority. The scheme must 
include all works to be undertaken, proposed remediation objectives and remediation criteria, 
timetable of works and site management procedures. The scheme must ensure that the site 
will not qualify as contaminated land under Part 2A of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 
and The Contaminated Land (Wales) Regulations 2006, as amended by The Contaminated 
Land (Wales) (Amendment) Regulations 2012, in relation to the intended use of the land after 
remediation. The detailed remediation scheme should not be submitted until written approval 
for Condition 1 has been received from the local planning authority.

All work and submissions carried out for the purposes of this condition must be conducted in 
accordance with DEFRA and the Environment Agency’s ‘Model Procedures for the 
Management of Land Contamination, CLR 11’ and the WLGA document ‘Development of 
Land Affected by Contamination: A Guide for Developers’ (2012). 

Condition 3. Implementation of Approved Remediation Scheme 

Page 15



8

The approved remediation scheme must be carried out in accordance with its terms prior to 
the commencement of development other than that required to carry out remediation, unless 
otherwise agreed in writing by the local planning authority. The local planning authority must 
be given two weeks written notification of commencement of the remediation scheme works. 
If during the course of development any contamination is found that has not been identified in 
the site investigation, additional measures for the remediation of this source of contamination 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The remediation 
of the site shall incorporate the approved additional measures before the development is 
occupied. 

Following completion of measures identified in the approved remediation scheme, a 
verification report that demonstrates the effectiveness of the remediation carried out must be 
produced, and is subject to the approval in writing of the local planning authority. The 
verification report contents must be agreed with the local planning authority before 
commencement of the remediation scheme. 

All work and submissions carried out for the purposes of this condition must be conducted in 
accordance with DEFRA and the Environment Agency’s ‘Model Procedures for the 
Management of Land Contamination, CLR 11’ and the WLGA document ‘Development of 
Land Affected by Contamination: A Guide for Developers’ (2012). 

Condition 4. Long Term Monitoring and Maintenance 
A monitoring and maintenance scheme to include monitoring the long-term effectiveness of 
the proposed remediation over a period of duration to be agreed in writing with the local 
planning authority and the provision of reports on the same must be prepared, both of which 
are subject to the approval in writing of the local planning authority. 

Within six months following the completion of the measures identified in that scheme and the 
achievment of the remediation objectives, reports that demonstrate the effectiveness of the 
monitoring and maintenance carried out must be produced, and submitted to the local 
planning authority. This must be conducted in accordance with DEFRA and the Environment 
Agency's 'Model Procedures for the Management of Land Contamination, CLR 11'. 

Reason (common to all): To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of 
the land and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, 
property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be carried out 
safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors [in 
accordance with policy ____ of the adopted Local Plan (date)].

Note to Applicant 

Potential Contamination 
The Council’s guidance leaflet on the development of sites with potential land contamination 
is attached. Further advice on compliance with this condition may be obtained by contacting 
the Environmental Health Service on 0870 1923757.

PCC - Ecologist

1st Response

Page 16



9

Thank you for consulting me with regards to planning application P/2018/0587 which 
concerns a Hybrid application comprising of a full application for a proposed recycling bulking 
facility and associated works and an outline application for the erection of business units 
(B1/B2/B8) and all associated works at Abermule Business Park, Abermule, Montgomery, 
Powys .

The site of the proposed development located to the south of the village of Abermule on an 
area of land referred to as Abermule Business Park, the Business Park site has been partially 
developed with construction of access roads, services and associated drainage and lighting 
infrastructure. The remaining areas of the site comprises areas of improved grassland 
currently used for grazing sheep, amenity grassland broad-leaved plantation woodland, 
hedgerows, scattered trees and small stream.

The site is approximately 370m from the Montgomery Canal SAC/SSSI, the proposed 
development site is separated from the canal by the A483 Trunk Road, agricultural land and 
the River Severn having reviewed the proposed plans, distance of the proposed development 
from the SAC/SSSI nature of the land and potential connections/barriers between the 
proposed development site and the designated site it is consider that there is no likely 
potential for the proposed development to result in direct or indirect impacts to the 
Montgomery Canal SAC/SSSI. 

A number of ecological reports and supporting information has been submitted with the 
application:
•        Preliminary Ecological Appraisal produced by Gerald Longley Ecological Consultants 
dated April 2017
•        Reptile Survey produced by Gerald Longley Ecological Consultants dated 1st July 2017
•        Statement of GCN Conservation and Mitigation Works Reference RT-MME-126868-02-
Rev A produced by Middlemarch Environmental dated 18th April 2018
•        Great Crested Newt Method Statement Reference RT-MME-126868-03 produced by 
Middlemarch Environmental dated June 2018
•        Ecological Compliance Schedule and Habitat Management Plan Reference RT-MME-
127496 produced by Middlemarch Environmental dated June 2018
•        Ecological Compliance Schedule and Habitat Management Plan Reference RT-MME-
127496 RevA produced by Middlemarch Environmental dated July 2018
•        Landscaping and Ecology Plan drawing no. 2395/P03/009 Rev A produced by CWIC 
dated 05/06/2018
•        Lighting & Signage Plan – Recycling Bulking Facility drawing no. 2395/P03/008 Rev A 
produced by CWIC dated 5th June 2018
•        Arboricultural Report Including Tree Survey Data & Tree Constraints Plan produced by 
Arboricultural Technician Services dated 23rd March 2018

The preliminary ecological appraisal identified the presence of great crested newts at the 
proposed development site and confirmed breeding in the pond to the south off-site, 
subsequent surveys of 2 ponds within 500m of the proposed development were carried out 
during 2017. Pond 1 to the south of the site was confirmed as a breeding site with a 
maximum count of 12 newts found during the population estimate surveys indicating a 
medium population. No GCN eggs or newts of any species were found at Pond 2 (north-west 
of the site).

Page 17



10

In agreement with NRW habitat enhancement works have been carried out at Pond 1 under 
an NRW Conservation Licence – works have been carried out to alleviate grazing pressure 
around the pond and installation of hibernacula as well as planting of new native hedgerow 
and scrub.

It has been identified that the proposed development will need to be carried out under an 
EPS Development licence, a scheme of mitigation has been identified including trapping and 
translocation of GCN from the proposed working areas and habitat enhancement to provide 
new and improved habitat features for GCN. The measures identified are considered to be in 
accordance with recognised guidelines and best practice and subject to their implementation 
it is considered that the proposed development would not result in negative impacts to the 
favourable conservation status of the species, in addition NRW have confirmed in their 
response dated 22nd June 2018 confirm that they also consider that they consider the 
proposed mitigation strategy to be satisfactory to ensure no negative impacts to the 
favourable conservation status of GCN at the site. I recommend that a planning condition is 
included to secure adherence to the mitigation strategy identified in the Statement of GCN 
Conservation and Mitigation Works Reference RT-MME-126868-02-Rev A produced by 
Middlemarch Environmental dated 18th April 2018 and Great Crested Newt Method 
Statement Reference RT-MME-126868-03 produced by Middlemarch Environmental dated 
June 2018.

With regards to Monitoring of the GCN mitigation an Ecological Compliance Schedule and 
Habitat Management Plan Reference RT-MME-127496 produced by Middlemarch 
Environmental dated June 2018 was submitted to support the application identifying long 
term management and monitoring of the site and mitigation installed in relation to the 
proposed development. NRW identified in their comments dated 22nd June 2018 that they 
considered that the frequency and duration of the of the proposed monitoring in the June 
2018 document did not accord with typical surveillance requirements for this type of 
development proposal. In order to address this a revised plan (Rev A) has been submitted 
dated July 2018 that addresses the concerns raised by NRW as such subject to confirmation 
from NRW that the amendments to the monitoring strategy are considered to be acceptable I 
recommend that the condition recommended by NRW in their response dated 22nd June 
2018 is replaced with a planning condition requiring adherence to the amended Ecological 
Compliance Schedule and Habitat Management Plan Reference RT-MME-127496 RevA 
produced by Middlemarch Environmental dated July 2018.

The reptile survey undertaken by GLEC found no evidence of reptiles present on or adjacent 
to the site as such no specific mitigation measures are considered necessary for reptiles with 
regards to the proposed development – it should be noted that the identified exclusion and 
translocation mitigation strategy for great crested newts would also serve to protect reptiles 
should they be unexpectedly found during the development of the site.

A Landscaping and Ecology Plan drawing no. 2395/P03/009 Rev A produced by CWIC dated 
05/06/2018 has been submitted with the application, the details of the landscaping identified 
mainly relate to the area covered by the full application, only limited information has been 
provided regarding the details of any landscaping proposed for the are covered by the 
Outline application. The landscaping identified within this plan for the Full application site are 
supported by details of habitat creation and management within the Ecological Compliance 
Schedule and Habitat Management Plan Reference RT-MME-127496 RevA produced by 
Middlemarch Environmental dated July 2018. The landscaping identified and the proposed 

Page 18



11

creation and management measures are considered to be appropriate and acceptable and 
demonstrate compliance with LDP policies DM2 with regards to the Natural Environment and 
DM4 in relation to ecological qualities of the landscape. I therefore recommend that with 
regards to the Full application a planning condition is included to secure adherence to the 
Landscaping plan and identified creation/management measures, with regards to the Outline 
application it is recommended that a planning condition requiring the submission of a detailed 
Landscaping scheme is included.

Given the relatively rural location of the proposed development careful consideration will 
need to be given to the installation of lighting at the site, a Lighting & Signage Plan – 
Recycling Bulking Facility drawing no. 2395/P03/008 Rev A produced by CWIC dated 5th 
June 2018 has been submitted for the site of the Full application. Having reviewed the 
lighting proposed for the recycling bulking facility and taking into account the requirements for 
lighting at the site it is considered that the proposed lighting scheme is appropriate and 
impacts to nocturnal wildlife at and around the site would be acceptable in accordance with 
the requirements of LDP policy DM7. I therefore recommend that with regards to the Full 
application a planning condition to secure adherence to the identified Lighting Plan is 
included. With regards to the Outline application site no details have been provided regarding 
any proposed lighting plans, if external lighting is proposed then measures will need to be 
identified to minimise impacts to nocturnal wildlife commuting and foraging in the local area. It 
is therefore recommended that with regards to the Outline application a Wildlife Sensitive 
Lighting Plan is secured through an appropriately worded condition.

An Arboricultural Report Including Tree Survey Data & Tree Constraints Plan produced by 
Arboricultural Technician Services dated 23rd March 2018 has been submitted with the 
application, the report includes a Tree Constraints Plan to ensure protection of the trees and 
hedgerows present on and around the proposed development site. The Tree Constraints 
Plan has been produced in accordance with British Standard 5837:2012, the protection 
measures identified are considered to be appropriate, it is recommended that adherence to 
the Tree Constraints Plan to ensure compliance with the requirements of LDP policy DM2 is 
secured through an appropriately worded planning condition

Having reviewed the findings of the ecological surveys and measures identified to mitigate 
the impacts of the proposed development to features of biodiversity importance it is 
considered that the proposed development will not result in negative impacts to the loss of 
biodiversity at the site or in the wider environment. The mitigation measures identified are 
considered to be appropriate and achievable and demonstrate compliance with the 
requirements of relevant LDP policies, National Planning Policy and relevant legislation with 
regards to biodiversity features. Therefore should you be minded to approve the application I 
recommend inclusion of the following conditions:

With regards to the Full application for the proposed recycling bulking facility and associated 
works:

The mitigation measures regarding great crested newts identified in the Statement of GCN 
Conservation and Mitigation Works Reference RT-MME-126868-02-Rev A produced by 
Middlemarch Environmental dated 18th April 2018 and Great Crested Newt Method 
Statement Reference RT-MME-126868-03 produced by Middlemarch Environmental dated 
June 2018 shall be adhered to and implemented in full and maintained thereafter.

Page 19



12

Reason: To comply with Powys County Council’s UDP Policies DM2 in relation to The 
Natural Environment and to meet the requirements of Planning Policy Wales (Edition 9, 
November 2016), TAN 5: Nature Conservation and Planning, the Conservation of Habitats 
and Species Regulations 2017, the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 (as amended) and 
Section 6 of the Environment (Wales) Act 2016. 

The measures identified in the Ecological Compliance Schedule and Habitat Management 
Plan Reference RT-MME-127496 RevA produced by Middlemarch Environmental dated July 
2018 shall be adhered to and implemented in full and maintained thereafter.

Reason: To comply with Powys County Council’s UDP Policies DM2 in relation to The 
Natural Environment and to meet the requirements of Planning Policy Wales (Edition 9, 
November 2016), TAN 5: Nature Conservation and Planning, the Conservation of Habitats 
and Species Regulations 2017, the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 (as amended)  and 
Section 6 of the Environment (Wales) Act 2016. 

Installation of external lighting features at the site will be carried out in accordance with the 
Lighting & Signage Plan – Recycling Bulking Facility drawing no. 2395/P03/008 Rev A 
produced by CWIC dated 5th June 2018, the identified lighting plan shall be adhered to and 
implemented in full and maintained thereafter.

Reason: To comply with Powys County Council’s Policies LDP DM2 and DM7 in relation to 
The Natural Environment and to meet the requirements of Planning Policy Wales (Edition 9, 
November 2016), TAN 5: Nature Conservation and Planning and Part 1 Section 6 of the 
Environment (Wales) Act 2016.

The Tree constraints plan identified in the Tree Survey Data & Tree Constraints Plan 
produced by Arboricultural Technician Services dated 23rd March 2018 shall be adhered to 
and implemented in full and maintained thereafter.

Reason: To comply with Powys County Council’s UDP Policies DM2 in relation to The 
Natural Environment and to meet the requirements of Planning Policy Wales (Edition 9, 
November 2016), TAN 5: Nature Conservation and Planning and Section 6 of the 
Environment (Wales) Act 2016. 

With regards to the Outline application for the erection of business units (B1/B2/B8) and all 
associated works:

The mitigation measures regarding great crested newts identified in the Statement of GCN 
Conservation and Mitigation Works Reference RT-MME-126868-02-Rev A produced by 
Middlemarch Environmental dated 18th April 2018 and Great Crested Newt Method 
Statement Reference RT-MME-126868-03 produced by Middlemarch Environmental dated 
June 2018 shall be adhered to and implemented in full and maintained thereafter.

Reason: To comply with Powys County Council’s UDP Policies DM2 in relation to The 
Natural Environment and to meet the requirements of Planning Policy Wales (Edition 9, 
November 2016), TAN 5: Nature Conservation and Planning, the Conservation of Habitats 
and Species Regulations 2017, the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 (as amended) and 
Section 6 of the Environment (Wales) Act 2016. 

Page 20



13

The measures identified in the Ecological Compliance Schedule and Habitat Management 
Plan Reference RT-MME-127496 RevA produced by Middlemarch Environmental dated July 
2018 shall be adhered to and implemented in full and maintained thereafter.

Reason: To comply with Powys County Council’s UDP Policies DM2 in relation to The 
Natural Environment and to meet the requirements of Planning Policy Wales (Edition 9, 
November 2016), TAN 5: Nature Conservation and Planning, the Conservation of Habitats 
and Species Regulations 2017, the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 (as amended)  and 
Section 6 of the Environment (Wales) Act 2016. 

No external lighting shall be installed unless a detailed external lighting design scheme has 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The external 
lighting scheme shall identify measures to avoid impacts on nocturnal wildlife.  The 
development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details.

Reason: To comply with Powys County Council’s Policies LDP DM2 and DM7 in relation to 
The Natural Environment and to meet the requirements of Planning Policy Wales (Edition 9, 
November 2016), TAN 5: Nature Conservation and Planning and Part 1 Section 6 of the 
Environment (Wales) Act 2016.

Prior to the commencement of development a detailed landscaping scheme shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The submitted 
landscaping scheme shall include a scaled drawing and a written specification clearly 
describing the species, sizes, densities and planting numbers proposed as well as aftercare 
measures. Drawings must include accurate details of any existing trees and hedgerows to be 
retained with their location, species, size and condition.

Reason: To comply with Powys County Council’s LDP Policy DM4 in relation to ecological 
qualities of the landscape and meet the requirements of Planning Policy Wales (Edition 9, 
November 2016), TAN 5: Nature Conservation and Planning and Part 1 Section 6 of the 
Environment (Wales) Act 2016

The Tree constraints plan identified in the Tree Survey Data & Tree Constraints Plan 
produced by Arboricultural Technician Services dated 23rd March 2018 shall be adhered to 
and implemented in full and maintained thereafter.

Reason: To comply with Powys County Council’s UDP Policies DM2 in relation to The 
Natural Environment and to meet the requirements of Planning Policy Wales (Edition 9, 
November 2016), TAN 5: Nature Conservation and Planning and Section 6 of the 
Environment (Wales) Act 2016. 

In addition I recommend inclusion of the following informatives for both the Full and Outline 
applications:

Warning: An European protected species (EPS) Licence is required for this development. 
This planning permission does not provide consent to undertake works that require an EPS 
licence. 

Page 21



14

It is an offence to deliberately capture, kill or disturb EPS or to recklessly damage or destroy 
their breeding sites or resting places. If found guilty of any offences, you could be sent to 
prison for up to 6 months and/or receive an unlimited fine. 

To undertake the works within the law, you can obtain further information on the need for a 
licence from Natural Resources Wales on 0300 065 3000 or at 
https://naturalresources.wales/conservation-biodiversity-and-wildlife/european-protected-
species/?lang+en

Great Crested Newts – Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 (as amended) and The Conservation 
of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017

Great Crested Newts are known to be present in the vicinity of the proposed development 
site. The great crested newt is fully protected under schedule 5 of the Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981 (as amended) and Schedule 2 of The Conservation of Habitats and 
Species Regulations 2017.

It is therefore an offence to:
•        Deliberately capture, injure or kill a great crested newt;
•        Deliberately disturb an great crested newt in such a way as to be likely to significantly 
affect the local distribution, abundance or the ability of any significant group of great crested 
newts to survive, breed, rear or nurture their young;
•        Damage or destroy a great crested newt breeding site or resting place;
•        Intentionally or recklessly disturb a great crested newt; or
•        Intentionally or recklessly obstruct access to a breeding site or resting place.

If a great crested newt is discovered while work is being undertaken, all work must stop and 
advice sought from Natural Resources Wales and the Council's Ecologist. This advice may 
include that a European protected species licence is sought.

Birds - Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended)
All nesting birds, their nests, eggs and young are protected by law and it is an offence to:
•        intentionally kill, injure or take any wild bird 
•        intentionally take, damage or destroy the nest of any wild bird whilst it is in use or being 
built 
•        intentionally take or destroy the egg of any wild bird
•        intentionally (or recklessly in England and Wales) disturb any wild bird listed on 
Schedule1 while it is nest building, or at a nest containing eggs or young, or disturb the 
dependent young of such a bird. 

The maximum penalty that can be imposed - in respect of a single bird, nest or egg - is a fine 
of up to 5,000 pounds, six months imprisonment or both. 

The applicant is therefore reminded that it is an offence under the Wildlife and Countryside 
Act 1981 (as amended) to remove or work on any hedge, tree or building where that work 
involves the taking, damaging or destruction of any nest of any wild bird while the nest is in 
use or being built (usually between late February and late August or late September in the 
case of swifts, swallows or house martins).  If a nest is discovered while work is being 
undertaken, all work must stop and advice sought from Natural Resources Wales and the 
Council's Ecologist.

Page 22



15

Reptiles – Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 (as amended)
All species of reptiles known to occur within Powys, namely the common lizard, slow-worm, 
grass snake and adder, are protected under the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as 
amended).

It is therefore an offence to:
•        Intentionally kill or injure these species of reptiles,
•        Trade (live or dead animals) i.e. sale, barter, exchange, transporting for sale and 
advertising to sell or to buy.
The maximum penalty that can be imposed - in respect of each offence - is a fine of up to 
5,000 pounds, six months imprisonment or both. 

In addition these species of reptiles are also listed in Part 1 Section 7 of the Environment 
(Wales) Act 2016 – which is a list of the living organisms of principal importance for the 
purpose of maintaining and enhancing biodiversity in relation to Wales. Species of reptiles 
known to occur in Powys are also listed as Species of Conservation Concern on the Powys 
LBAP.

If reptiles are discovered while work is being undertaken, all work must stop and advice 
sought from Natural Resources Wales and/or the Council's Ecologist.

2nd Response:

Thank you for consulting me with regards to additional information submitted in relation to 
planning application P/2018/0587.

I understand that the additional information has been submitted in relation to comments 
made by Welsh Government in relation to improvements to an access off the A483 trunk 
Road which would result in the need to translocate a section of hedgerow approximately 
100m in length to achieve required visibility splays. Given the presence of great crested 
newts at the site the proposed impacts to the hedgerow have potential to impacts great 
crested newt terrestrial habitat.

In order to address this a Hedgerow Translocation Works - Great Created Newt Reasonable 
Avoidance Method Statement produced by Middlemarch Environmental dated July 2018 has 
been submitted with the plans showing the required visibility splays and associate hedgerow 
translocation.

I have reviewed the Method Statement and consider that the measures identified are 
appropriate and achievable and that implementation of the RAMS would ensure that the 
required hedgerow works would not result in negative impacts to the favourable conservation 
status of the local GCN population.

Therefore should you be minded to approve this application I recommend that in addition to 
the conditions recommended in my consultation response dated 17/07/2018 that you include 
the following condition:

The reasonable avoidance measures regarding great crested newts identified in the 
Hedgerow Translocation Works - Great Created Newt Reasonable Avoidance Method 

Page 23



16

Statement produced by Middlemarch Environmental Reference RT-MME-127521-02 dated 
20th  July 2018 shall be adhered to and implemented in full and maintained thereafter.

Reason: To comply with Powys County Council’s UDP Policies DM2 in relation to The 
Natural Environment and to meet the requirements of Planning Policy Wales (Edition 9, 
November 2016), TAN 5: Nature Conservation and Planning, the Conservation of Habitats 
and Species Regulations 2017, the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 (as amended) and 
Section 6 of the Environment (Wales) Act 2016. 

PCC - Land Drainage

Thanks you for consulting the Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA).  Having reviewed relevant 
submitted details, the LLFA has no objection in principle to the above proposals but wish to 
make the following respective observations / recommendations.

Proposed Recycling Bulking facility and associated works.

Surface Water Drainage

Observations: Within the Preliminary Drainage Strategy (Strategy) dated April 2018, 
reference is made in paragraph 4.1.4, to the use of a soakaway system to drain the 
impermeable areas of the development site. 

Paragraph 2.1.2 indicates trial holes were dug to depths of 3.5 m below ground level.  No 
groundwater was encountered.  Soil infiltration tests to relevant standard (BRE 365) have 
been undertaken, the results of which indicate good porosity for surface water disposal.  The 
Strategy recommends that further infiltration tests should be undertaken in the location of the 
proposed soakaway(s) and the results of which should be used to determine the detailed 
drainage design.  The LLFA concurs with this recommendation.

Paragraph 2.1.3. highlights the potential risk of periodic high groundwater levels in the area 
of the proposed development site (Bulking facility and Business park) and strongly 
recommends that monitoring of groundwater is undertaken before the detailed drainage 
design stage.  The results of which would then be considered as part of the detailed drainage 
design.  The LLFA concurs with this recommendation.

Paragraph 4.1.1. recommends the proposed design for the soakaway system is checked 
against higher climate change allowance of 40%. The LLFA concurs with this 
recommendation.

Paragraph 3.1.1. refers to surface water run-off from the existing access roads draining to 
soakaways.  As far as the LLFA is aware, there is no evidence to indicate that any of the 
existing soakaways serving the access roads have failed since their installation in c2009, and 
all seem to operate effectively.

Paragraph 4.1.9. refers to the roof surface water run-off being collected and used for washing 
vehicles and storage pods.  The LLFA would commend such practices, the design of which 
should be submitted as part of the detailed drainage design.

Page 24



17

Paragraph 4.1.10. refers to the use of the newt fence panels to contain any exceedance flow 
during severe rainfall event. The LLFA note the proposal, the details of which shall be 
submitted as part of the detailed drainage design.

Local Flood Risk / Land Drainage.

Observations: Within the Flood Consequence Assessment (FCA) dated June 2018, reference 
is made in paragraph 6.1.2. to the provision of a proposed flood alleviation storage pond 
south of the site.  The Addendum to the Preliminary Drainage Strategy and Flood 
Consequence Assessment dated 06/06/18, advises this storage pond has been provided to 
manage surface runoff from outside the site, i.e. turnoff from the hillside and land to the south 
and east of the site.  The LLFA note the proposal, the details of which shall be submitted as 
part of the detailed drainage design.

The formation of the Field Access shown on Drawing Ref: 2395/P03/012 will affect existing 
land drainage features.  The current design proposals are not acceptable to the LLFA and will 
need further modification.  These modifications can be agreed as part of the detailed 
drainage design.

Recommendation: No development shall commence until full engineering details and 
drawings for the surface water and land drainage arrangements, together with details on the 
surface water flood compensation pond has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
local Planning Authority. The approved scheme shall be completed prior to the first beneficial 
use of the development.

Reason: To ensure that the proposed surface water and land drainage features for the 
development follow best practice sustainable drainage designs and are fully compliant with 
regulations and are of robust design.

Proposed Business Units (B1/B2/B8) and all associated works

Surface Water Drainage

Observations: Within the Strategy reference is made in paragraph 4.1.11 to the use of 
soakaway systems to drain the impermeable surfaces of both the ‘western’ and ‘eastern’ 
areas of the business park.

Paragraph 2.1.2 indicates trial holes were dug to depths of 3.5 m below ground level.  No 
groundwater was encountered.  Soil infiltration tests to relevant standard (BRE 365) have 
been undertaken, the results of which indicate good porosity for surface water disposal.  The 
Strategy recommends that further infiltration tests should be undertaken in the location of the 
proposed soakaway(s) and the results of which should be used to determine the detailed 
drainage design.  The LLFA concurs with this recommendation.

Paragraph 2.1.3. highlights the potential risk of periodic high groundwater levels in the area 
of the proposed development site (Bulking facility and Business park) and strongly 
recommends that monitoring of groundwater is undertaken before the detailed drainage 
design stage.  The results of which would then be considered as part of the detailed drainage 
design.  The LLFA concurs with this recommendation.

Page 25



18

Paragraph 4.1.1. recommends the proposed design for the soakaway system is checked 
against higher climate change allowance of 40%. The LLFA concurs with this 
recommendation.

Paragraph 3.1.1. refers to surface water run-off from the existing access roads draining to 
soakaways.  As far as the LLFA is aware, there is no evidence to indicate that any of the 
existing soakaways serving the access roads have failed since their installation in c2009, and 
all seem to operate effectively.

Paragraph 4.1.13. refers to the roof surface water run-off being collected and used for 
watering of landscaped areas.  The LLFA would commend such practices, the design of 
which should be submitted as part of the detailed drainage design. 

Paragraph 4.1.14. refers to the containment of exceedance flow during severe rainfall events 
within the ‘western’ business park, even if such flows were to occur at the same time as high 
groundwater levels.
  
Paragraph 4.1.15. refers to 80% of the exceedance flow being retained on site within the 
‘eastern’ business park, with the remaining 20% being conveyed towards the watercourse to 
the north of the site.

Local Flood Risk / Land Drainage

Observations: Within the Flood Consequence Assessment (FCA) dated June 2018, reference 
is made in paragraph 6.3.3. to the properties upstream of the site on the southern side of the 
railway embankment experiencing no increase in surface water levels as a result of the 
proposed development and mitigation.  However, the assessment has shown small areas of 
the farm building complex immediately downstream of the site on the northern side of the 
B4386 would experience a slight increase (approx. 9mm) in surface water level during an 
severe pluvial rainfall event (1 in 30 annual probability event with 25% climate change 
allowance).  In this same assessment the existing culvert system located adjacent the 
northern boundary was also modelled to reflect a 50% blockage due the presence of a trash 
screen at its inlet.  It should be noted that during such an event the farm building complex 
would currently flood to depths ranging from approx. 170mm to 400mm.
  
Although not a risk to the proposed development site itself, the FCA also indicates that during 
the 1 in 100 annual probability event with climate change allowance the farm building 
complex would experience flood depths ranging from 300mm to 1.5m. 

The conclusions within the FCA has considered that the pluvial increase in flood risk to the 
farm building complex is not considered to be significant but suggests that this risk can be 
further reduced through the increase in the size of the proposed northern storage area and 
proper maintenance of the existing culvert inlet.  The LLFA would concur with these findings 
but would recommend that additional improvements are carried out on the culvert inlet 
structure whereby any modifications would not only reduce future frequency of blockage but 
also provide benefit in respect to local flood risk.

Details in respect to the increased storage area and recommended improvement works to the 
culvert inlet shall be submitted as part of the detailed drainage design. The details shall also 
include a management and maintenance plan for the lifetime of the development for 

Page 26



19

arrangements to secure the maintenance of the improved culvert inlet trash screen 
throughout its lifetime. 

Recommendation: No development shall commence until full engineering details and 
drawings for the surface water and land drainage improvements, together with a 
management and maintenance plan for the culvert inlet, are submitted to and approved in 
writing by the local planning authority. The approved scheme shall be completed prior to the 
first beneficial use of the business park development.

Reason: To ensure that the proposed surface water and land drainage arrangements for the 
development follow best practice sustainable drainage designs and are fully compliant with 
regulations and are of robust design.

Informative: The LLFA is, in general, opposed to culverting of Ordinary watercourses and 
whenever practical will seek to have culverted watercourses restored to open channels.  Any 
proposed culverting (or modification to an existing structure) of an Ordinary watercourse will 
require the prior consent from the LLFA under the terms of the Land Drainage Act 1991 (as 
amended by the Flood & Water Management Act 2010).

Natural Resources Wales

1st Response

Thank you for consulting Natural Resources Wales (letter dated 07/06/2018) regarding the 
above. 

NRW was consulted on this proposal at pre-application stage, please refer to appendix H of 
the ‘Pre-application consultation report’ dated June 2018, submitted in support of this 
application. 

Our advice on the proposed scheme has changed because new information has been 
provided in support of the application. 

NRW does not object to the proposal. In our opinion, as explained below, the proposal is not 
likely to adversely affect any of the interests listed, subject to the use of appropriate 
conditions. 

Summary of conditions: 
Condition 1– GCN: The submission and implementation of a revised long term compensatory 
proposal to include appropriate provisions for monitoring and resources. 

Protected Species 

We note that the Preliminary Ecological Appraisal report by Gerald Longley Ecological 
Consultants dated April 2017 and the Statement of GCN Conservation and Mitigation Works 
letter by Middlemarch Environmental dated 18th April 2018, available on your website, have 
identified the presence of GCN at the application site and considered conservation and 
mitigation strategies. 

Page 27



20

Following our comments to the pre-application consultation additional information has been 
submitted in support of this application, namely: 

• Ecological Compliance Schedule and Habitat Management Plan dated June 2018 
by Middlemarch Environmental. 
• Great Crested Newt Method Statement dated Juned 2018 by Middlemarch 
Environmental. 

The application site is located adjacent and in the environs to ponds that are known to 
support populations of the great crested newt (Triturus cristatus). 

Great crested newts (GCN) and their breeding and resting places are protected under the 
Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended) and they classed as a 
material consideration for planning under the provisions of Technical Advice Note 5: Nature 
Conservation and Planning (TAN5). 

Any development that would contravene the protection afforded to GCN under the 
Regulations would require a derogation licence from Natural Resources Wales. A licence 
may only be authorised if: 
i. There is no satisfactory alternative and 
ii. The action authorised will not be detrimental to the maintenance of the population of the 
species concerned at a favourable conservation status in its natural range. In addition, 
iii. the development works to be authorised must be for the purposes of preserving public 
health or safety, or for other imperative reasons of overriding public interest, including those 
of a social or economic nature and beneficial consequences of primary importance for the 
environment. 

Paragraph 6.3.7 of TAN5 states that the Local Planning Authority (in this case Powys County 
Council) should not grant planning permission without having satisfied itself that the proposed 
scheme either would not impact adversely on any GCN’s on the site or that, in its opinion, all 
three conditions for the eventual grant of a licence are likely to be satisfied. 

We consider that the species utilizes the site for foraging, dispersal or sheltering purposes. In 
our view, we consider that both construction and operational phases of the proposal have the 
potential to adversely affect GCN and therefore, we advise that the works are to be carried 
out in accordance with the provisions of a derogation licence issued by NRW under 
Regulation 55 of the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017. 

NRW would refer the Local Authority to the Chief Planning Officer’s letter dated 01 March 
2018 which advises Local Planning Authorities to attach an informative regarding licence 
requirements to all consents and notices where European Protected Species are likely to be 
present on site.

We consider that the development and its subsequent operation is not likely to be detrimental 
to the maintenance of the favourable conservation status of the local GCN population 
provided that all reasonable avoidance and mitigation measures and the long term 
compensatory proposals outlined in the ecological submissions are secured via appropriate 
planning conditions/obligations. 

We note the long-term monitoring proposal for this scheme, as outlined in section 4.4 of the 
‘Ecological compliance schedule and habitat management plan’ dated June 2018. In our view 

Page 28



21

the frequency and duration do not accord with typical surveillance requirements for this type 
of proposal. 

We advise minimum monitoring requirements are: 
1. Every year for the first 10 years 
2. Then every other year for the next 14 years. 

Monitoring activity to be increased in the event of 
(a) Detection of fish; and/or 
(b) Detection of invasive non-native plants 
We therefore advise on the imposition of a condition requiring the submission of long term 
monitoring proposals to the satisfaction of NRW. 
Condition 1– GCN: The submission and implementation of a revised long term compensatory 
proposal to include appropriate provisions for monitoring and resources. 

Foul and Surface Drainage 
Please refer to our comments below, after reviewing the following documents: 
1. Design and Access Statement 
2. Abermule Business Park Development – Preliminary Drainage Strategy. WSP, Project No. 
70019430, APRIL 2018 
3. Abermule Business Park Phase 1 Geo-Environmental Desk Study for Powys County 
Council. Arcadis Consulting (UK) Limited, December 2017. 
4. Preliminary Foul and Surface water drainage layout, Drawing 70019430-DP-01_P01 Rev 
P01 dated February 2018. 

The Preliminary Drainage Strategy has explained the various areas of the site for surface 
water drainage. The use of soakaways is considered a discharge to ground and will require a 
Water Activity Environmental Permit from NRW given the likely volumes to be discharge to 
ground. Please contact NRW Water Quality Permitting Team for application details. We 
understand that foul water disposal from the site will be to the existing mains drainage. The 
existing pumping station has been on site for nearly 10 years without use we recommend that 
prior to commissioning of the infrastructure that it is tested and fit for purpose.

 The planned activity for the full planning application of a Recycling Bulking Facility will 
require a Waste Environmental Permitting from NRW Waste Permitting Team. We 
recommend early (pre-application) discussion on the permit application requirements. We 
may have additional comments on the site via the permitting regime. 

The preliminary drainage strategy refers in section 4.1.10 to the use of the bulking facility 
boundary and newt boards to keep excessive surface water within the site boundary. Further 
information would be required concerning how any exceedance water within the bulking 
facility site would affect the waste storage areas. This information would be required when 
applying for a Waste Environmental Permitting and to allow the LPA to fully assess any 
environmental implications the proposal will have in the event of localised flooding. 

Following our comments at pre application stage, details of storage of green and food waste 
have now been included within the DAS at planning stage. 

Page 29



22

It should be noted that vehicle washing effluent must either be collected in a sealed sump or 
discharged to foul sewer (with the agreement of the water company). Discharging all the foul 
effluent to foul sewer is the preferred method of disposal. 

Flood Risk 

The Design & Access Statement states: ‘A flood risk appraisal and Flood Consequence 
Assessment has been prepared by WSP which accompanies the application. Review of the 
Development Advice Map indicates that the proposed development is located in Zone A. 
Zone A is defined as ‘areas at little or no risk of fluvial or tidal/coastal flooding’. TAN15 states 
that in Zone A the justification test is not applicable and no need to consider flood risk further. 
As the site lies within DAM Zone A TAN15 does not strictly require an FCA to be prepared for 
the development. However, the potential impact of surface water flooding at the site, and the 
potential changes in runoff resulting from the development should be assessed. The FCA 
therefore focusses on these aspects. The requirements for the FCA, rather than justifying the 
location of the development, are an appraisal of the risk to the development itself and the 
consequences of the development to third parties’. 

It is NRW opinion that the findings and recommendations within the FCA are acknowledged 
as reasoned. 

However, as the surface water, pluvial flood risk and associated mitigation come under the 
remit of the Lead Local Flood Authority, we would refer the Planning Authority to the Powys 
County Council Drainage team for detailed comment. 

Advice for the developer 

Protected Species License 
NRW will expect monitoring proposals to be sufficient to inform the conservation status of the 
population of GCN present on site in the long-term. A revised proposal will need to be 
submitted as part of the derogation license application and should be discussed further with 
NRW’s species advisors.

Pollution Prevention 

Responsibility for preventing pollution rests with those in control of the site. Pollution 
Prevention Guidance should be read by those carrying out the work. 

All works at the site must be carried out in accordance with GPP5 and PPG6 ‘Works in, near 
or over watercourses’ and ‘Working at construction and demolition sites’ which is available at: 
http://www.netregs.org.uk/environmental-topics/pollution-prevention-guidelines-ppgs-and-
replacement-series/guidance-for-pollution-prevention-gpps-full-list/ 

Biosecurity 

We consider biosecurity to be a material consideration owing to the nature and location of the 
proposal. In this case, biosecurity issues concern invasive non native species (INNS) and 
diseases. We therefore advise that any consent secures the implementation of the 
Biosecurity Risk Assessment recommended in Section E5 of the Great Crested Newt Method 
Statement Report dated June 2018. 

Page 30

http://www.netregs.org.uk/environmental-topics/pollution-prevention-guidelines-ppgs-and-replacement-series/guidance-for-pollution-prevention-gpps-full-list/
http://www.netregs.org.uk/environmental-topics/pollution-prevention-guidelines-ppgs-and-replacement-series/guidance-for-pollution-prevention-gpps-full-list/


23

We consider that this assessment must include 
i (i) appropriate measures to control any INNS on site, if present; and 
ii (ii) measures or actions that aim to prevent INNS 

being introduced to the site for the duration of construction and operational phases of the 
scheme.
 
Scope of NRW Comments 

Our comments above only relate specifically to matters that are included on our checklist 
“Natural Resources Wales and Planning Consultations” (March 2015) which is published on 
our website: (https://naturalresources.wales/media/5271/150302-natural-resources-wales-
and-planning-consultations-final-eng.pdf). We have not considered potential effects on other 
matters and do not rule out the potential for the proposed development to affect other 
interests, including environmental interests of local importance. The applicant should be 
advised that, in addition to planning permission, it is their responsibility to ensure that they 
secure all other permits/consents relevant to their development.

2nd Response

Thank you for consulting Natural Resources Wales (letter dated 07/06/2018) regarding 
additional information on the above. 

In our previous response letter dated 22/06/2018 (CAS-62136-D6T4) NRW did not object to 
the proposal and we recommended the use of appropriate conditions to address any 
outstanding issues related to the long term compensatory measure and monitoring proposal 
for Great Crested Newts. 
We have assessed the additional information submitted in support of the application, namely: 

• Ecological Compliance Schedule and Habitat Management Plan dated July 2018 by 
Middlemarch Environmental; 

and would like to make the following comments. 

Protected Species 

The revised ecological compliance schedule and habitat management plan (reference Read, 
K. (2018). Abermule Business park, Abermule, Powys: Ecological Compliance Schedule and 
Habitat Management Plan (Rev A). Middlemarch Environmental . Unpublished, addresses 
our previous concerns with issues associated with evidencing ecological compliance and 
long term management NRW does not object to the proposal subject to the implementation of 
the habitat management plan as submitted. We have no further comments to make on this 
application. Please refer to our previous letter for comments on foul and surface water 
drainage, flood risk and advisory to the developer.

Advice for the developer:

Protected Species

We advise that amphibian surveillance data is uploaded into the online Wales GCN 
Monitoring Scheme (ref https://www.cofnod.org.uk/LinkInfo?ID=7).

Page 31



24

Scope of NRW Comments

Our comments above only relate specifically to matters that are included on our checklist 
“Natural Resources Wales and Planning Consultations” (March 2015) which is published on 
our website: (https://naturalresources.wales/media/5271/150302-natural-resources-wales-
and-planning-consultations-final-eng.pdf). We have not considered potential effects on other 
matters and do not rule out the potential for the proposed development to affect other 
interests, including environmental interests of local importance. The applicant should be 
advised that, in addition to planning permission, it is their responsibility to ensure that they 
secure all other permits/consents relevant to their development.

3rd Response

We wish to confirm that we have no objection  to the proposed realignment of the hedgerow 
provided 
(i)               The proposed amphibian  reasonable avoidance measures scheme is 
 implemented in accordance with the provisions of the submitted  entitled Docker, T. (2018). 
Hedgerow Translocation Works,  Abermule Business Park:  Great Crested Newt Reasonable 
Avoidance Method Statement. Middlemarch Environmental Ltd. Unpublished; and
(ii)              Works are carried out in accordance with the provisions of an appropriate 
Biosecurity Risk Assessment. 

We trust this email will be of assistance to you 

Welsh Government Transport

1st Response 

I refer to your consultation of 7ᵗʰ June 2018 regarding the above application, and advise that 
the Welsh Government as highway authority for the A483 trunk road directs that planning 
permission is not granted at this time as the applicant has provided insufficient information to 
determine the application. 

The applicant must provide the following information to support this application or resubmit 
the application with the following details; 
 
1. The applicant must forward a suitably scaled drawing detailing the proposed access off the 
A483 trunk road, which must incorporate the following aspects:- 
a) Visibility Splays in either direction from a suitable set-back. 
b) Gradient of the access road and the A483 trunk road carriageway 
c) Access width and radii dimensions 
d) Access surfacing type along with depth and width dimensions 
e) Parking areas 
f) If a gate is to be installed on the access 

The above aspects must conform to the Design Manual for Roads and Bridges (DMRB). 

2. The applicant must provide the previous and proposed Annual Average Daily Traffic 
Values for the site. 

Page 32



25

If you have any further queries, please forward to the following Welsh Government Mailbox 
NorthandMidWalesDevelopmentControlMailbox@gov.wales

2nd Response

I refer to your consultation of 07/06/2018 regarding the above planning application and 
advise that the Welsh Government as highway authority for the A483 trunk road directs that 
any permission granted by your authority shall include the following conditions: 

1) The proposed amended field access & culvert must be constructed in accordance with 
approved drawings 2395/P03/12 Rev C & P03/016 Rev A, including the translocation of 
100m of existing hedgerow prior to the development being brought into use. 
 
The above conditions are included to maintain the safety and free flow of trunk road traffic. 

If you have any further queries, please forward to the following Welsh Government Mailbox 
NorthandMidWalesDevelopmentControlMailbox@gov.wales

Network Rail

Thank you for your email dated 7 June, together with the opportunity to comment on this 
proposal.

Network Rail has no objection in principle to the above proposal but due to the proposal 
being next to Network Rail land and our infrastructure and to ensure that no part of the 
development adversely impacts the safety, operation and integrity of the operational railway 
we have included asset protection comments which the applicant is strongly recommended to 
action should the proposal be granted planning permission.  The local authority should 
include these requirements as planning conditions if these matters have not been addressed 
in the supporting documentation submitted with this application.

FENCING
If not already in place, the Developer/applicant must provide at their expense a suitable 
trespass proof fence (of at least 1.8m in height) adjacent to Network Rail’s boundary and 
make provision for its future maintenance and renewal without encroachment upon Network 
Rail land. Network Rail’s existing fencing / wall must not be removed or damaged and at no 
point either during construction or after works are completed on site should the foundations of 
the fencing or wall or any embankment therein be damaged, undermined or compromised in 
any way. Any vegetation on Network Rail land and within Network Rail’s boundary must also 
not be disturbed.

FOUNDATIONS
Network Rail offers no right of support to the development. Where foundation works 
penetrate Network Rail’s support zone or ground displacement techniques are used the 
works will require specific approval and careful monitoring by Network Rail. There should be 
no additional loading placed on the cutting and no deep continuous excavations parallel to 
the boundary without prior approval.  

DRAINAGE

Page 33



26

All surface water drainage should be directed away from Network Rail’s land to the public 
mains system. Soakaways are not acceptable where the following apply: 

 Where excavations which could undermine Network Rail’s structural support 
zone or adversely affect the bearing capacity of the ground

 Where there is any risk of accidents or other acts leading to potential 
pollution of Network Rail’s property/infrastructure

 Where the works could adversely affect the water table in the vicinity of 
Network Rail’s structures or earthworks.

GROUND DISTURBANCE
The works involve disturbing the ground on or adjacent to Network Rail’s land it is 
likely/possible that the Network Rail and the utility companies have buried services in the 
area in which there is a need to excavate. Network Rail’s ground disturbance regulations 
applies. The developer should seek specific advice from Network Rail on any significant 
raising or lowering of the levels of the site. 

SITE LAYOUT
It is recommended that all buildings be situated at least 2 metres from the boundary fence, to 
allow construction and any future maintenance work to be carried out without involving entry 
onto Network Rail's infrastructure.  Where trees exist on Network Rail land the design of 
foundations close to the boundary must take into account the effects of root penetration in 
accordance with the Building Research Establishment’s guidelines.

PILING
Where vibro-compaction/displacement piling plant is to be used in development, details of the 
use of such machinery and a method statement should be submitted for the approval of 
Network Rail’s Asset Protection Engineer prior to the commencement of works and the works 
shall only be carried out in accordance with the approved method statement.

EXCAVATIONS/EARTHWORKS
All excavations / earthworks carried out in the vicinity of Network Rail’s property / structures 
must be designed and executed such that no interference with the integrity of that property / 
structure can occur.  If temporary compounds are to be located adjacent to the operational 
railway, these should be included in a method statement for approval by Network Rail.  Prior 
to commencement of works, full details of  excavations and earthworks to be carried out near 
the railway undertaker’s boundary fence should be submitted for approval of the Local 
Planning Authority acting in consultation with the railway undertaker and the works shall only 
be carried out in accordance with the approved details.  Where development may affect the 
railway, consultation with the Asset Protection Engineer should be undertaken.

SIGNALLING
The proposal must not interfere with or obscure any signals that may be in the area.

NOISE
Network Rail would remind the council and the applicant of the potential for any noise/ 
vibration impacts caused by the proximity between the proposed development and the 
existing railway, which must be assessed in the context of the National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF) and the local planning authority should use conditions as necessary. 

Page 34



27

The current level of railway usage may be subject to change at any time without prior 
notification including increased frequency of trains, night time train running and heavy freight 
trains. 

There is also the potential for maintenance works to be carried out on trains, which is 
undertaken at night and means leaving the trains’ motors running which can lead to 
increased levels of noise. 

LANDSCAPING
It is recommended no trees are planted closer than 1.5 times their mature height to the 
boundary fence. The developer should adhere to Network Rail’s advice guide on acceptable 
tree/plant species. Any tree felling works where there is a risk of the trees or branches falling 
across the boundary fence will require railway supervision.

PLANT, SCAFFOLDING AND CRANES
Any scaffold which is to be constructed adjacent to the railway must be erected in such a 
manner that, at no time will any poles or cranes over-sail or fall onto the railway.  All plant 
and scaffolding must be positioned, that in the event of failure, it will not fall on to Network 
Rail land. 

HEAPING, DUST AND LITTER
It should be noted that because of the nature of the proposals we would not want to see 
materials piled against our boundary.  Items to be heaped on site should be kept away from 
the boundary an equal distance as the pile is high to avoid the risk of toppling and damaging 
or breaching our boundary.  We also have concerns over the potential for dust clouds and 
rubbish created from the processing at the site affecting the railway signal sighting.  
Therefore, adequate measures for preventing dust and rubbish blowing onto Network Rail 
property are to be in operation.

LIGHTING 
Any lighting associated with the development (including vehicle lights) must not interfere with 
the sighting of signalling apparatus and/or train drivers vision on approaching trains. The 
location and colour of lights must not give rise to the potential for confusion with the signalling 
arrangements on the railway

SAFETY BARRIER
Where new roads, turning spaces or parking areas are to be situated adjacent to the railway; 
which is at or below the level of the development, suitable crash barriers or high kerbs should 
be provided to prevent vehicles accidentally driving or rolling onto the railway or damaging 
the lineside fencing.

ACCESS POINTS
Where Network Rail has defined access points, these must be maintained to Network Rail’s 
satisfaction. 

In order to mitigate the risks detailed above, the Developer should contact the Network Rail’s 
Asset Protection Wales Team well in advance of mobilising on site or commencing any 
works. The initial point of contact is assetprotectionwales@networkrail.co.uk. The department 
will provide all necessary Engineering support subject to a Basic Asset Protection 
Agreement.

Page 35

mailto:assetprotectionwales@networkrail.co.uk


28

Cadw

Thank you for your letter of 07 June 2018 inviting our comments on the above planning 
application. 

Advice 
Having carefully considered the information provided with the planning application, our 
records show that there are no scheduled monuments or registered historic parks and 
gardens that would be affected by the proposed development. We therefore have no 
comments to make on the proposed development. 

Our role 
Our statutory role in the planning process is to provide the local planning authority with an 
assessment concerned with the likely impact that the proposal will have on scheduled 
monuments, registered historic parks and gardens, registered historic landscapes where an 
Environmental Impact Assessment is required and development likely to have an impact on 
the outstanding universal value of a World Heritage Site. We do not provide an assessment 
of the likely impact of the development on listed buildings or conservation areas, as these are 
matters for the local authority. 

It is for the local planning authority to weigh our assessment against all the other material 
considerations in determining whether to approve planning permission. 

National Policy 
Applications for planning permission are considered in light of the Welsh Government’s land 
use planning policy and guidance contained in Planning Policy Wales (PPW), Technical 
Advice Notes and guidance.

PPW (Chapter 6 – The Historic Environment) explains that the conservation of archaeological 
remains is a material consideration in determining a planning application, whether those 
remains are a scheduled monument or not. Where nationally important archaeological 
remains, whether scheduled or not, and their settings are likely to be affected by proposed 
development, there should be a presumption in favour of their physical protection in situ. It 
will only be in exceptional circumstances that planning permission will be granted if 
development would result in an adverse impact on a scheduled monument (or an 
archaeological site shown to be of national importance) or has a significantly damaging effect 
upon its setting. Technical Advice Note 24: The Historic Environment elaborates by 
explaining that when considering development proposals that affect scheduled monuments or 
other nationally important archaeological remains, there should be a presumption in favour of 
their physical preservation in situ, i.e. a presumption against proposals which would involve 
significant alteration or cause damage, or would have a significant adverse impact causing 
harm within the setting of the remains. 

PPW also explains that local authorities should protect parks and gardens and their settings 
included in the first part of the Register of Landscapes, Parks and Gardens of Special 
Historic Interest in Wales, and that the effect of a proposed development on a registered park 
or garden or its setting should be a material consideration in the determination of a planning 
application.

Page 36



29

Representations

The application was advertised through the erection of a site notice and press advertisement. 
10 objections have been received to the proposed development and are summarised below;

 Concerns raised regarding the potential impact of noise disturbance on nearby 
residential properties

 The development will have an adverse effect on nearby residents
 Discrepancy within the submitted information regarding operating house
 Detrimental impact on health and wellbeing
 Odour concerns as the village is down-wind from the development
 Site was meant to be a high quality prestigious development
 Recycling centre will have a negative impact upon uptake of the business units
 Whilst no longer a C2 flood zone, the site does suffer from surface water flooding
 Potential for pollution
 Tourism will be impacted negatively, including Abermule Hotel and nearby tourism 

sites
 No justification within the planning application only an assumption of its suitability
 Inappropriate to site such a development on a greenfield/B1 site in a rural village
 Other locations would be more suitable for development such as locations closer to 

Newtown
 Concerns raised over the sustainability of the site being located in Abermule
 Proposal does not demonstrate adequate control over noise, dust and air quality
 Proposed building out of scale with the area
 Surface water drainage is an issue at the site
 Roof of the building not being used for solar power

Planning History

P/2009/1353 – Outline planning application for a prestige business park. Conditional Consent

P/2009/1162 – Formation of vehicular access, estate road, footway and associated works in 
connections with proposed business site. Conditional consent.

Principal Planning Constraints
Flood Zone

Principal Planning Policies

National Planning Policy 

Planning Policy Wales (9th Edition, 2016)

Technical Advice Note 5: Nature Conservation and Planning (2009)
Technical Advice Note 11: Noise (1997)
Technical Advice Note 12: Design (2016)
Technical Advice Note 13: Tourism (1997)
Technical Advice Note 15: Development and Flood Risk (2004)
Technical Advice Note 18: Transport (2007)

Page 37



30

Technical Advice Note 20: Planning and the Welsh Language (2017)
Technical Advice Note 21: Waste (2014)
Technical Advice Note 23: Economic Development (2014)
Technical Advice Note 24: The Historic Environment (2017)

Local planning policies

Powys Local Development Plan 2018

SP2 – Employment Growth
SP5 – Settlement Hierarchy
SP6 – Distribution of Growth across the Settlement Hierarchy
SP7 – Safeguarding of Strategic Resources and Assets
DM2 – The Natural Environment
DM4 – Landscape
DM5 – Development and Flood Risk
DM6 – Flood Prevention Measures and Land Drainage
DM7 – Dark Skies and External Lighting
DM10 – Contaminated and Unstable Land
DM13 – Design and Resources
DM14 – Air Quality Management
DM15 – Waste within Developments
DM16 – Protection of Existing Employment Sites
E1 – Employment Proposals on Allocated Employment Sites
T1 – Travel, Traffic and Transport Infrastructure
W1 – Location of Waste Development
W2 – Waste Management Proposals

RDG=Powys Residential Design Guide NAW=National Assembly for Wales TAN= Technical Advice Note 
LDP=Powys Local Development Plan, MIPPS=Ministerial Interim Planning Policy Statement

Other Legislative Considerations

Crime and Disorder Act 1998 

Equality Act 2010 

Planning (Wales) Act 2015 (Welsh language) 

Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 

Officer Appraisal

Section 38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004

Members are advised to consider this application in accordance with Section 38 (6) of the 
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, which requires that, if regard is to be had to 
the development plan for the purpose of any determination to be made under the Planning 
Acts, the determination must be made in accordance with the plan unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise.

Page 38



31

Principle of Development

- Outline application for the construction of 6 units for B1 (Business), B2 (General 
Industrial) and B8 (Storage or Distribution)

For the purposes of the Powys Local Development Plan the application site area for the 
business park development lies entirely within the development boundary of Abermule. The 
site is an allocated employment site (P02 EA1). Policy E1 – Employment Proposals on 
Allocated Employment Sites states that proposals for B1, B2 and B8 employment 
development will be permitted on allocated sites where they comply with the category of the 
site and permitted uses of the site.

The site is categorised as a High Quality/Local site which are defined in the LDP as follows;

High Quality Sites: Smaller sites of regional significance offering small to medium sized 
employment opportunities for B1, B2 and B8 Uses in high quality surroundings that are well 
positioned in relation to the County’s main road and transport infrastructure.

Local Sites: Sites for B1, B2 and B8 Uses providing a varied industrial and / or employment 
setting with minimised visual impact (for example, screening) yet located within close 
proximity to the main road and transport infrastructure as well as centres of population. 
These sites primarily serve a local market and may include local office developments.

As the application seeks outline planning permission for the construction of 6 units for B1, B2 
and B8 use it is considered that the principle of the proposed development is acceptable.

- Full application for the construction of a recycling bulking facility and associated works

The bulking facility is located entirely within the development boundary; however the surface 
water compensation lies to the south west of the site outside the development boundary.

The site is an allocated employment site (P02 EA1). Policy E1 – Employment Proposals on 
Allocated Employment Sites states that proposals for B1, B2 and B8 employment 
development will be permitted on allocated sites. Policy E1 also states that some allocations 
are suitable for waste uses through policy W1. Allocation P02 EA1 has been identified as 
one of the employment allocations where this would be acceptable.

Policy W1 states that proposals for the management of waste which accord with the waste 
hierarchy will be supported on employment sites identifies in Policies E1 and E4. As 
identified above, Abermule Business Park is one of these identified sites. Recycling is 
identified within TAN 21: Waste as being part of the waste hierarchy and as such given the 
location of the proposed development being in line with policies E1 and W1 it is considered 
that the principle of development is acceptable.

Landscape and Visual Impact

Guidance within policy DM4 of the Powys Local Development Plan, indicates that 
development proposals outside Towns, Large Villages, Small Villages and Rural Settlements 
must not, individually or cumulatively, have an unacceptable adverse effect on the valued 

Page 39



32

characteristic of the Powys landscape. With regards to both the outline and full elements of 
this proposal only the construction of the surface water compensation lies outside the 
development boundary of Abermule. The built elements of the scheme will lie entirely within 
the development boundary of Abermule.

Policy DM13 states that proposals will only be permitted where development has been 
designed to complement and/or enhance the character of the surrounding area in terms of 
siting, appearance, integration, scale, height, massing and design detailing.

For the purposes of LANDMAP’s Visual and Sensory, the proposed site of development is 
located within the ‘River Severn Flood plain’ aspect area which is characterised as a 
significant open valley / vale with a patchwork of medium to large field parcels many 
displaying established field boundaries of managed and overgrown hedgerows with 
numerous hedgerow trees. Predominantly arable farming with some lowland dairy farming. 
Settlements of varying sizes are prevalent from farmsteads to significant urban areas such as 
Welshpool and Newtown. Open skies dominate with wooded valley sides fringing the valley 
bottom. LANDMAPs evaluation assesses the area of Moderate value. 

The application site is a vacant business park with an access and associated road which has 
been constructed. The site is relatively flat and is bound to the south by railway line. The 
development will be viewed from the adjoining highway to the north of the site and from 
surrounding dwellings to the west, north and north-east of the site. A right of way is also 
located approximately 200 metres to the south of the proposed development, which will be 
able to view the development.

The full application proposed a steel portal building measuring approximately 48.4 metres in 
length, 34 metres in width with a maximum height of 13.4 metres. A single storey element is 
located on the south eastern elevation which measure approximately 34 metres in length, 6.4 
metres in depth, with a maximum height of 6.7 metres. The proposed building of a steel 
portal construction finished in matt black plastic coated profile steel sheeting and render for 
the walls and matt black plastic coated profile steel sheeting for the roof. The building will 
have the appearance of an agricultural building, which is common in the surrounding 
landscape with two farmsteads being located in close proximity to the site. Other steel portal 
style buildings are also found in Abermule, approximately 300 metres to the north east of the 
site with others being recently granted consent.

The site will be bound by black powder coated aluminium palisade fencing and existing areas 
of trees to the north and south-west of the site will be retained and enhanced. 

Whilst the development will be visible from a number of sensitive receptors it is considered 
that the development does not have such a detrimental impact on the character and 
appearance of the area to warrant refusal. Concerns of third parties regarding the building 
are noted however it is considered that the building, whilst large, is located on an 
employment site, is located in close proximity to a number of similarly designed buildings and 
as such will be seen as an acceptable part of the wider built form.

The outline application has been submitted with all matters reserved as such consideration of 
the scale, size and design of the buildings will not be under this application. However 
parameters of the maximum width and heights have been submitted demonstrating maximum 

Page 40



33

heights varying from 5.5 to 7 metres in height and floor areas ranging from 150 to 1000 
square metres. 

Whilst the development will be visible from a number of areas it is considered that the 
indicative layout submitted with the application demonstrates that the site can adequately 
accommodate six business units without having a detrimental impact on landscape and 
visual amenity. 

In light of the above observations and notwithstanding the scale of the proposed 
development, given the proposed topography of the area along with the proposed 
improvement of existing planting, it is considered that the proposed development is broadly in 
accordance with planning policy.  Officers consider that the visual and landscape impact 
associated with the development is in accordance with policies SP7, DM2, DM4, DM7, 
DM13, E1 and W1 of the Powys Local Development Plan.

Transport Impacts

Policy T1 of the Powys Local Development Plan 2018 states that development proposals 
should incorporate safe and efficient means of access to and from the site for all transport 
users, manage any impact upon the network and mitigate adverse impacts. Policy DM13 also 
states that development proposals should meet all highway access requirements, vehicular 
parking standards and demonstrate that the strategic and local highway network can absorb 
the traffic impacts of the development without adversely affecting the safe and efficient flow 
of traffic on the network.

Information provided within the application states that the proposed bulking facility will 
generate approximately 172 vehicle manoeuvres per day. Information has been gathered 
with regards to the potential trips generated from the business park which is likely to generate 
33 vehicles two-way in the AM peak period and 23 vehicles two-way in the PM peak period.
The application seeks to access the site via an existing access from the B4368 which was 
constructed following the approval of the access scheme in 2009. Following consultation with 
Powys Highways Authority no objections were received subject to the imposition of 
conditions. Following this it was advised that the transport information had inaccurately stated 
the parking spaces to be 50 when this was intended to be 33 spaces. An amended Transport 
Statement was submitted which identified 33 parking spaces and 25 spaces for heavy goods 
vehicles. Following further consultation with the Powys Highways Authority it was confirmed 
that the parking space provision was in accordance with the CSS Parking Standards Wales 
and offered no objection subject to the imposition of amended conditions.

With regards to access to the site, the site benefits from close proximity to the A483 Trunk 
Road which provides access to the wider area. Bus stops are located approximately 100 and 
750 metres from the site providing a service to Welshpool, Newtown and Montgomery.

As part of the application it is proposed to improve an existing agricultural access to the 
south-west of the site. This is being improved to allow access into the surrounding 
agricultural land which is currently being given through the application site. As the improved 
access is onto the A483 Trunk Road Welsh Government were consulted on the application. 
Following receipt of the application Welsh Government issues a holding objection due to a 
lack of information supporting the application and the amended access.

Page 41



34

Amended information was subsequently received to satisfy the concerns raised by Welsh 
Government. Following reconsultation Welsh Government removed their objection subject to 
a condition directing a condition be included regarding the proposed access and hedgerow 
translocation.

As such it is considered that the proposed development is in accordance with policies T1, 
DM13, tan 18 AND Planning Policy Wales.

Biodiversity and Ecology

SSSI’s and SAC

Policy DM2 of the Powys Local Development Plan seeks to maintain biodiversity and 
safeguard protected important sites. Policy DM2 states that proposed development should 
not unacceptably adversely affect any designated site, habitat of species including locally 
important site designations.

The application site lies approximately 370 metres from the Montgomery Canal SAC and 
SSSI, however the site is separated from the SAC/SSSI by the A483 Trunk Road, agricultural 
land and the River Severn. Following consultation with the Powys Ecologist it was confirmed 
that following their review of the submitted plans and information it was considered that due 
to the distance of the proposed development from the SAC/SSI, nature of the land and 
potential connections/barriers between the proposed development site and the designated 
site that there is no likely potential for the proposed development to result in direct or indirect 
impacts on the Montgomery Canal SAC/SSSI.

Protected Species

Policy DM2 of the Powys Local Development Plan, TAN5 and PPW seek to safeguard 
protected species and their habitats. Policy DM2 states that proposed development should 
not unacceptably adversely affect any habitat or protected species.

A number of ecological reports and supporting information has been submitted with the 
application:
- Preliminary Ecological Appraisal produced by Gerald Longley Ecological Consultants 

dated April 2017
- Reptile Survey produced by Gerald Longley Ecological Consultants dated 1st July 2017
- Statement of GCN Conservation and Mitigation Works Reference RT-MME-126868-02-

Rev A produced by Middlemarch Environmental dated 18th April 2018
- Great Crested Newt Method Statement Reference RT-MME-126868-03 produced by 

Middlemarch Environmental dated June 2018
- Ecological Compliance Schedule and Habitat Management Plan Reference RT-MME-

127496 produced by Middlemarch Environmental dated June 2018
- Ecological Compliance Schedule and Habitat Management Plan Reference RT-MME-

127496 RevA produced by Middlemarch Environmental dated July 2018
- Landscaping and Ecology Plan drawing no. 2395/P03/009 Rev A produced by CWIC 

dated 05/06/2018
- Lighting & Signage Plan – Recycling Bulking Facility drawing no. 2395/P03/008 Rev A 

produced by CWIC dated 5th June 2018

Page 42



35

- Arboricultural Report Including Tree Survey Data & Tree Constraints Plan produced by 
Arboricultural Technician Services dated 23rd March 2018

Following consultation with NRW no objections were received with regards to impact on 
protected species subject to a condition requiring a Great Crested Newt Method Statement. 
This information was subsequently submitted and both NRW and Powys Ecology were 
reconsulted on the submitted information. NRW provided amended comments offering no 
objection to the submitted information.

Following consultation with the Powys Ecologist it was confirmed that the preliminary 
ecological appraisal identified the presence of great crested newts at the proposed site and 
confirmed breeding in the pond located to the south of the site. A subsequent survey of a 
further pond within 500 metres of the site identified further newts and was confirmed as a 
breeding site.

It has been identified that an EPS Licence will be required, and following review of all the 
submitted information Powys Ecology offer no objection to the proposed development subject 
to conditions requiring adherence to the submitted information and requiring a lighting 
scheme to be submitted for the business park.

Following amendments to the access on to the trunk road being submitted, the plans detailed 
that part of a hedgerow would need to be translocated. As this had the possibility to impact 
upon great crested newts an additional method statement was submitted in support of the 
application. NRW and Ecology have been consulted on the submitted information and both 
have stated that they have no objection to the proposed development.

In light of the above and subject to the recommendations, it is considered that the proposed 
development is in accordance with policy DM2 of the Powys Local Development Plan, 
Technical Advice Note 5 and Planning Policy Wales.

Residential Amenity

LDP policy DM13 states that development proposals will only be permitted where the 
amenities enjoyed by the occupants of nearby or proposed properties shall not be 
unacceptably affected by development in terms of noise, dust, air pollution, litter, odour, 
hours of operation, overlooking or any other planning matter.

A number of residential dwellings are within close proximity to the site;

- Bryn y Maes is located approximately 90 metres from the site and bulking facility
- Maes Derwyn is located approximately 61 metres from the site boundary and 

approximately 305 metres from the bulking facility
- The Court is located approximately 84 metres from the site boundary and 

approximately 329 metres from the bulking facility
- Court Close an estate of a number of dwellings is located within close proximity to the 

development with the nearest dwellings (numbers 31, 33 and 35) being located 
approximately 169 metres from the development boundary and approximately 420 
metres from the bulking facility

The application is supported by a Noise Impact Assessment prepared by WSP in June 2018.

Page 43



36

Consultation was undertaken with the Environmental Health Officer who advised that the 
submitted noise impact assessment has demonstrated that, by incorporating design features 
and mitigation measures, noise emissions from the recycling bulking facility are considered 
unlikely to cause adverse impacts on residential amenity or human health.

The mitigation measures identified are as follows;
- Restriction on bay door opening – two of the five doors will be kept shut during 

operation
- Sound absorptive materials to be added to processing shed interior 
- Relocation of glass deposit – moved approximately 25 metres south east further away 

from Bryn y Maes
- Installation of 2.8m high local noise barrier at Bryn y Maes 

Environmental Health have offered no objection to the proposed development with regards to 
residential amenity provided that a condition is attached to the grant of consent requiring an 
impact assessment to be submitted prior to the occupation of the business park units.

A number of third partied have raised concern regarding the potential odour impact of the 
proposed development. Further comments were sought from Environmental Health 
confirming that there were no concerns with regards to odour emissions as the majority of the 
material would be dealt with inside the building and the green/food waste would be stored in 
sealed skips to contain any odours.

As such it is considered that the proposed development is in accordance with policy DM13 of 
the Powys LDP and TAN 11: Noise.

Land Drainage

A Flood Consequences Assessment, Preliminary Drainage Strategy and Addendum to the 
Preliminary Drainage Strategy and Flood Consequence Assessment prepared by WSP were 
submitted in support of the application.

Following consultation with Powys Land Drainage, with regards to surface water drainage no 
objections have been received regarding the proposed drainage at the site provided a 
condition is attached requiring the detailed design of the drainage to be submitted prior to 
commencement of works on site.

With regards to local flood risk the Land Drainage Officer note that the full application 
development provides a flood alleviation storage pond to the south of the site. This has been 
provided to manage surface water runoff from outside the site i.e. turnoff from the hillside and 
land to the south and east of the site. However concerns have been raised over the formation 
of the field access which will affect existing land drainage features, the Land Drainage Officer 
states that the current design proposals are not acceptable to the Lead Local Flood Authority 
and will require further modification. They have however stated that these modifications can 
be agrees as part of the detailed drainage design to be submitted prior to the commencement 
of development. 

However, Welsh Government Trunk Road are content with the detail of the culvert and have 
requested that development is undertaken in line with the submitted information. As such 

Page 44



37

further comment has been requested from the Land Drainage Officer and will be provided in 
the form of an update report.

With regards to the outline element of the proposed development Land Drainage have 
advised that the submitted Flood Consequence Assessment demonstrated that small areas 
of the farm building complex immediately downstream of the site on the northern side of the 
B4386 would experience a slight increase in surface water level during a sever pluvial rainfall 
event. Land Drainage also commented that although the site itself is not at risk, the FCA also 
indicates that during a 1 in 100 annual probability event with climate change allowance the 
farm building complex would experience flood depths ranging from 300mm to 1.5m. The FCA 
concluded that the increase in flood risk complex is not considered to be significant but 
suggests that this risk can be further reduced through increasing the size of the proposed 
northern storage area and proper maintenance of the existing culver inlet.  Land Drainage 
conclude that based on the information submitted that additional improvements are carried 
out on the culvert inlet structure where any modification would not only reduce future 
frequency of blockages but also benefit in respect to local flood risk.

No objection has been received subject to the imposition of conditions requiring the 
submission of full engineering details and drawing and details of the improvements to the 
culvert inlet prior to the commencement of any works on site.

The submitted information demonstrated that foul water generated by the development 
(including welfare facilities and wash down water) will be captures and handled entirely 
separately from the surface water system. Dirty water will be taken to a dirty water storage 
tank where it will be stored before being emptied by a vacuum tanker for disposal.

Powys Ecology were also consulted on the drainage plans and offered no objection to the 
proposed drainage

In light of the above, it is considered that the surface water drainage systems proposed 
fundamentally comply with policy DM6 of the Powys Local Development Plan. 

Rights of Way and Tourism

LDP Policy DM13 seeks to oppose development which would have an unacceptable adverse 
impact on existing and established tourism assets and attractions.

Several representations have been received raising concerns that the proposed development 
will be of detriment to local tourism. 

Whilst objectors make reference to potential impact of the development on nearby tourism 
accommodation considerations should also be given to the technical professional reports 
submitted with the application and the comments submitted by the Environmental Health 
Officer who offers no objection to the proposed development. 

It is also considered that sufficient distance is retained between the proposed development 
and the public right of way to the south of the application site to not negatively impact upon 
any users. The buildings will be seen in the wider landscape in close proximity to two farm 
complexes and Abermule.

Page 45



38

As such it is considered that the proposed development complies with policy DM13 of the 
Powys LDP.

Recommendation

Having carefully considered the proposed development, Officers consider that the proposal 
broadly complies with planning policy. The recommendation is therefore one of conditional 
approval subject to the conditions outline below.

Conditions

Conditions in respect of full application

1. The development to which this permission relates shall be begun no later than the 
expiration of five years from the date of this permission. 

2. The development shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the plans and 
documents approved on XX/XX/XXXX (drawing no’s; 2395/P03/001, 2395/P03/009, 
2395/P03/008, 2395/P03/003, 2395/P03/004, 2395/P03/011, 2395/P03/010, 
2395/P03/006, 2395/P03/007, 2395/P03/005, H2395/P03/013, 2395/P03/012, 
2395/P03/016, 70019430-DP-01_P01 Rev P01 and documents; Phase 1 Geo-
Environmental Desk Study dated December 2017, Design and Access Statement 
dated June 2018, Flood Risk Appraisal Phase 2 dated November 2016, Planning 
Statement dates June 2018, Noise Impact Assessment dated February 2018, 
Arboricultural Report dated March 2018, Addendum to Preliminary Drainage Strategy 
and Flood Consequence Assessment dated June 2018, Flood Consequence 
Assessment dated April 2018, Waste Planning Assessment dated June 2018, Offsite 
Impacts Mitigation dated May 2017, Statement of GCN Conservation and Mitigation 
Works dated April 2018, Reptile Survey dated June 2018, Preliminary Ecological 
Appraisal dated April 2017, Preliminary Drainage Strategy dated April 2018, Flood 
Consequence Assessment dated June 2018, Ecological Compliance Schedule and 
Habitat Management Plan dated June 2018, Great Crested Newt Method Statement 
dated June 2018, Noise Impact Assessment dated June 2018, Technical Note dated 
June 2018, Ecological Compliance Schedyle and Habitat Management Plan dated 
July 2018, Transport Statement dated July 2018 and Great Crested Newt Reasonable 
Avoidance Method Statement dated July 2018).

3. The use shall not be carried out outside the hours of 07:00 to 18:00 Monday to 
Sundays.

4. Prior to the first beneficial use of the development, a bus shelter and all associated 
works shall be constructed alongside the bus layby on the B4386.  The specification of 
which is to be agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority.

5. Prior to the first beneficial use of the development any entrance gates shall be set 
back at least 20 metres distant from the edge of the adjoining carriageway and shall 
be constructed so as to be incapable of opening towards the highway and shall be 

Page 46



39

retained in this position and form of construction for as long as the 
dwelling/development hereby permitted remains in existence.

6. Prior to the first beneficial use of the development, provision shall be made within the 
curtilage of the site for the parking of not less than 33 cars and 25 heavy goods 
vehicles together with all operational access routes within the site such that all 
vehicles serving the site may both enter and leave the site in a forward gear. 

7. The parking and turning areas shall be retained for their designated use for as long as 
the development hereby permitted remains in existence.

8. No development shall take place until a site investigation of the nature and extent of 
contamination has been carried out, by a suitably qualified competent person, in 
accordance with a methodology which has previously been submitted to and approved 
in writing by the local planning authority. A written report of the findings of the site 
investigation shall be made available to the local planning authority before any 
development begins. The written report should include an appraisal of remedial 
options and identification of the most appropriate remediation option(s) for each 
relevant pollutant linkage. The report is subject to the written approval of the local 
planning authority.

9. No development shall take place until a detailed remediation scheme to bring the site 
to a condition suitable for the intended use by removing unacceptable risks to human 
health, buildings and other property and the natural and historical environment must 
be prepared, and is subject to the approval in writing of the local planning authority. 
The scheme must include all works to be undertaken, proposed remediation objectives 
and remediation criteria, timetable of works and site management procedures. The 
scheme must ensure that the site will not qualify as contaminated land under Part 2A 
of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 and The Contaminated Land (Wales) 
Regulations 2006, as amended by The Contaminated Land (Wales) (Amendment) 
Regulations 2012, in relation to the intended use of the land after remediation. The 
detailed remediation scheme should not be submitted until written approval for 
Condition 1 has been received from the local planning authority. All work and 
submissions carried out for the purposes of this condition must be conducted in 
accordance with DEFRA and the Environment Agency’s ‘Model Procedures for the 
Management of Land Contamination, CLR 11’ and the WLGA document ‘Development 
of Land Affected by Contamination: A Guide for Developers’ (2012). 

10.The approved remediation scheme must be carried out in accordance with its terms 
prior to the commencement of development other than that required to carry out 
remediation, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the local planning authority. The 
local planning authority must be given two weeks written notification of 
commencement of the remediation scheme works. If during the course of development 
any contamination is found that has not been identified in the site investigation, 
additional measures for the remediation of this source of contamination shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The remediation 
of the site shall incorporate the approved additional measures before the development 
is occupied. Following completion of measures identified in the approved remediation 
scheme, a verification report that demonstrates the effectiveness of the remediation 
carried out must be produced, and is subject to the approval in writing of the local 

Page 47



40

planning authority. The verification report contents must be agreed with the local 
planning authority before commencement of the remediation scheme. All work and 
submissions carried out for the purposes of this condition must be conducted in 
accordance with DEFRA and the Environment Agency’s ‘Model Procedures for the 
Management of Land Contamination, CLR 11’ and the WLGA document ‘Development 
of Land Affected by Contamination: A Guide for Developers’ (2012). 

11.A monitoring and maintenance scheme to include monitoring the long-term 
effectiveness of the proposed remediation over a period of duration to be agreed in 
writing with the local planning authority and the provision of reports on the same must 
be prepared, both of which are subject to the approval in writing of the local planning 
authority. Within six months following the completion of the measures identified in that 
scheme and the achievment of the remediation objectives, reports that demonstrate 
the effectiveness of the monitoring and maintenance carried out must be produced, 
and submitted to the local planning authority. This must be conducted in accordance 
with DEFRA and the Environment Agency's 'Model Procedures for the Management of 
Land Contamination, CLR 11'. 

12.The mitigation measures regarding great crested newts identified in the Statement of 
GCN Conservation and Mitigation Works Reference RT-MME-126868-02-Rev A 
produced by Middlemarch Environmental dated 18th April 2018 and Great Crested 
Newt Method Statement Reference RT-MME-126868-03 produced by Middlemarch 
Environmental dated June 2018 shall be adhered to and implemented in full and 
maintained thereafter.

13.The measures identified in the Ecological Compliance Schedule and Habitat 
Management Plan Reference RT-MME-127496 RevA produced by Middlemarch 
Environmental dated July 2018 shall be adhered to and implemented in full and 
maintained thereafter.

14. Installation of external lighting features at the site will be carried out in accordance with 
the Lighting & Signage Plan – Recycling Bulking Facility drawing no. 2395/P03/008 
Rev A produced by CWIC dated 5th June 2018, the identified lighting plan shall be 
adhered to and implemented in full and maintained thereafter.

15.The Tree constraints plan identified in the Tree Survey Data & Tree Constraints Plan 
produced by Arboricultural Technician Services dated 23rd March 2018 shall be 
adhered to and implemented in full and maintained thereafter.

16.The reasonable avoidance measures regarding great crested newts identified in the 
Hedgerow Translocation Works - Great Created Newt Reasonable Avoidance Method 
Statement produced by Middlemarch Environmental Reference RT-MME-127521-02 
dated 20th  July 2018 shall be adhered to and implemented in full and maintained 
thereafter.

17.No development shall commence until full engineering details and drawings for the 
surface water and land drainage arrangements, together with details on the surface 
water flood compensation pond has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
local Planning Authority. The approved scheme shall be completed prior to the first 
beneficial use of the development.

Page 48



41

18.The proposed amended field access & culvert must be constructed in accordance with 
approved drawings 2395/P03/12 Rev C & P03/016 Rev A, including the translocation 
of 100m of existing hedgerow prior to the development being brought into use. 

Reasons in respect of full application

1. Required to be imposed by Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 

2. To ensure adherence to the plans stamped as approved in the interests of clarity and 
a satisfactory development.

3. To ensure that the amenities of local reidents are safeguarded in accordance with 
policy DM13 of the Powys Local Development Plan 2018. 

4. In the interest of highway safety and free flow of traffic in accordance with policy T1 
and DM13 of the Powys Local Devleopment Plan and TAN18 and Planning Policy 
Wales.

5. In the interest of highway safety and free flow of traffic in accordance with policy T1 
and DM13 of the Powys Local Devleopment Plan and TAN18 and Planning Policy 
Wales.

6. In the interest of highway safety and free flow of traffic in accordance with policy T1 
and DM13 of the Powys Local Devleopment Plan and TAN18 and Planning Policy 
Wales.

7. In the interest of highway safety and free flow of traffic in accordance with policy T1 
and DM13 of the Powys Local Devleopment Plan and TAN18 and Planning Policy 
Wales.

8. To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and 
neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, property 
and ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be carried out 
safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors 
in accordance with policy DM10 of the Powys County Council Local Development 
Plan 2018.

9. To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and 
neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, property 
and ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be carried out 
safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors 
in accordance with policy DM10 of the Powys County Council Local Development 
Plan 2018.

10. To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and 
neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, property 
and ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be carried out 
safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors 

Page 49



42

in accordance with policy DM10 of the Powys County Council Local Development 
Plan 2018.

11. To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and 
neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, property 
and ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be carried out 
safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors 
in accordance with policy DM10 of the Powys County Council Local Development 
Plan 2018.

12. To comply with Powys County Council’s LDP Policies DM2 in relation to The Natural 
Environment and to meet the requirements of Planning Policy Wales (Edition 9, 
November 2016), TAN 5: Nature Conservation and Planning, the Conservation of 
Habitats and Species Regulations 2017, the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 (as 
amended) and Section 6 of the Environment (Wales) Act 2016

13. To comply with Powys County Council’s LDP Policies DM2 in relation to The Natural 
Environment and to meet the requirements of Planning Policy Wales (Edition 9, 
November 2016), TAN 5: Nature Conservation and Planning, the Conservation of 
Habitats and Species Regulations 2017, the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 (as 
amended)  and Section 6 of the Environment (Wales) Act 2016. 

14. To comply with Powys County Council’s Policies LDP DM2 and DM7 in relation to 
The Natural Environment and to meet the requirements of Planning Policy Wales 
(Edition 9, November 2016), TAN 5: Nature Conservation and Planning and Part 1 
Section 6 of the Environment (Wales) Act 2016

15. To comply with Powys County Council’s LDP Policies DM2 in relation to The Natural 
Environment and to meet the requirements of Planning Policy Wales (Edition 9, 
November 2016), TAN 5: Nature Conservation and Planning and Section 6 of the 
Environment (Wales) Act 2016.

16. To comply with Powys County Council’s UDP Policies DM2 in relation to The Natural 
Environment and to meet the requirements of Planning Policy Wales (Edition 9, 
November 2016), TAN 5: Nature Conservation and Planning, the Conservation of 
Habitats and Species Regulations 2017, the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 (as 
amended) and Section 6 of the Environment (Wales) Act 2016.

17. To ensure that the proposed surface water and land drainage features for the 
development follow best practice sustainable drainage designs and are fully 
compliant with regulations and are of robust design in accordance with policy DM6 of 
the Powys Local Development Plan.

18. The conditions are included to maintain the safety and free flow of trunk road traffic in 
accordance with policy T1 and DM13 

Conditions in respect of outline application

1. Details of the appearance, landscaping, layout, and scale, (hereinafter called ""the 
reserved matters"") shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning 

Page 50



43

authority before any development begins and the development shall be carried out as 
approved.

2. Any application for approval of the reserved matters shall be made to the local 
planning authority not later than three years from the date of this permission.

3. The development to which this permission relates shall be begun no later than the 
expiration of five years from the date of this permission. 

4. The development shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the plans and 
documents approved on XX/XX/XXXX (drawing no’s; 2395/P03/001, 70019430-DP-
01_P01 Rev P01 and documents; Phase 1 Geo-Environmental Desk Study dated 
December 2017, Design and Access Statement dated June 2018, Flood Risk 
Appraisal Phase 2 dated November 2016, Planning Statement dates June 2018, 
Noise Impact Assessment dated February 2018, Arboricultural Report dated March 
2018, Addendum to Preliminary Drainage Strategy and Flood Consequence 
Assessment dated June 2018, Flood Consequence Assessment dated April 2018, 
Waste Planning Assessment dated June 2018, Offsite Impacts Mitigation dated May 
2017, Statement of GCN Conservation and Mitigation Works dated April 2018, Reptile 
Survey dated June 2018, Preliminary Ecological Appraisal dated April 2017, 
Preliminary Drainage Strategy dated April 2018, Flood Consequence Assessment 
dated June 2018, Ecological Compliance Schedule and Habitat Management Plan 
dated June 2018, Great Crested Newt Method Statement dated June 2018, Noise 
Impact Assessment dated June 2018, Technical Note dated June 2018, Ecological 
Compliance Schedyle and Habitat Management Plan dated July 2018, Transport 
Statement dated July 2018 and Great Crested Newt Reasonable Avoidance Method 
Statement dated July 2018).

5. Prior to occupation of the business/employments units on the development, an impact 
assessment will be submitted to and approved by the Council to demonstrate how the 
proposed use, design and any required mitigation measures will ensure that the 
amenity of nearby noise-sensitive properties shall not be unacceptably affected by 
levels of noise.  The assessment will consider the potential combined impacts of noise 
from all permitted uses on the Abermule Business Park development site (i.e. 
including the Recycling Bulking Facility), and will be conducted in accordance with the 
method set out in BS 4142:2014, and must demonstrate that the combined noise 
impact from the development site will be no greater than indicated in the Abermule 
Business Park Noise Impact Assessment report ref 70032991-NV1-02-R1.

6. The mitigation measures regarding great crested newts identified in the Statement of 
GCN Conservation and Mitigation Works Reference RT-MME-126868-02-Rev A 
produced by Middlemarch Environmental dated 18th April 2018 and Great Crested 
Newt Method Statement Reference RT-MME-126868-03 produced by Middlemarch 
Environmental dated June 2018 shall be adhered to and implemented in full and 
maintained thereafter.

7. The measures identified in the Ecological Compliance Schedule and Habitat 
Management Plan Reference RT-MME-127496 RevA produced by Middlemarch 
Environmental dated July 2018 shall be adhered to and implemented in full and 
maintained thereafter.

Page 51



44

8. No external lighting shall be installed unless a detailed external lighting design scheme 
has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
external lighting scheme shall identify measures to avoid impacts on nocturnal wildlife.  
The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details.

9. Prior to the commencement of development a detailed landscaping scheme shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The submitted 
landscaping scheme shall include a scaled drawing and a written specification clearly 
describing the species, sizes, densities and planting numbers proposed as well as 
aftercare measures. Drawings must include accurate details of any existing trees and 
hedgerows to be retained with their location, species, size and condition.

10.The Tree constraints plan identified in the Tree Survey Data & Tree Constraints Plan 
produced by Arboricultural Technician Services dated 23rd March 2018 shall be 
adhered to and implemented in full and maintained thereafter.

11.No development shall commence until full engineering details and drawings for the 
surface water and land drainage improvements, together with a management and 
maintenance plan for the culvert inlet, are submitted to and approved in writing by the 
local planning authority. The approved scheme shall be completed prior to the first 
beneficial use of the business park development.

12.No development shall take place until a site investigation of the nature and extent of 
contamination has been carried out, by a suitably qualified competent person, in 
accordance with a methodology which has previously been submitted to and approved 
in writing by the local planning authority. A written report of the findings of the site 
investigation shall be made available to the local planning authority before any 
development begins. The written report should include an appraisal of remedial 
options and identification of the most appropriate remediation option(s) for each 
relevant pollutant linkage. The report is subject to the written approval of the local 
planning authority.

13.No development shall take place until a detailed remediation scheme to bring the site 
to a condition suitable for the intended use by removing unacceptable risks to human 
health, buildings and other property and the natural and historical environment must 
be prepared, and is subject to the approval in writing of the local planning authority. 
The scheme must include all works to be undertaken, proposed remediation objectives 
and remediation criteria, timetable of works and site management procedures. The 
scheme must ensure that the site will not qualify as contaminated land under Part 2A 
of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 and The Contaminated Land (Wales) 
Regulations 2006, as amended by The Contaminated Land (Wales) (Amendment) 
Regulations 2012, in relation to the intended use of the land after remediation. The 
detailed remediation scheme should not be submitted until written approval for 
Condition 1 has been received from the local planning authority. All work and 
submissions carried out for the purposes of this condition must be conducted in 
accordance with DEFRA and the Environment Agency’s ‘Model Procedures for the 
Management of Land Contamination, CLR 11’ and the WLGA document ‘Development 
of Land Affected by Contamination: A Guide for Developers’ (2012). 

Page 52



45

14.The approved remediation scheme must be carried out in accordance with its terms 
prior to the commencement of development other than that required to carry out 
remediation, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the local planning authority. The 
local planning authority must be given two weeks written notification of 
commencement of the remediation scheme works. If during the course of development 
any contamination is found that has not been identified in the site investigation, 
additional measures for the remediation of this source of contamination shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The remediation 
of the site shall incorporate the approved additional measures before the development 
is occupied. Following completion of measures identified in the approved remediation 
scheme, a verification report that demonstrates the effectiveness of the remediation 
carried out must be produced, and is subject to the approval in writing of the local 
planning authority. The verification report contents must be agreed with the local 
planning authority before commencement of the remediation scheme. All work and 
submissions carried out for the purposes of this condition must be conducted in 
accordance with DEFRA and the Environment Agency’s ‘Model Procedures for the 
Management of Land Contamination, CLR 11’ and the WLGA document ‘Development 
of Land Affected by Contamination: A Guide for Developers’ (2012). 

15.A monitoring and maintenance scheme to include monitoring the long-term 
effectiveness of the proposed remediation over a period of duration to be agreed in 
writing with the local planning authority and the provision of reports on the same must 
be prepared, both of which are subject to the approval in writing of the local planning 
authority. Within six months following the completion of the measures identified in that 
scheme and the achievment of the remediation objectives, reports that demonstrate 
the effectiveness of the monitoring and maintenance carried out must be produced, 
and submitted to the local planning authority. This must be conducted in accordance 
with DEFRA and the Environment Agency's 'Model Procedures for the Management of 
Land Contamination, CLR 11'. 

Reasons

1. To enable the Local Planning Authority to exercise proper control over the 
development in accordance with Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990.

2. Required to be imposed by Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

3. Required to be imposed by Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 

4. To ensure adherence to the plans stamped as approved in the interests of clarity and 
a satisfactory development.

5. To comply with Powys County Council Local Development Plan policy DM13 ‘Design 
and Resources’.

6. To comply with Powys County Council’s UDP Policies DM2 in relation to The Natural 
Environment and to meet the requirements of Planning Policy Wales (Edition 9, 
November 2016), TAN 5: Nature Conservation and Planning, the Conservation of 

Page 53



46

Habitats and Species Regulations 2017, the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 (as 
amended) and Section 6 of the Environment (Wales) Act 2016. 

7. To comply with Powys County Council’s UDP Policies DM2 in relation to The Natural 
Environment and to meet the requirements of Planning Policy Wales (Edition 9, 
November 2016), TAN 5: Nature Conservation and Planning, the Conservation of 
Habitats and Species Regulations 2017, the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 (as 
amended)  and Section 6 of the Environment (Wales) Act 2016.

8. To comply with Powys County Council’s Policies LDP DM2 and DM7 in relation to The 
Natural Environment and to meet the requirements of Planning Policy Wales (Edition 
9, November 2016), TAN 5: Nature Conservation and Planning and Part 1 Section 6 of 
the Environment (Wales) Act 2016.

9. To comply with Powys County Council’s LDP Policy DM4 in relation to ecological 
qualities of the landscape and meet the requirements of Planning Policy Wales 
(Edition 9, November 2016), TAN 5: Nature Conservation and Planning and Part 1 
Section 6 of the Environment (Wales) Act 2016

10.To comply with Powys County Council’s UDP Policies DM2 in relation to The Natural 
Environment and to meet the requirements of Planning Policy Wales (Edition 9, 
November 2016), TAN 5: Nature Conservation and Planning and Section 6 of the 
Environment (Wales) Act 2016. 

11.To ensure that the proposed surface water and land drainage features for the 
development follow best practice sustainable drainage designs and are fully compliant 
with regulations and are of robust design in accordance with policy DM6 of the Powys 
Local Development Plan.

12.To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and 
neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, property 
and ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be carried out safely 
without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors in 
accordance with policy DM10 of the Powys County Council Local Development Plan 
2018.

13.To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and 
neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, property 
and ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be carried out safely 
without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors in 
accordance with policy DM10 of the Powys County Council Local Development Plan 
2018.

14.To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and 
neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, property 
and ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be carried out safely 
without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors in 
accordance with policy DM10 of the Powys County Council Local Development Plan 
2018.

Page 54



47

15.To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and 
neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, property 
and ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be carried out safely 
without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors in 
accordance with policy DM10 of the Powys County Council Local Development Plan 
2018.

Informative Notes

Warning: An European protected species (EPS) Licence is required for this 
development. 
This planning permission does not provide consent to undertake works that require an EPS 
licence. 
It is an offence to deliberately capture, kill or disturb EPS or to recklessly damage or destroy 
their breeding sites or resting places. If found guilty of any offences, you could be sent to 
prison for up to 6 months and/or receive an unlimited fine. 
To undertake the works within the law, you can obtain further information on the need for a 
licence from Natural Resources Wales on 0300 065 3000 or at 
https://naturalresources.wales/conservation-biodiversity-and-wildlife/european-protected-
species/?lang+en

Great Crested Newts – Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 (as amended) and The 
Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017
Great Crested Newts are known to be present in the vicinity of the proposed development 
site. The great crested newt is fully protected under schedule 5 of the Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981 (as amended) and Schedule 2 of The Conservation of Habitats and 
Species Regulations 2017.

It is therefore an offence to:
·        Deliberately capture, injure or kill a great crested newt;
·        Deliberately disturb an great crested newt in such a way as to be likely to significantly 
affect the local distribution, abundance or the ability of any significant group of great crested 
newts to survive, breed, rear or nurture their young;
·        Damage or destroy a great crested newt breeding site or resting place;
·        Intentionally or recklessly disturb a great crested newt; or
·        Intentionally or recklessly obstruct access to a breeding site or resting place.

If a great crested newt is discovered while work is being undertaken, all work must stop and 
advice sought from Natural Resources Wales and the Council's Ecologist. This advice may 
include that a European protected species licence is sought.

Birds - Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended)
All nesting birds, their nests, eggs and young are protected by law and it is an offence to:
·        intentionally kill, injure or take any wild bird 
·        intentionally take, damage or destroy the nest of any wild bird whilst it is in use or being 
built 
·        intentionally take or destroy the egg of any wild bird
·        intentionally (or recklessly in England and Wales) disturb any wild bird listed on 
Schedule1 while it is nest building, or at a nest containing eggs or young, or disturb the 
dependent young of such a bird. 

Page 55

https://naturalresources.wales/conservation-biodiversity-and-wildlife/european-protected-species/?lang+en
https://naturalresources.wales/conservation-biodiversity-and-wildlife/european-protected-species/?lang+en


48

The maximum penalty that can be imposed - in respect of a single bird, nest or egg - is a fine 
of up to 5,000 pounds, six months imprisonment or both. 

The applicant is therefore reminded that it is an offence under the Wildlife and Countryside 
Act 1981 (as amended) to remove or work on any hedge, tree or building where that work 
involves the taking, damaging or destruction of any nest of any wild bird while the nest is in 
use or being built (usually between late February and late August or late September in the 
case of swifts, swallows or house martins).  If a nest is discovered while work is being 
undertaken, all work must stop and advice sought from Natural Resources Wales and the 
Council's Ecologist.

Reptiles – Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 (as amended)
All species of reptiles known to occur within Powys, namely the common lizard, slow-worm, 
grass snake and adder, are protected under the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as 
amended).

It is therefore an offence to:
·        Intentionally kill or injure these species of reptiles,
·        Trade (live or dead animals) i.e. sale, barter, exchange, transporting for sale and 
advertising to sell or to buy.
The maximum penalty that can be imposed - in respect of each offence - is a fine of up to 
5,000 pounds, six months imprisonment or both. 

In addition these species of reptiles are also listed in Part 1 Section 7 of the Environment 
(Wales) Act 2016 – which is a list of the living organisms of principal importance for the 
purpose of maintaining and enhancing biodiversity in relation to Wales. Species of reptiles 
known to occur in Powys are also listed as Species of Conservation Concern on the Powys 
LBAP.
If reptiles are discovered while work is being undertaken, all work must stop and advice 
sought from Natural Resources Wales and/or the Council's Ecologist. 

Land Drainage

The LLFA is, in general, opposed to culverting of Ordinary watercourses and whenever 
practical will seek to have culverted watercourses restored to open channels.  Any proposed 
culverting (or modification to an existing structure) of an Ordinary watercourse will require the 
prior consent from the LLFA under the terms of the Land Drainage Act 1991 (as amended by 
the Flood & Water Management Act 2010).

Network Rail

FENCING
If not already in place, the Developer/applicant must provide at their expense a suitable 
trespass proof fence (of at least 1.8m in height) adjacent to Network Rail’s boundary and 
make provision for its future maintenance and renewal without encroachment upon Network 
Rail land. Network Rail’s existing fencing / wall must not be removed or damaged and at no 
point either during construction or after works are completed on site should the foundations of 
the fencing or wall or any embankment therein be damaged, undermined or compromised in 

Page 56



49

any way. Any vegetation on Network Rail land and within Network Rail’s boundary must also 
not be disturbed.

FOUNDATIONS
Network Rail offers no right of support to the development. Where foundation works penetrate 
Network Rail’s support zone or ground displacement techniques are used the works will 
require specific approval and careful monitoring by Network Rail. There should be no 
additional loading placed on the cutting and no deep continuous excavations parallel to the 
boundary without prior approval.  

DRAINAGE
All surface water drainage should be directed away from Network Rail’s land to the public 
mains system. Soakaways are not acceptable where the following apply: 

 Where excavations which could undermine Network Rail’s structural support 
zone or adversely affect the bearing capacity of the ground

 Where there is any risk of accidents or other acts leading to potential 
pollution of Network Rail’s property/infrastructure

 Where the works could adversely affect the water table in the vicinity of 
Network Rail’s structures or earthworks.

GROUND DISTURBANCE
The works involve disturbing the ground on or adjacent to Network Rail’s land it is 
likely/possible that the Network Rail and the utility companies have buried services in the area 
in which there is a need to excavate. Network Rail’s ground disturbance regulations applies. 
The developer should seek specific advice from Network Rail on any significant raising or 
lowering of the levels of the site. 

SITE LAYOUT
It is recommended that all buildings be situated at least 2 metres from the boundary fence, to 
allow construction and any future maintenance work to be carried out without involving entry 
onto Network Rail's infrastructure.  Where trees exist on Network Rail land the design of 
foundations close to the boundary must take into account the effects of root penetration in 
accordance with the Building Research Establishment’s guidelines.

PILING
Where vibro-compaction/displacement piling plant is to be used in development, details of the 
use of such machinery and a method statement should be submitted for the approval of 
Network Rail’s Asset Protection Engineer prior to the commencement of works and the works 
shall only be carried out in accordance with the approved method statement.

EXCAVATIONS/EARTHWORKS
All excavations / earthworks carried out in the vicinity of Network Rail’s property / structures 
must be designed and executed such that no interference with the integrity of that property / 
structure can occur.  If temporary compounds are to be located adjacent to the operational 
railway, these should be included in a method statement for approval by Network Rail.  Prior 
to commencement of works, full details of  excavations and earthworks to be carried out near 
the railway undertaker’s boundary fence should be submitted for approval of the Local 
Planning Authority acting in consultation with the railway undertaker and the works shall only 
be carried out in accordance with the approved details.  Where development may affect the 
railway, consultation with the Asset Protection Engineer should be undertaken.

Page 57



50

SIGNALLING
The proposal must not interfere with or obscure any signals that may be in the area.

NOISE
Network Rail would remind the council and the applicant of the potential for any noise/ 
vibration impacts caused by the proximity between the proposed development and the 
existing railway, which must be assessed in the context of the National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF) and the local planning authority should use conditions as necessary. 

The current level of railway usage may be subject to change at any time without prior 
notification including increased frequency of trains, night time train running and heavy freight 
trains. 
There is also the potential for maintenance works to be carried out on trains, which is 
undertaken at night and means leaving the trains’ motors running which can lead to increased 
levels of noise. 

LANDSCAPING
It is recommended no trees are planted closer than 1.5 times their mature height to the 
boundary fence. The developer should adhere to Network Rail’s advice guide on acceptable 
tree/plant species. Any tree felling works where there is a risk of the trees or branches falling 
across the boundary fence will require railway supervision.

PLANT, SCAFFOLDING AND CRANES
Any scaffold which is to be constructed adjacent to the railway must be erected in such a 
manner that, at no time will any poles or cranes over-sail or fall onto the railway.  All plant and 
scaffolding must be positioned, that in the event of failure, it will not fall on to Network Rail 
land. 

HEAPING, DUST AND LITTER
It should be noted that because of the nature of the proposals we would not want to see 
materials piled against our boundary.  Items to be heaped on site should be kept away from 
the boundary an equal distance as the pile is high to avoid the risk of toppling and damaging 
or breaching our boundary.  We also have concerns over the potential for dust clouds and 
rubbish created from the processing at the site affecting the railway signal sighting.  
Therefore, adequate measures for preventing dust and rubbish blowing onto Network Rail 
property are to be in operation.

LIGHTING 
Any lighting associated with the development (including vehicle lights) must not interfere with 
the sighting of signalling apparatus and/or train drivers vision on approaching trains. The 
location and colour of lights must not give rise to the potential for confusion with the signalling 
arrangements on the railway

SAFETY BARRIER
Where new roads, turning spaces or parking areas are to be situated adjacent to the railway; 
which is at or below the level of the development, suitable crash barriers or high kerbs should 
be provided to prevent vehicles accidentally driving or rolling onto the railway or damaging the 
lineside fencing.

Page 58



51

ACCESS POINTS
Where Network Rail has defined access points, these must be maintained to Network Rail’s 
satisfaction. 

In order to mitigate the risks detailed above, the Developer should contact the Network Rail’s 
Asset Protection Wales Team well in advance of mobilising on site or commencing any works. 
The initial point of contact is assetprotectionwales@networkrail.co.uk. The department will 
provide all necessary Engineering support subject to a Basic Asset Protection Agreement.

____________________________________________________
Case Officer: Tamsin Law- Principal Planning Officer
Tel: 01597 82 7230 E-mail:tamsin.law@powys.gov.uk  

Page 59

mailto:assetprotectionwales@networkrail.co.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



P
age 61



T
his page is intentionally left blank



1

Planning, Taxi Licensing and Rights of Way Committee Report

Application No: P/2018/0632 Grid Ref: 315123.71, 289297.18

Community 
Council:

Kerry Valid Date:
19/06/2018

Officer:
Bryn Pryce

Applicant: Powys County Council

Location: Brynllywarch Residential School, Kerry, Newtown Powys SY16 4PB

Proposal: Full: Erection of a classroom unit

Application 
Type: 

Application for Full Planning Permission

The reason for Committee determination

The applicant is Powys County Council. 

Site Location and Description

This application site is located within the grounds of the Brynllywarch Residential School 
approximately 0.6 miles south of Kerry. The existing site currently forms an area of tarmaced 
hardstanding currently used as a playground area bound by metal fencing to the north east 
and south east with part of the school to the north west and playground to the south west. 

This application seeks consent for the erection of a classroom unit to provide additional 
accommodation ancillary to the main school building. The proposed building is to be a 
demountable classroom building with two separate classrooms, four w/c’s and a cloakroom. 

Consultee Response

Kerry Community Council

No comments received by Development Manageemnt at the time of writing this report.

PCC - Building Control

Correspondence received 2nd July 2018

Please be aware that Building Regulations Approval will be required.

PCC - Highways

Correspondnece received 6th July 2018

The County Council as Highway Authority for the County Class III Highway, C2012

Page 63

4.3



2

Does not wish to comment on the application

Wales & West Utilities

No comments received by Development Manageemnt at the time of writing this report.

Severn Trent

Correspondence received 4th July 2018

Thank you for the opportunity to comment on this planning application. Please find our 
response noted below:

With Reference to the above planning application the company’s observations regarding 
sewerage are as follows:

As the proposal has minimal impact on the public sewerage system I can advise we have no 
objections to the proposals and do not require a drainage condition to be applied.

To help us provide an efficient response please could you send all responses to 
APPlanning@hdcymru.co.uk rather than to named individuals, including the STW ref within 
the email/subject.

PCC - Built Heritage

Correspondence received 16th July 2018

1.0 Recommendation

1.1 No objections 

Reason: It is considered that the proposal is in accordance with the policies and Guidance in 
PPW and Tan 24 including setting of historic assets with its annexes and the adopted Powys 
Local Development Plan

2.0 Background to Recommendation 

2.1 Designations 

Cadw ID 17282 Brynllywarch Hall School included on the statutory list on 12/09/1996

Adjoining site

Scheduled Ancient Monument MG050 The Moat Mound and Bailey
Listed Building Cadw ID 7564 The Moat included on the statutory list on 10/03/1953
2.2 Policy Background

The advice has been given with reference to relevant policies, guidance and legislation 

Page 64

mailto:APPlanning@hdcymru.co.uk


3

The Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990
Planning Policy Wales 9th edition 2016  
Conservation Principles published by Cadw 
TAN24
Managing Change to Listed Buildings in Wales – Annexe to TAN 24
Conservation Areas in Wales – Annexe to TAN 24 
Setting of Historic Assets in Wales – Annexe to TAN24
Heritage Impact Assessments – Annexe to TAN24
Historic Environment Records

Local Development Plan

Strategic Policy SP7 
DM13 Design and Resources Local Development Plan Themes and Objectives;
Theme 4 – Guardianship of natural, built and historic assets
LDP Objective 13 – Landscape and the Historic Environment

3.0 Comments 

3.1  I note the proximity to the Scheduled Ancient Monument however as Cadw are the 
consultee in respect of setting of Scheduled Ancient Monuments I shall comment on the 
setting of listed buildings only. 

3.2 The school is sited in a woodland overlooking a precipitous slope to views to the NNW. 
The building is large in an Italianate style with the principal rooms appearing to face the NNW 
as the open belvedere atop a semi-circular bay faces NNW.

3.3 The proposal is for the erection of a demountable building to the SE of the principal 
building directly to the south of a modern single storey school building. It is noted that the 
demountable building is proposed for 2 years as a temporary measure while long terms plans 
are proposed. 

3.4 The proposal is for the erection of a building of a temporary nature being plastisol coated 
steel wall cladding, with steel profiles composite sheeted road.   Buildings of these materials 
are not readily encouraged in the grounds of listed buildings.  However in this instance the 
demountable is for a temporary period of around 2 years only, and I note that building of a 
similar character have been installed at the school.

3.5 The school is very well screened by mature trees and the large school building is not 
readily visible from the public roads, it is considered that the siting and size of the  proposed 
demountable building will result in that building being not visible from  public vantage points 
and including the formal driveway to the school.  As such it is not considered that the 
proposed demountable would be visible from outside the site and as such would not be 
considered to have an impact on the setting of The Moat. Its location within the school 
grounds away from the formal frontage and at the more “service end” of the listed building, 
would mean that the proposed demountable is well sited within the site. 

3.6 I have taken into account the guidance in section 16 and 66 of The Planning (Listed 
Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990, Conservation Principles,  section 6.5.11 of 

Page 65



4

PPW, TAN24 and its annexes, and given the siting of the proposed  building away from the 
formal frontage of the listed building and the lack of visibility of the proposed demountable 
building I would have no objections to the proposal on the grounds of the setting of listed 
buildings. 

CADW

No comments received by Development Management at the time of writing this report. 

CPAT

Correspondence received 10th July 2018

Thank you for the consultation on this application. 

I can to confirm that there are no archaeological implications for the proposed development 
at this location. 

Environmental Health

Correspondence received 18th July 2018

Foul drainage

The proposal is to connect the foul drainage to the existing septic tank.  Please can the 
applicant/agent confirm that the capacity of the existing septic tank and drainage field is 
sufficient to handle the increased sewage load from the new development?

Correspondence received 19th July 2018

Given that the development does not represent an increase in loading on the foul drainage 
system, I have no objection to the application.

Representations

A public site notice was erected at the site on the 6th of July 2018. No third party 
representations have been received by Development Management at the time of writing this 
report. 

Principal Planning Policies

National planning policy 

Planning Policy Wales (9th Edition, 2016)
Technical Advice Note (TAN) 5: Nature conservation and planning (2009)
Technical Advice Note (TAN) 12: Design (2016)
Technical Advice Note (TAN) 18: Transport (2007)
Technical Advice Note (TAN) 23: Economic Development (2014)
Technical Advice Note (TAN) 24: The Historic Environment (2017)

Page 66



5

Local planning policies

Powys Local Development Plan 

SP7 – Safeguarding of Strategic Resources and Assets
DM13 – Design and Resources
T1 – Travel, Traffic and Transport Infrastructure
C1 – Community Facilities and Indoor Recreation Facilities

RDG=Powys Residential Design Guide NAW=National Assembly for Wales TAN= Technical Advice Note 
LDP=Powys Local Development Plan, MIPPS=Ministerial Interim Planning Policy Statement

Other Legislative Considerations

Crime and Disorder Act 1998 

Equality Act 2010 

Planning (Wales) Act 2015 (Welsh language) 

Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 

Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 – Section 16 & 66

Officer Appraisal

Section 38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004

Members are advised to consider this application in accordance with Section 38 (6) of the 
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, which requires that, if regard is to be had to 
the development plan for the purpose of any determination to be made under the Planning 
Acts, the determination must be made in accordance with the plan unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise.

Principle of Development

Policy C1 of the Powys Local Development Plan supports the provision of community 
facilities which includes schools, libraries, community centres, leisure centres etc. The 
proposal must take into account any nearby facilities which could appropriately accommodate 
the proposed use and be in close proximity to a settlement identified in the strategic 
settlement hierarchy. 

The proposed site is located adjacent to an existing residential school facility close to the 
large village of Kerry. The proposed building is to provide additional classroom space which 
is not available within the main building. There are no other suitable facilities within close 
proximity to the school and due to the nature of the school it is important that students and 
staff be accommodated within the grounds of the existing school building. Officers consider 
that the proposed building and its siting is considered to be acceptable.

Page 67



6

In light of the above, it is considered that the proposed development fundamentally complies 
with policy C1 of the Powys Local Development Plan.

Scale, Design and Appearance

Policy DM13 of the Powys Local Development Plan seeks to ensure that development is 
designed to complement and/or enhance the character of the surrounding area in terms of 
siting, appearance, integration, scale, height, massing and design detail. Developments 
should not have an unacceptable detrimental impact upon the amenities enjoyed by the 
occupants or users of nearby properties by means of noise, dust, air pollution, litter, odour, 
hours of operation, overlooking or any other planning matter.

The proposed classroom unit is to have two classrooms, four W/C’s and a cloakroom within 
the unit itself. The building is to measure 19.2 metres in length, 8.5 metres in width and 3.2 
metres in height. The building is to have walls clad in plastisol coated steel external wall 
cladding, the roof is to have a composite roof sheeting with steel outer facing, windows are to 
be double glazed white UPVC units and the doors are to be of steel construction with powder 
coated finish. The roof and wall cladding is to be Albatross in colour. The proposed fascia 
boards are to be profiles plastic coated steel merlin in colour. All rainwater goods are to be of 
PVC construction and white in colour. Officers consider that the proposed building is sited as 
such that the proposal would not have any unacceptable adverse impact upon the setting of 
the listed building or upon the character and appearance of the surrounding area. The 
proposed building is considered to be of a scale, height, mass and design that is considered 
to be acceptable given the buildings temporary nature.

In light of the above observations, it is considered that the proposed extension is in 
accordance with planning policy DM13 of the Powys Local Development Plan.

Highways Safety and Movement

Policy T1 of the Powys Local Development Plan 2018 states that development proposals 
should incorporate safe and efficient means of access to and from the site for all transport 
users, manage any impact upon the network and mitigate adverse impacts.

As part of this application process the highways authority have been consulted however they 
did not wish to comment on the application. Officers consider that the proposed development 
would not result in any unacceptable adverse impact upon highway safety as a result of the 
proposal. 

In light of the highways officer’s comments, officers consider that the proposed development 
is in accordance with planning policy, particularly policy T1 of the LDP, Technical Advice 
Note 18 and Planning Policy Wales.

Built Heritage

Policy SP7 of the Powys Local Development Plan states proposals must not have an 
unacceptable adverse impact on the resources or asset and its operation. Strategic 
resources and assets in Powys include historic environment designations such as scheduled 
ancient monuments and listed buildings. This policy seeks to safeguard these important 
assets from unacceptable development for the future well-being of the county. 

Page 68



7

Brynllywarch residential school is a grade II listed building and as part of this application 
process the councils Built Heritage Officer has been consulted on the potential impact upon 
the setting of this listed building. No objections have been received from the built heritage 
who confirms that the proposed development would not have an unacceptable impact upon 
the setting of the listed building given its siting and materials. 

In light of the above, it is considered that the proposed development complies with policy SP7 
of the Powys Local Development Plan. 

Foul Drainage

The proposed classroom unit is to accommodate two classrooms four W/C’s and a 
cloakroom. The proposed toilets are to be connected to the existing foul sewerage system 
that supports the existing school. As part of this application process Environmental Health 
have been consulted who initially asked for further details regarding the use of the system 
proposed however seeing as there would be no increased load upon the existing septic tank 
system environmental health officers have raised no objection s to the proposal. 

RECOMMENDATION

At the time of writing this report the publicity period for the application had not expired. This 
publicity period expires the day after the Planning Committee meeting. Given the 
safeguarding issues that have been highlighted by the education department, the Planning 
Department has agreed to take the application to the Planning Committee prior to the end of 
the publicity period. This is however on the basis that delegation is given to the Professional 
Lead for Development Management to conditionally approve the application subject to full 
consideration of any representations received during the aforementioned publicity period and 
the application being referred back to the next Planning Committee meeting if any 
correspondence of objection is received prior to determination. 

Recommendation: That delegated authority is given to the Professional Lead for 
Development Management to conditionally approve the application subject to the full 
consideration of any representations received during the statutory publicity period and 
subject to the condition that the application is referred back to the next Planning Committee 
meeting if any correspondence of objection is received prior to determination of the 
application. 

Conditions:

1. The development to which this permission relates shall be begun no later than the 
expiration of five years from the date of this permission.

2. The development shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the plans stamped 
as received on 12th June 2018 (drawing no's: 9876-2-001B) and amended plans 
received (drawing no's: P6100/42/Site Location Plan/A, P6100/42/Site/A).

Reasons

Page 69



8

1. Required to be imposed by Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

2. To ensure adherence to the plans stamped as approved in the interests of clarity and 
a satisfactory development.

____________________________________________________
Case Officer: Bryn Pryce- Planning Officer
Tel: 01597 82 7126 E-mail:bryn.pryce@powys.gov.uk  

Page 70



P
age 71



T
his page is intentionally left blank



1

Planning, Taxi Licensing and Rights of Way Committee Report

Application No: P/2018/0507 Grid Ref: 328392.3 272534.84

Community 
Council:

Knighton Town Council Valid Date:
10/05/2018

Officer:
Holly-ann Hobbs

Applicant: D Willowridge, Willowridge International, 10 Old Cheltenham Road,   
Longlevens, Gloucester, GL2 0AW.

Location: Land at West Street, Knighton, Powys, LD7 1EN.

Proposal: Section 73 application for variation of condition nos 2 and 3 attached to 
planning permission P/2015/0419 to extend the time limit for 
commencement

Application 
Type: 

Application for Removal or Variation of a Condition

The reason for Committee determination

The Local Member has requested that this application is determined by the Planning, Taxi 
Licensing and Rights of Way Committee. 

Site Location and Description

The site subject to this application is located within the settlement development boundary of 
Knighton as defined by the Powys Local Development Plan. The application is bound by 
Offa’s Dyke Recreation Centre and Park to the north and east. Located to the south is the 
public highway and to the west residential properties. 

Consent is sought to vary condition 3 attached to outline planning permission P/2015/0419 
which states;

‘The development hereby permitted shall be begun either before the expiration of five years 
from the date of this permission or before the expiration of two years from the date of the 
approval of the last reserved matters, which is the later’.

Consultee Response

Knighton Town Council

Members of Knighton Town Council made a recommendation by unanimous vote to 
recommend refusal of this application at its meeting on 23rd May 2018.

Can you please ensure that the decision is put on the Powys County Council planning portal? 

Highway Authority

Page 73

4.4



2

The County Council as Highway Authority for the County Class I Highway, A488

Does not wish to comment on the application.

Welsh Water

We refer to your planning consultation relating to the above site, and we can provide the 
following comments in respect to the proposed development. 

SEWERAGE

We have no assets mapped in this area. Please consult Severn Trent.

Our response is based on the information provided by your application.  Should the proposal 
alter during the course of the application process we kindly request that we are re-consulted 
and reserve the right to make new representation.

If you have any queries please contact the undersigned on 0800 917 2652 or via email at 
developer.services@dwrcymru.com

Please quote our reference number in all communications and correspondence.

Councillor Ange Williams – Local Member

I would like to call in the above planning application.  The land is in a prime site for 
development, the application is to retain it as empty which it has been for the last 12 years.  
There's a need for housing in Knighton and I believe the land could be used better for that 
purpose or used for workshop space. 

Cadw

Variation of Conditions 2 and 3 of Planning Permission P/2015/0419 

Thank you for your letter inviting our comments on the above. 

We note that the principle of planning permission has already been accepted with outline 
permission having already been approved subject to a number of conditions.  In particular, 
that the details of access, appearance, landscaping, layout and scale (i.e. the reserved 
matters) are approved by the Council before any development begins. Therefore, this 
application is merely seeking to extend the period for approving these reserved matters and 
commencement of the development.  We have no objection to the extension of time but we 
wish to be consulted on the reserved matters in order to provide advice to ensure the 
protection of the Dyke, and its setting, in line with Strategic Policy SP7 of your Local 
Development Plan (section 3.3.41 (page 45).  For example, it is important that the monument 
is not hemmed in by development and left unmanaged.  Furthermore, the development offers 
the potential to enhance this section of the monument and its setting with opportunities to 
remove the existing revetment wall, undertake archaeological investigation and consider the 
conservation / re-grading of the earthwork within a suitably broad grassed buffer zone to the 
east, supported by a sustainable management plan.  

Page 74



3

Clwyd Powys Archaeological Trust

Thank you for the consultation on these condition variations. 

There are no archaeological implications for the variation of these conditions. 

Schools Service

Correspondence received 17th July 2018 –

Although the projected increase in pupil numbers is not as acute as originally projected the 
school is seeing an increase in pupil numbers in the catchment area of the school, with the 
number on roll projected to increase from 227 in January 2018 to 254 by January 2023.  As it 
is projected that the development would place pressure on both classroom accommodation 
and associated ancillary facilities at the school the Schools Service wishes to confirm its 
request for a S106 education contribution of £6,850 in respect of this development.

Correspondence received 19th July 2018 – 

The current capacity is 243 so at 227 the school currently has capacity to accommodate 
pupils from this development.  

The Service is in the process of reviewing the capacity of all its schools so this figure may 
change but the outcome of the review will not be known until later in the year.

Natural Resources Wales

Thank you for consulting Natural Resources Wales on the above application. 
 
We have reviewed the planning application submitted to us, and from the information 
provided we do not consider that the proposed development affects a matter listed on our 
Checklist, Natural Resources Wales and Planning Consultations (March 
2015): https://naturalresources.wales/guidance-and-advice/business-sectors/planning-and-
development/our-role-in-planning-and-development/our-role-in-planning-and-
development/?lang=en.  

We therefore do not have any comment to make on the proposed development. 

Please note that our decision not to comment does not rule out the potential for the proposed 
development to affect other interests, including environmental interests of local importance.  
 
The applicant should be advised that, in addition to planning permission, it is their 
responsibility to ensure that they secure all other permits/consents relevant to their 
development. 
 
We trust that the above comments are of assistance however, should you have any queries, 
please do not hesitate to contact me.  

Representations

Page 75

https://naturalresources.wales/guidance-and-advice/business-sectors/planning-and-development/our-role-in-planning-and-development/our-role-in-planning-and-development/?lang=en
https://naturalresources.wales/guidance-and-advice/business-sectors/planning-and-development/our-role-in-planning-and-development/our-role-in-planning-and-development/?lang=en
https://naturalresources.wales/guidance-and-advice/business-sectors/planning-and-development/our-role-in-planning-and-development/our-role-in-planning-and-development/?lang=en


4

The proposed development has been advertised by site display (notice dated 8th June 2018). 
At the time of writing this report, no public representations have been received by 
Development Management. 

Planning History

PR73301- Outline: Residential development comprising of 14 market dwelling units & 7 
affordable housing dwelling units, demolition of existing redundant factory. Conditional 
consent granted subject to a Section 106 Agreement – 09/08/2007.

P/2010/0798 – Outline: Variation of Condition: Condition 1(b) and (c) of PR733/01 to extend 
the time limit. Conditional consent granted subject to a Section 106 Agreement – 30/05/2012. 

P/2015/0419 – Outline: Variation of Condition: Condition 2 of P/2010/0798 to extend time 
limit. Conditional consent granted subject to a Section 106 Agreement – 18/06/2015.

Principal Planning Constraints

Scheduled Ancient Monuments

Principal Planning Policies

National Planning Policy

Planning Policy Wales (2016)

Technical Advice Note 5 – Nature Conservation and Planning (2009)
Technical Advice Note 11 – Noise (1997)
Technical Advice Note 12 – Design (2016)
Technical Advice Note 16 – Sport, Recreation and Open Space (2009)
Technical Advice Note 18 – Transport (2007)
Technical Advice Note 20 – Planning and the Welsh Language (2017)
Technical Advice Note 23 – Economic Development (2014)
Technical Advice Note 24 – The Historic Environment (2017)

Local Planning Policy

Powys Local Development Plan (2018)

SP1 – Housing Growth 
SP3 – Affordable Housing Target 
SP5 – Settlement Hierarchy 
SP6 – Distribution of Growth across the Settlement Hierarchy
SP7 – Safeguarding of Strategic Resources and Assets 
DM1 – Planning Obligations 
DM2 – The Natural Environment 
DM3 – Public Open Space 
DM4 – Landscape 
DM6 – Flood Prevention Measures and Land Drainage 
DM10 – Contaminated and Unstable Land 

Page 76



5

DM13 – Design and Resources 
T1 – Travel, Traffic and Transport Infrastructure 
H1 – Housing Development Proposals 
H2 – Housing Sites 
H3 – Housing Delivery 
H4 – Housing Density 
H5 – Affordable Housing Contributions

RDG=Powys Residential Design Guide NAW=National Assembly for Wales TAN= Technical Advice Note 
LDP=Powys Local Development Plan, MIPPS=Ministerial Interim Planning Policy Statement

Other Legislative Considerations

Crime and Disorder Act 1998 

Equality Act 2010 

Planning (Wales) Act 2015 (Welsh language) 

Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 

Officer Appraisal

Section 38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004

Members are advised to consider this application in accordance with Section 38 (6) of the 
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, which requires that, if regard is to be had to 
the development plan for the purpose of any determination to be made under the Planning 
Acts, the determination must be made in accordance with the plan unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise.

Planning History

Outline planning permission for the erection of 21 dwellings including 7 affordable units was 
granted under planning reference PR73301. Due to a combination of reasons including the 
economic climate, it is understood that development has been delayed on site and therefore 
a number of applications (P/2010/0798 & P/2015/0419) to renew the original outline planning 
permission have been considered and consented by Development Management. 

Principle of Development

The application site is located within the settlement development boundary of Knighton, 
defined as a town within the adopted Local Development Plan. In accordance with LDP policy 
SP6, it is envisaged that at least 50% of the Plan’s housing growth will be located within town 
centres on committed and allocated sites or other suitable sites within the development 
boundary. 

The current submission seeks to extend the time period for the commencement of 
development for a further 5 years. Notwithstanding the previous renewals, given the location 

Page 77



6

of the application site within the settlement development boundary, it is considered that the 
principle of residential development at this location is fundamentally acceptable. 

Affordable Housing Contribution

In accordance with LDP policy H5, proposals for new housing development of five or more 
dwelling units or on sites of 0.25ha and above will be required to make contributions towards 
the provision of affordable housing.

The target contributions required to be made by development proposals will be based on the 
required contribution for the relevant sub-market area as set out below: 

i. Central Powys – 30% contribution. 
ii. Severn Valley – 20% contribution.
iii. North Powys - 10% contribution. 
iv. South West Powys – 0% contribution. 

Contributions shall be made in the form of on-site affordable housing provision.

In accordance with the former Unitary Development Plan, the current Section 106 secures 
the provision of 7 affordable units (30%). As part of the current submission, the applicant is 
now seeking to re-negotiate the affordable housing provision to 10%. For the purpose of the 
LDP, Members are advised that Knighton is located within the North Powys sub-market 
where the affordable housing contribution requirement is 10% and therefore, Officers are 
satisfied that the proposed reduction is in accordance with planning policy. 

It is noted that a statement accompanying the application indicates that owing to site 
constraints, the provision of on-site affordable housing would compromise the viability of the 
development. Nevertheless, no evidence relating to viability has been submitted as part of 
this application. In light of the above, in accordance with policy H5 of the LDP, Officers would 
recommend that the affordable housing provision (10%) is secured on-site. 

Amenity Provision

In accordance with policy DM3, provision for new Open Space will, subject to viability, be 
sought from all housing developments of 10 or more dwellings. The type and nature of the 
provision will be determined by the deficiencies identified in the Open Space Assessment for 
the locality and, depending on the individual circumstances, may be provided on or off site.

Officers note that the application site is located within immediate proximity of Offa's Dyke 
Centre Park and Offa's Dyke Centre Playground (NEAP). Unfortunately, at the time of writing 
this report, a response from Countryside Services has not been received. Officers will 
therefore look to secure a response and provide a suitable update to Members either within 
the update report or verbal presentation. 

Education Contribution

LDP policy DM1 confirms that planning obligations will be sought by agreement with 
applicants, where necessary, to ensure that: 

Page 78



7

1. The development provides for adequate infrastructure necessary to serve the proposal, 
and that satisfactory maintenance and / or restoration arrangements are achieved; 
2. Significant adverse socio-economic and environmental impacts are addressed and 
mitigated; 
3. Benefits are secured in the public interest to meet the additional demands of development 
proposals on local communities. 

On reviewing the Section 106 agreement, it is noted that a contribution of £6,850 for the 
purpose of improving education facilities for the Community of Knighton was secured.  
Following consultation, School Services has confirmed that Knighton Primary School 
currently has the capacity to accommodate pupils from the proposed development and 
therefore, Officers do not consider it reasonable or necessary to require a financial 
contribution towards education facilities.  

Housing Delivery

Concerns have been raised by the Local Member in relation to the site, particularly that the 
site has remained undeveloped for over a decade. Whilst Officers acknowledge that the LDP 
suggests that conditions may be imposed to encourage starts and completions on site in 
order to ensure deliverability within the plan period, it is not considered that there is sufficient 
evidence to justify this approach in this instance. 

RECOMMENDATION

In light of the above considerations and notwithstanding the concerns expressed, Officers 
consider that the proposed development is in accordance with planning policy. Should 
Members be minded to grant consent it is requested that the decision is delegated to the 
Professional Lead for Development Management to allow further discussions regarding the 
provision of public amenity space. 

Conditions:

1. Details of the access, appearance, landscaping, layout, and scale, (hereinafter called ""the 
reserved matters"") shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning 
authority before any development begins and the development shall be carried out as 
approved.

2. Any application for approval of the reserved matters shall be made to the local planning 
authority not later than three years from the date of this permission.

3. The development shall begin either before the expiration of five years from the date of this 
permission or before the expiration of two years from the date of approval of the last of the 
reserved matters to be approved, whichever is the later.

4. None of the dwellings shall be occupied until works for the disposal of sewage and surface 
water have been provided on the site to serve the development hereby permitted, in 
accordance with details submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

5. No tree shall be wilfully damaged or destroyed or uprooted , felled ,lopped or topped 
without the previous written consent of the Local Planning authority within 60 months after 

Page 79



8

the completion of the development . Any trees removed without such consent or dying or 
being seriously diseased before the end of the period shall be replaced with trees of such 
size and species as may be agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority.

6. During the development hereby permitted the developer shall afford access at all 
reasonable times to an archaeologist in accordance with a archaeological investigation and 
recording scheme to be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority 
prior to the commencement of development.

7. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 
Development) Order 1995 (or any order revoking and re-enacting that Order with or without 
modification), no fences,gates,walls/,garage,building,extension,dormer window shall be 
erected] or constructed, other than those expressly authorised by this permission].

8. Prior to commencement of the development, details for the disposal of surface water and 
foul sewage shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority 
and the works shall only be carried out in accordance with those details so approved.

9. Development shall not begin until a report on potential contamination of the site has been 
prepared by an appropriate person and submitted to and approved by the Local Planning 
Authority. This report shall include a phased investigation approach, incorporating risk 
assessment, to identify the extent of contamination and any measures required to remediate 
the site, including post-development monitoring.

10. The applicant shall submit and have approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, 
full details of the relocation of the bus stop and alteration to the on-street parking opposite the 
site, prior to the commencement of any works on site.

11. The works referred to above shall be fully completed to the written satisfaction of the 
Local Planning Authority prior to the occupation of any of the dwelling units.

12. Any entrance gates shall be set back from the edge of the highway/footway and shall be 
constructed so as to be incapable of opening towards the highway.

13. The gradient of the access shall not exceed 1 in 30 for the first 15 metres measured from 
edge of the adjoining carriageway along the centre line of the access.

14. The centre line of the first 15 metres of the access road measured from the edge of the 
adjoining carriageway shall be at right angles to that edge of the said carriageway.

15. Within 5 days from the commencement of the development the access shall be 
constructed so that there is clear visibility from a point 1.05 metres above ground level at the 
centre of the access and 15 metres distant from the edge of the adjoining carriageway, to 
points 0.26 metres above ground level at the edge of the adjoining carriageway and 15 
metres distant in each direction measured from the centre of the access along the edge of 
the adjoining carriageway and 4.5 metres distant from the edge of the adjoining carriageway 
and 70 metres in each direction. Nothing shall be planted, erected or allowed to grow on the 
area(s) of land so formed that would obstruct the visibility and the visibility shall be 
maintained from obstruction thereafter.

Page 80



9

16. Within 5 days from the commencement of the development clear visibility shall be 
maintained above a height of 0.26 metres above carriageway level over the full frontage of 
the developed site to the estate road effective over a bandwidth of 2.4 metres measured from 
the edge of the adjoining carriageway. Nothing shall be planted, erected or allowed to grow 
on the area(s) of land so formed that would obstruct the visibility and the visibility shall be 
maintained from obstruction thereafter.

17. Within 5 days from the commencement of the development the area of the access to be 
used by vehicles is to be constructed to a minimum of 410 mm depth, comprising a minimum 
of 250 mm of sub-base material, 100 mm of bituminous macadam base course material and 
60 mm of bituminous macadam binder course material for a distance of 15 metres from the 
edge of the adjoining carriageway. Any use of alternative materials is to be agreed in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority prior to the access being constructed.

18. Prior to the occupation of the units, provisions shall be made within the cartilage of the 
site for the parking of not less than 2 cars per dwelling and 1.5 spaces per flat excluding any 
garage space provided.

19. The gradient from the back of the footway/verge to the vehicle parking areas shall not 
exceed 1 in 15.

20. Within 5 days from the commencement of the development provision shall be made 
within the cartilage of the site for the parking of all construction vehicles together with a 
vehicle turning area. This parking and turning area shall be constructed to a depth of 0.30 
metres in crusher run or sub-base and maintained free from obstruction at all times such that 
all vehicles serving the site may park within the site and both enter and leave the site in 
forward gear.

21. The width of the access carriageway shall not be less than 5.5 metres for a minimum 
distance of 15 metres along the access measured from the adjoining edge of carriageway of 
the county highway.

22. A radius of 6 metres shall be provided from the carriageway of the county highway on 
each side of the access to the development site.

23. Any internal side road junctions shall have a corner radii of 6 metres.

24. The centre line radii of all curves on the proposed estate road shall be not less than 30 
metres.

25. All access shall be gained via the existing private driveway. No vehicular or pedestrian 
access shall be used or created to service the site directly from the county highway.

26. No building shall be occupied before the estate road carriageway and one footway shall 
be constructed to and including binder course level to an adoptable standard including the 
provision of any salt bins, surface water drainage and street lighting in front of that building 
and to the junction with the county highway.

27. The estate road carriageway and all footways shall be fully completed, to a standard to 
be agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority, upon the issuing of the Building 

Page 81



10

Regulations Completion Certificate for the last house or within two years from the 
commencement of the development, whichever is the sooner.

28. Prior to the occupation of the units the area of the access to be used by vehicles is to be 
finished in a 40mm bituminous surface course for a distance of 15 metres from the edge of 
the adjoining carriageway.

29. No storm water drainage from the site shall be allowed to discharge onto the county 
Highway.

30. No development approved by the planning permission shall be commenced until 

a) A desktop study has been carried out which shall include the identification of previous site 
uses, potential contaminants that might reasonably be expected given those uses and other 
relevant information. And using this information a diagrammatical representation (Conceptual 
Model) for the site of all potential contaminant sources, pathways and receptors has been 
produced; 
b) A site investigation has been designed for the site using the information obtained from the 
desktop study and any diagrammatical representations (Conceptual Model). This should be 
submitted to, and approved in writing by the LPA prior to that investigation being carried out 
on the site. The investigation must be comprehensive enough to enable; 1) a risk 
assessment to be undertaken relating to groundwater and surface waters associated on and 
off the site that may be affected, and
2) refinement of the Conceptual Model and 3) the development of a Method Statement
detailing the remediation requirements; 
c) The site investigation has been undertaken in accordance with details approved by the 
Local Planning Authority (LPA) and a risk assessment has been undertaken; 
d) A Method Statement detailing the remediation requirements, including measures to 
minimise the impact on ground and surface waters, using the information obtained from the 
Site Investigation has been submitted to the LPA. This should be approved in writing by the 
LPA prior to that remediation being carried out on the site.

31. The development of the site should be carried out in accordance with the approved 
Method Statement.

32. The development of the site should be carried out in accordance with the approved 
Method Statement.

33. Soakaways shall only be used in areas on site where they would not present a risk to 
groundwater. If permitted their location must be approved in writing by the Localm Planning 
Authority.

34. Clean, uncontaminated rock, subsoil, brick rubble, crushed concrete and ceramic only 
shall be permitted as infill material.

35. Development approved by this permission shall not be commenced unless the method for 
piling foundations has been submitted to an approved in writing by the LPA. The piling shall 
thereafter be undertaken only in accordance with the approved details.

Page 82



11

36. Any facilities for the storage of oils, fuels or chemicals shall be sited on impervious bases 
and surrounded by impervious bund walls. The volume of the bunded compound shall be at 
least equivalent to the capacity of the tank plus 10%. If there is multiple tankage, the 
compound shall be at least equivalent to the capacity of the largest tank, vessel or vessel or 
the combined capacity of interconnected tanks or vessels plus 10%. All filling points, 
associated pipework, vents, gauges and sight glasses must be located within the bund or 
have separate secondary containment. The drainage system of the bund be sealed with no 
discharge to any watercourse, land or underground strata. Associated pipework shall be 
located above ground and protected from accidental damage. All filling points and 
tank/vessels overflow pipe outlets shall be detailed to discharge downwards into the bund.

37. Prior to being discharged into any watercourse, surface water sewer or soakaway 
system, all surface water drainage from parking areas and hardstandings shall be passed 
through an oil interceptor designed and constructed to have a capacity and details 
compatible within the site being drained. Roof water shall not pass through the interceptor. 
Most contaminated soils are regarded as controlled waste. If controlled waste is to be 
deposited on the site then either a Waste Management Licence will be required or the 
applicant will need to register an exemption to licensing with the Environmental Agency. 
Developers should ensure that all contaminated materials are adequately characterised both 
chemically and physically, and that the licensable status of any proposed on site operations 
are clear. If in doubt, the Agency should be contacted for advice at an early stage to avoid 
any delays.

Reasons:

1. To enable the Local Planning Authority to exercise proper control over the development in 
accordance with Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.
2. Required to be imposed by Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.
3. Required to be imposed by Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.
4. In order to ensure that satisfactory drainage arrangements are provided in accordance with 
DM6 of the Powys Local Development Plan (2018).
5. To ensure that the site is properly landscaped and in the interest of the visual amenity of 
the locality.
6. To ensure that items of archaeological interest are recorded, in accordance with policy 
DM13 of the Powys Local Development Plan (2018), Technical Advice Note 24 – The Historic 
Environment (2017) and Planning Policy Wales (2016).
7. In order to control further development which has the potential to have adverse effects on 
privacy and/or amenity in contradiction to policy DM13 of the Powys Local Development Plan 
(2018).
8. To ensure that the development is provided with a satisfactory means of drainage as well 
as to reduce the risk of creating or exacerbating a flooding problem and to minimise the risk 
of pollution in accordance with policies DM6 and DM13 of the Powys Local Development 
Plan (2018) and Planning Policy Wales (2016).
9. In the interest of environmental protection, in accordance with policy DM10 of the Powys 
Local Development Plan (2018).
10. In the interest of highway safety, in accordance with policies DM13 and T1 Powys Local 
Development Plan (2018).
11. In the interest of highway safety, in accordance with policies DM13 and T1 Powys Local 
Development Plan (2018).

Page 83



12

12. In the interest of highway safety, in accordance with policies DM13 and T1 Powys Local 
Development Plan (2018).
13. In the interest of highway safety, in accordance with policies DM13 and T1 Powys Local 
Development Plan (2018).
14. In the interest of highway safety, in accordance with policies DM13 and T1 Powys Local 
Development Plan (2018).
15. In the interest of highway safety, in accordance with policies DM13 and T1 Powys Local 
Development Plan (2018).
16. In the interest of highway safety, in accordance with policies DM13 and T1 Powys Local 
Development Plan (2018).
17. In the interest of highway safety, in accordance with policies DM13 and T1 Powys Local 
Development Plan (2018).
18. In the interest of highway safety, in accordance with policies DM13 and T1 Powys Local 
Development Plan (2018).
19. In the interest of highway safety, in accordance with policies DM13 and T1 Powys Local 
Development Plan (2018).
20. In the interest of highway safety, in accordance with policies DM13 and T1 Powys Local 
Development Plan (2018).
21. In the interest of highway safety, in accordance with policies DM13 and T1 Powys Local 
Development Plan (2018).
22. In the interest of highway safety, in accordance with policies DM13 and T1 Powys Local 
Development Plan (2018).
23. In the interest of highway safety, in accordance with policies DM13 and T1 Powys Local 
Development Plan (2018).
24. In the interest of highway safety, in accordance with policies DM13 and T1 Powys Local 
Development Plan (2018).
25. In the interest of highway safety, in accordance with policies DM13 and T1 Powys Local 
Development Plan (2018).
26. In the interest of highway safety, in accordance with policies DM13 and T1 Powys Local 
Development Plan (2018).
27. In the interest of highway safety, in accordance with policies DM13 and T1 Powys Local 
Development Plan (2018).
28. In the interest of highway safety, in accordance with policies DM13 and T1 Powys Local 
Development Plan (2018).Unitary Development Plan (2010).
29. In the interest of highway safety, in accordance with policies DM13 and T1 Powys Local 
Development Plan (2018).
30. In the interest of environmental protection, in accordance with policy DM10 of the Powys 
Local Development Plan (2018).
31. In the interest of environmental protection, in accordance with policy DM10 of the Powys 
Local Development Plan (2018).
32. In the interest of environmental protection, in accordance with policy DM10 of the Powys 
Local Development Plan (2018).
33. In the interest of environmental protection, in accordance with policy DM10 of the Powys 
Local Development Plan (2018).
34. In the interest of environmental protection, in accordance with policy DM10 of the Powys 
Local Development Plan (2018).
35. In the interest of environmental protection, in accordance with policy DM10 of the Powys 
Local Development Plan (2018).
36. In the interest of environmental protection, in accordance with policy DM10 of the Powys 
Local Development Plan (2018).

Page 84



13

37. In the interest of environmental protection, in accordance with policy DM10 of the Powys 
Local Development Plan (2018).

____________________________________________________
Case Officer: Holly-ann Hobbs- Principal Planning Officer
Tel: 01597 827319 E-mail:holly.hobbs@powys.gov.uk  

Page 85



This page is intentionally left blank



Document Number 4657914 (1 of 1)

Document Number 4657914 (1 of 1) Page 87



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Planning, Taxi Licensing and Rights of Way Committee Report

Application No: P/2018/0627 Grid Ref: 310907.19 273407.47

Community 
Council:

Llanbister Valid Date:
19/06/2018

Officer:
Sara Robinson

Applicant: Powys County Council

Location: Land Adjacent to Llanbister County Primary School, Llanbister, 
Llandrindod Wells, Powys, LD1 6TN

Proposal: Full: Change of use of agricultural land to playing field and erection of 
fencing

Application 
Type: 

Application for Full Planning Permission

The reason for Committee determination

The applicant is Powys County Council.

Site Location and Description

The site concerns Llanbister County Primary School. The site is accessed off the classified 
highway B4356. The application site concerns the north east of the school. To the northwest 
of the site is agricultural land whilst to the east, south and south west are residential 
dwellings and Llanbister County Primary School to the west.

This application seeks full planning consent for the change of use of agricultural land to 
playing field and erection of fencing. The area subject to the change of use measures 
approximately 72 metres in length and 25.5 metres in width. The proposed fencing will 
measure approximately 1.77 metres in height and will be constructed from green plastic 
coated weld mesh and posts.

Consultee Response

Llanbister Community Council

With reference to the above planning application I wish to offer the official response of 
Llanbister Community Council following it's monthly meeting on 12th July 2018.

Llanbister Community Council support the application. We believe that such a playing field 
would be good for the children with improved health and wellbeing. The numbers of children 
are set to increase also in the next 18 - 24 months and the additional recreational area will 
accommodate these increased numbers. The current arrangement would not be so 
accommodating.

Page 89

4.5



2

In addition the playing field would be an asset to the community if other groups were allowed 
to used it. This would carry the proviso that any additional use outside of school hours would 
not negatively impact on the surrounding houses and their occupants.

We do have some concerns however:
1. Who would maintain the playing field and the strip of land that separates it from the 

nearby houses. 
2. There is a sewerage drain situated close to the playing field (More specifically where the 

boundary fence will be). The drain serves properties that are situated above the 
residential area directly affected by the field. If there is any damage to the drain there 
could be an adverse health impact on the children using the field 

We would be grateful for your consideration of our concerns and perhaps provide some 
response to these matters

PCC - Building Control

No comments were received at the time of writing this report.

PCC - Highways

The County Council as Highway Authority for the County Class II Highway, B4356

Does not wish to comment on the application

PCC Contaminated Land

In relation to planning application P/2018/0627, the following advice is provided for the 
consideration of Development Control.

Advice
1. The application proposal involves the conversion of agricultural land to a playing field. 

Agricultural land could contain potential sources of contamination depending on what they 
were used for in the past such as: pesticides, fuels and oils, slurry tanks and pits, fire 
sites, animal burial pits or other buried waste, fertiliser, sheep dip pits, asbestos, old 
machinery, waste chemical drums and ammunition.

Furthermore, records identify that the application site adjoins the location of a historic 
pollution incident (heating oil spill).

2. Paragraph 13.5.1, of Chapter 13 ‘Minimising and Managing Environmental Risks and 
Pollution’, of the Welsh Government document ‘Planning Policy Wales’ (2016) states: 
“responsibility for determining the extent and effects of instability or other risks remains 
that of the developer. It is for the developer to ensure that the land is suitable for the 
development proposed, as a planning authority does not have a duty of care to 
landowners”.

3. In respect of contaminated land paragraph 5.55, of the Welsh Government (WG) circular 
‘The Use of Planning Conditions for Development Management’ (ref: WGC 016/2014), 
states that: “Conditions might also be imposed requiring the developer to draw to the 

Page 90



3

attention of the planning authority the presence of significant unsuspected contamination 
encountered during redevelopment”.

Furthermore, in paragraph 5.56 of the WG circular (ref: WGC 016/2014) it is states: “The 
level of work required must be proportionate to the problems that are envisaged and the 
more onerous conditions should not be imposed as a matter of course”.

4. Based on the available information and current planning guidance, it is recommended that 
the following Condition and Note, to the applicant, are attached to any permission granted 
for planning application P/2018/0627:

Unsuspected Contamination
In the event that the presence of unsuspected contamination is encountered when carrying 
out the approved development immediate contact must be made with the local planning 
authority and works must cease in that area. An investigation and risk assessment must be 
undertaken and where remediation is necessary a remediation scheme must be prepared, 
which is subject to the approval in writing of the local planning authority.

Following completion of the remedial works identified in the approved remediation scheme, a 
verification report that demonstrates compliance with the agreed remediation objectives and 
criteria shall be produced, and is subject to the written approval of the local planning 
authority, prior to commencement of use of the development.

Reason: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and 
neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, property and 
ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be carried out safely without 
unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors [in accordance with 
policy ____ of the adopted Local Plan (date)].

Note to Applicant
Potential Contamination
The Council’s guidance leaflet on the development of sites with potential land contamination 
is attached. Further advice on compliance with this condition may be obtained by contacting 
the Environmental Health Service on 0870 1923757.

Cllr Rachel Powell

I am writing as the County Councillor for Beguildy ward, the LEA Governor to Llanbister 
School, a community member and member of Teme Ithon Action Group, as well as a parent 
of three lively boys who attend Llanbister school. 

Llanbister CP School is a rural school, set within the furthest northern point of the County of 
Radnorshire. By demographics alone, it is nestled into a sparse area, predominantly linked 
with agriculture and the countryside. It is ironic therefore, that the local school has limited 
‘green’ space, considering the landscape of open fields and common land. I wish to write to 
confirm my absolute support for this change of use to extend the school playing area, as I 
believe the benefits, significantly outweigh any negatives for our children and community.

Evidenced based public health literature, has for many years, identified the valuable benefits 
for young children and indeed adults, in accessing regular outdoor play related activities. This 

Page 91



4

can be further evidenced with current educational initiatives such as the ‘daily mile’ that 
encourages physical activity prior to learning and has been shown to improve concentration 
levels, enhance health and improve educational attainment. The green area would, provide a 
safe place to run and play, with minimal injuries of scuffed knees and bruises, that are a 
regular occurrence within my house-hold, especially with the recent profile of the FIFA World 
cup, whereby all little boys and girls, want to be ‘Harry Kane’.

Public health research denotes how play, within an outdoor space, encourages social 
interaction for children, enhancing well-being, both physical and psychological. It also allows, 
the ability for quiet time, which we know is essential in creating resilience for young people to 
safeguard their mental health. As well as environmental benefits, there are sensory benefits 
too which compliments their learning and offers variable styles of teaching for staff, such as 
looking at nature and its seasonal traits.

However, more importantly, I must raise the voice of Llanbister children, of which it will 
impact. I have had a remarkable interest from the children, who regularly enquire, whenever 
they see me, at when their ‘green space’ is going to happen. A 6 year old, who seemed to be 
the regular ‘goalie’ said it would ‘help save more goals as the tarmac was a little hard to fall 
on sometimes’. 

With the United Nations Childrens Rights Charter, recently signed by the Council, as well as 
the Future Generations Act (2015), the voice of the child, should within this environment, be 
valued and recognised within any form of decision making that will affect them.

‘The Unfrozen Moment – Delivering A Green Brexit’ by the secretary of state Michael Gove 
(July 2017) sets the vision on the future of our natural environment. He recognises the 
‘commitment of young people’ as well as ‘an historic opportunity to review land use’, but most 
importantly, he states, that we need to be ‘encouraging imaginative and environmentally 
enriching alternatives’. 

In view to this application, I can see no better ‘environmentally enriching alternative’ than the 
enhancement to children’s lives within their learning and play. Indeed, how else will children 
learn the art of  how to ‘whistle with a blade of grass?’.

To conclude, I fully support this planning application in view to the proposed change of use.

Representations

A site notice was erected on the school fence adjacent to the site of the proposed site. The 
site notice was erected on the 06/07/2018 for the period of 21 days.

Following the display of a site notice eight representations of support were received and two 
representations of objection were received at the time of writing this report and are 
summarised as follows;

Support

Page 92



5

 The chance of an additional green grass play area is essential for the Health and Well 
Being of the children, especially as the school numbers are predicted to be 60 by 
September 2019.

 Although the school now continues to thrive and grow, a green space is sadly lacking. 
Playtime is a very important part of the childrens' school day, a sports/playing field 
space is number 1 on their wishlist.  Obviously children need as much space as 
possible to run around and a more natural "green" field environment would be great for 
their wellbeing. 

 I know this additional play area will be a great new addition for the growing number of 
children who attend the school, allowing them green space for a play area, exercise 
and sporting activities - essential for both their health and wellbeing.

 While they have a nice tarmacked outdoor area, it is no substitute for a proper grass 
playing field for children to run around on during breaks and for use during exercise 
periods.  The front garden at the school is also lovely and the teachers have put so 
much effort into enriching the area, but again it is too small for the school as it is and 
will only become more so with growing pupil numbers.  
The children need and deserve to have a good sized grass area to fully benefit from 
outdoor learning opportunities, and to have the option of doing exercise classes on the 
grass rather than tarmac or in the village hall.   A proper green space would also give 
the school the option to have sports day on the school site rather than having to bus 
all the children and resources out to a local farmers field.  The children absolutely love 
sports day it would be so much easier for everyone if it could be held at the school site 
rather than in the middle of a field a good mile away from the school.  

 The acquisition of the lease to use the field  is potentially a great step forward in the 
schools provision, not only in health and well being, space to play , space for PE and 
games but also in the wider curriculum. Our outdoor learning provision will be 
enhanced through the study of different environments and habitats, forest school 
activities and opportunities to share the space with other groups in the community.

 In continuing to support the school and its progression as a local primary school a 
green space would provide a place for our children and their education to flourish. 
There will room to play on grass both recreationally and for sporting activities.

 The School will benefit greatly from the addition of a playing field, with the opportunity 
and range of outdoor play available increasing.  I look forward to seeing our children 
enjoy the outdoor space.

 My children attend the school and long for some grass to play on, I think this will prove 
to be a very valuable space for the children. The school is going from strength to 
strength and this will only enhance that.

Objection

 The view from my garden would be severely impacted by the plans to erect a 1.8 Mt 
chain link fence across the whole field and within my field of vision. I have recently 
purchased this property and my overriding reason for doing so was the location and 

Page 93



6

the uninterrupted view from the garden. As such, I would not have gone ahead with 
the purchase had the proposed fence been in place when viewing it. The cynic in me 
could be forgiven for concluding that the proposed use as a school field is an attempt 
to ease the Change of Use application process, by initially converting the land from 
agricultural usage to a school playing field, making it more palatable to the local 
authority when applying for residential use in the future.

 One of the main reasons for buying this house were the views and seclusion. 
Obviously we knew of the school being 4-5 properties away and did not have an issue 
with that, but having a playing field with high fencing the other side of our hedge is 
something we were not expecting, especially in the future it progressed to maybe, 
public use, parties etc, or even a building. Upkeep would also be an issue, as the 
green land at the front of the school can be hit and miss, maintenance wise. If this 
should go ahead, there must be strict rules adhered to.

Planning History

No history 

Principal Planning Constraints

Adjacent to right of way

Principal Planning Policies

National planning policy 

Planning Policy Wales (9th edition, November 2016)

Technical Advice Note 5 – Nature Conservation and Planning (2009)
Technical Advice Note 12 – Design (2016)
Technical Advice Note 16 – Sport Recreation and Open Space (2009)
Technical Advice Note 18 - Transport (2007)

Local planning policies

SP5 – Settlement Hierarchy 
SP6 – Distribution of Growth across the Settlement Hierarchy
DM1 – Planning Obligations
DM2 – The Natural Environment
DM10 – Contaminated and Unstable Land
DM11 – Protection of Existing Community Facilities and Services
DM13 – Design and Resources
T1 – Travel, Traffic and Transport Infrastructure
TD3 – Montgomery Canal and Associated Development
C1 – Community Facilities and Indoor Recreation Facilities

RDG=Powys Residential Design Guide NAW=National Assembly for Wales TAN= Technical Advice Note 
LDP=Powys Local Development Plan, MIPPS=Ministerial Interim Planning Policy Statement

Page 94



7

Other Legislative Considerations

Crime and Disorder Act 1998 

Equality Act 2010 

Planning (Wales) Act 2015 (Welsh language) 

Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 

Officer Appraisal

Section 38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004

Members are advised to consider this application in accordance with Section 38 (6) of the 
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, which requires that, if regard is to be had to 
the development plan for the purpose of any determination to be made under the Planning 
Acts, the determination must be made in accordance with the plan unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise.

Principle of Development

The existing school is located adjacent to the built area of Llanbister. Policy C1 confirms that 
development proposals for community or indoor recreation facilities will be permitted where;
1. Proposals are within or adjoining a settlement identified in the strategic settlement 

hierarchy;
2. No suitable facility exists nearby which could appropriately accommodate the proposed 

use; and
3. The appropriateness and feasibility of multi-use has been considered.

Consent is sought for the change of use of land to form an extension to an existing school to 
provide suitable additional facilities required for the needs of the school.

In light of the above it is therefore considered that the principle of the proposed development 
fundamentally complies with relevant planning policy.

Design and External Appearance

The proposed fencing will measure approximately 1.77 metres in height and will be 
constructed from green plastic coated weld mesh and posts. It is considered that the use of 
green fencing will help to assimilate the fencing into its surroundings to reduce its visual 
impact and therefore it is not considered to have an unacceptable impact on the character 
and appearance of the area.

Agricultural Land Classification

Following consideration of information supplied by Welsh Government through the Provision 
of Agricultural Land Classification due regard has been given to the classification afforded to 
the application site. The site in question has been indicated as category 3b agricultural land.

Page 95



8

Planning Policy Wales (PPW) paragraph 4.10 outlines national policy towards conserving 
Wales’ Best and Most Versatile (BMV) agricultural land. PPW states that;

“In the case of agricultural land, land of grades 1, 2 and 3a of the Department for 
Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (DEFRA) Agricultural Land Classification system (ALC) 
is the best and most versatile, and should be conserved as a finite resource for the future. In 
development plan policies and development management decisions considerable weight 
should be given to protecting such land from development, because of its special importance. 
Land in grades 1, 2 and 3a should only be developed if there is an overriding need for the 
development, and either previously developed land or land in lower agricultural grades is 
unavailable, or available lower grade land has an environmental value recognised by a 
landscape, wildlife, historic or archaeological designation which outweighs the agricultural 
considerations. If land in grades 1, 2 or 3a does need to be developed, and there is a choice 
between sites of different grades, development should be directed to land of the lowest 
grade.”

In light of the lands classification of category 3b it is considered that the proposed 
development on this agricultural land is justified.

Highway Safety and Movement

LDP policies DM13 part 11 and T1 confirms that in the interests of highway safety, all 
development proposals that generate or involve traffic must be provided with an adequate 
means of access including visibility, parking and turning facilities.

The access will remain the same and no alterations are proposed to the parking provision. It 
is considered that the proposal will not increase vehicle movements in the area. The 
Highways Authority has been consulted and has raised no objection in relation to the 
proposal.

In light of the comments received it is considered that the proposal is in accordance with 
planning policy, particularly LDP policy DM13 part 11 T1 and Technical Advice Note 18: 
Transport.

Impact upon neighbour amenities

LDP Policy DM13 states that development proposals will only be permitted where the 
amenities enjoyed by the occupants of nearby or proposed properties will not be 
unacceptably affected. The Powys Residential Design Guide provides guidance on 
overshadowing and privacy.

Concerns have been raised from a neighbouring residential property regarding the loss of 
view from their property as a result of the proposed development. Unfortunately, loss of a 
view is not a material planning consideration and therefore little weight will be given to this 
aspect of the concerns raised. However further consideration has been given to the potential 
loss of light and impact on privacy to neighbouring residential properties.

It is considered that the proposed change of use of land will not unacceptably impact the 
neighbouring dwellings all of which back onto the proposed site. It is considered that there 

Page 96



9

are mature hedgerows located to the south and east of the site which will help to provide 
privacy to some of the neighbouring dwellings.

It is also further considered the fence as proposed would not have a detrimental impact upon 
the neighbouring residential properties as it would not be seen as having an unacceptable 
impact to light afforded to the neighbouring dwellings.

It is considered that the proposed extension would therefore not have an unacceptable 
impact affecting the amenities enjoyed by occupants of existing residential properties in 
accordance with LDP Policy DM13 and the Council’s Residential Design Guide.

Contaminated Land

LDP policy DM10 states that development proposals on contaminated or unstable land will 
be permitted where they do not:
1. Result in any additional problems of ground instability or contamination either on or off 

site and shall remediate the contamination / instability.
2. Unacceptably adversely affect public health and safety, nature conservation, historic or 

archaeological interests.

The Contaminated Land Officer has commented as the proposal involves the conversion of 
agricultural land to a playing field. Agricultural land could contain potential sources of 
contamination depending on what they were used for in the past such as: pesticides, fuels 
and oils, slurry tanks and pits, fire sites, animal burial pits or other buried waste, fertiliser, 
sheep dip pits, asbestos, old machinery, waste chemical drums and ammunition. The 
Contaminated Land Officer has stated that records identify that the application site adjoins 
the location of a historic pollution incident (heating oil spill).

In light of the above the Contaminated Land Officer has requested the inclusion of 
appropriately worded conditions to ensure that in the event that the presence of unsuspected 
contamination is encountered when carrying out the approved development immediate 
contact must be made with the local planning authority and works must cease in that area. 
The condition also states that an investigation and risk assessment must be undertaken and 
where remediation is necessary a remediation scheme must be prepared, which is subject to 
the approval in writing of the local planning authority. Another condition has been suggested 
to ensure the following completion of the remedial works identified in the approved 
remediation scheme, a verification report is to be submitted and agreed by the Local 
Planning Authority. 

In light of the above and subject to the inclusion of the recommended conditions it is 
considered that the proposal is in accordance with planning policy, particularly LDP policy 
DM10.

RECOMMENDATION

It is considered that the proposal complies with planning policy. The recommendation is one 
of conditional consent.

Conditions

Page 97



10

1. The development to which this permission relates shall be begun no later than the 
expiration of five years from the date of this permission.

2. The development shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the plans stamped as 
approved (drawing no’s: Option 4 (Block Plan), 2717/M01/001).

3. In the event that the presence of unsuspected contamination is encountered when 
carrying out the approved development immediate contact must be made with the 
local planning authority and works must cease in that area. An investigation and risk 
assessment must be undertaken and where remediation is necessary a remediation 
scheme must be prepared, which is subject to the approval in writing of the local 
planning authority. Following completion of the remedial works identified in the 
approved remediation scheme, a verification report that demonstrates compliance with 
the agreed remediation objectives and criteria shall be produced, and is subject to the 
written approval of the local planning authority, prior to commencement of use of the 
development.

Reasons

1. Required to be imposed by section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.
2. To ensure adherence to the plans approved by the Local Planning Authority in the 

interests of clarity and a satisfactory development.
3. To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and 

neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, property 
and ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be carried out safely 
without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors in 
accordance with policy DM10 of the adopted Local Development Plan (2018).

Informative Notes

A Building regulations application may be required for this development, please contact 
Building Regulations on 01874 612290.

____________________________________________________
Case Officer: Sara Robinson- Planning Officer
Tel: 01597 827229 E-mail:sara.robinson@powys.gov.uk

Page 98



Document Number 4692932 (1 of 1)

Document Number 4692932 (1 of 1) Page 99



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Planning, Taxi Licensing and Rights of Way Committee Report

Application No: P/2017/1453 Grid Ref: 308555.64, 278616.33

Community 
Council:

Llanbadarn Valid Date:
15/12/2017

Officer:
Bryn Pryce

Applicant: Mr James Powell, E A Powell & Sons, Dolygarn, Llanbadarn Fynydd, 
Llandrindod Wells Powys LD1 6YL

Location: Dolygarn, Llanbadarn Fynydd, Llandrindod Wells Powys LD1 6YL

Proposal: Full: Erection of an agricultural livestock building

Application 
Type: 

Application for Full Planning Permission

The reason for Committee determination

The applicant is married to a County Councillor.

Site Location and Description

This site is accessed via a private farm track off the U1301 unclassified highway. The site is 
located directly adjacent to an existing agricultural building on the main farm complex. The 
existing site is bound by an agricultural building to the east, hardstanding and access track to 
the south and agricultural land to the north and west. 

This application seeks consent for the erection of an agricultural livestock building. The 
proposed building is to measure 60.9 metres in length, 15.2 metres in width, 5.5 metres in 
height to the eaves and 7.5 metres in height to the ridge. The building is to be of standard 
agricultural construction with concrete panel walls with gale breakers above and a roof clad in 
fibre cement sheeting in natural grey.  

Consultee Response

Llanbadarn Fynydd CC

Correspondence received 25th Januray 2018

At the recent meeting of Llanbadarn Fynydd community council the councils were all in 
favour of the above proposal; important to help a local farming business go forward. 

PCC Highways M

Correspondence received 4th January 2018

The County Council as Highway Authority for the County Unclassified Highway, U1301

Page 101

4.6



2

Does not wish to comment on the application.

Wales & West Utilities

Correspondence received 9th January 2018

According to our mains records Wales & West Utilities has no apparatus in the area of your 
enquiry. However Gas pipes owned by other GT's and also privately owned may be present 
in this area. Information with regard to such pipes should be obtained from the owners.

Safe digging practices, in accordance with HS(G)47, must be used to verify and establish the 
actual position of mains, pipes, services and other apparatus on site before any mechanical 
plant is used. It is your responsibility to ensure that this information is provided to all persons 
(either direct labour or contractors) working for you on or near gas apparatus.

Please note that the plans are only valid for 28 days from the date of issue and updated 
plans must be requested before any work commences on site if this period has expired.

Welsh Water

Correspondence received 29th December 2017

We have no comment to make regarding application reference P/2017/1453 as our assets 
will not be affected by the development.

Environmental Health

Correspondence received 10th January 2018

I have had a look at the details for the above application, I have noted there is a property 
(Dolafon) which is very close by which may be affected by noise and odour from the 
proposed development. Could the applicant / agent clarify the status of this property in 
relation to the farm please?

PCC Ecology

Correspondence receioved 7th February 2018

I have reviewed the proposed plans as well as local records of protected and priority species 
and designated sites within 500m of the proposed development. The data search identified 
21 records of protected and priority species within 500m of the proposed development - no 
records were for the site itself.

There are no non-statutory designated sites within 500m of the proposed development.

There are two statutory designated sites within 500m of the proposed development:

 River Ithon – SSSI
 River Wye – SAC

Page 102



3

It appears from reviewing site photographs and OS maps that there is a ‘ditch’ located on the 
proposed development site. It is not clear from the information submitted the level of 
engineering operation that will be required to accommodate the proposed agricultural 
building. I recommend that before and after site level plans is submitted establish the extent 
of work required. 

It is also not clear if the ditch at this location has been culverted – clarification of the exact 
location and routing of the ‘ditch’ will be required, as the identified ‘ditch’ on the proposed 
development site has potential to flow into the tributary of the River Wye SAC (River Ithon) 
which is located approximately 80m south of the proposed development.  

Given the that the proposed development works will be impacting the existing ditch and the 
potential connection to the River Wye SAC it is considered that there is a potential for the 
proposed development to impact the River Wye SAC and that pollution from construction 
activities could result in a Significant Effect, it is therefore considered that to demonstrate that 
the proposed development would not result in a Likely Significant Effect the River Wye SAC 
and/or it’s associated features a Pollution Prevention Plan will need to be identified to ensure 
no negative impact is caused during construction activities and during operation of the site – 
this information is required to be submitted prior to determination of the application and to 
enable a Habitats Regulations Screening to be undertaken. 

Therefore it is considered that further information is required to enable the LPA to assess the 
potential impacts of the proposed development the River Wye SAC – A European 
Designated Site – in accordance with Regulation 61 of the Conservation of Habitats and 
Species Regulations 2010 (as amended). This information is required to be submitted prior to 
any further works of the development. 

It is recommended that the identified Pollution Prevention Plan refers to guidance identified in 
to the Pollution Prevention Guidelines Series in particular PPG 6 - Working at construction 
and demolition sites and GPP 5 – Works and maintenance in or near water; these documents 
can be found at:

http://www.netregs.org.uk/environmental-topics/pollution-prevention-guidelines-ppgs-and-
replacement-series/guidance-for-pollution-prevention-gpps-full-list/

External Lighting: 

Careful consideration will need to be given to any external lighting of the proposed 
development, the habitat surrounding the proposed development does have features suitable 
for mobile wildlife to forage and commute. Measures will need to be identified to minimise 
impacts to nocturnal wildlife commuting and foraging in the local area. A wildlife sensitive 
lighting plan could be secured through a planning condition, however as further information 
has been requested prior of determination of the application submission of these details at 
this stage would avoid the need for a pre-commencement condition requiring this information.

Landscaping:

If it is proposed to provide landscaping as part of the potential development consideration 
should be given to the development of a native landscape planting scheme. It is 
recommended that details of any landscaping proposed are submitted in a detailed 

Page 103

http://www.netregs.org.uk/environmental-topics/pollution-prevention-guidelines-ppgs-and-replacement-series/guidance-for-pollution-prevention-gpps-full-list/
http://www.netregs.org.uk/environmental-topics/pollution-prevention-guidelines-ppgs-and-replacement-series/guidance-for-pollution-prevention-gpps-full-list/


4

Landscape Planting Scheme including proposed species mixes, planting and aftercare 
schedules. 

A Landscaping Plan could be secured through a planning condition, however as further 
information has been requested prior of determination of the application submission of these 
details at this stage would avoid the need for a pre-commencement condition requiring this 
information.

Correspondence received 18th July 2018

Further to my previous response regarding planning application P/2017/1453 dated 7th 
February 2018.  A Pollution Prevention Plan has been submitted to enable the LPA to assess 
the potential impacts of the proposed development to biodiversity, in particular with regards 
to the River Wye SAC. 

The proposed development required diversion of a ditch/stream that runs to a tributary of the 
River Ithon as well as large excavation in order to site the agricultural building. The River 
Ithon is designated as part of the River Wye SAC - as such the potential for the proposed 
development to impact the River Wye SAC during the construction and operation phases of 
the development and likelihood to result in a Likely Significant Effect to the River Wye  SAC 
and/or its associated features has been considered. 

I have reviewed the submitted the pollution prevention plan dated (on planning portal) as 4th 
July 2018 –I consider the pollution prevention plan to be appropriate and acceptable. I do 
recommend that the pollution prevention plan is secured through an appropriately worded 
condition.

It has been clarified by yourself and the applicant via email (dated 12 July 2018) that the 
stream/ditch that is proposed to be diverted is very seldom any water running only in times of 
heavy rainfall. And that the proposed works will be carried out in a dry time to eliminate any 
chance of pollution and reducing any impact of travelling, soil disruption/movement.

Having reviewed the Method Statement and Pollution Prevention Plan submitted it has been 
determined that the proposed development would not result in a likely significant effect to the 
River Wye SAC and/or it’s associated features – I have attached a copy of the Screening 
Assessment for your records.   

Therefore further to my previous response dated 7th February 2018 should you be minded to 
approve the application I recommend inclusion of the following conditions:

The Method Statement and Pollution Prevention Plan for Planning Application P/2017/1453 
dated 04 July 2017 (planning portal) shall be adhered to and implemented in full unless 
otherwise agreed in writing by the LPA.

Reason: To comply with Powys County Council’s LDP Policies DM2  in relation to The 
Natural Environment and to meet the requirements of Planning Policy Wales (Edition 9, 
November 2016), TAN 5: Nature Conservation and Planning and Part 1 Section 6 of the 
Environment (Wales) Act.  

No external lighting shall be installed unless a detailed external lighting design scheme has 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The external 

Page 104



5

lighting scheme shall identify measures to avoid impacts on nocturnal wildlife.  The 
development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details.

Reason: To comply with Powys County Council’s LDP Policies DM2, DM7 in relation to The 
Natural Environment and to meet the requirements of Planning Policy Wales (Edition 9, 
November 2016), TAN 5: Nature Conservation and Planning and Part 1 Section 6 of the 
Environment (Wales) Act.

NRW

Correspondence received 22nd January 2018

Thank you for consulting Natural Resources Wales (NRW) about the above, which was 
received on 28/12/2017. 

We do not object to the proposal. In our opinion, as explained below, the proposal is not likely 
to adversely affect any of the interests listed.

New Housing for Livestock 

Under the Water Resources (Control of Pollution) (Silage, Slurry and Agriculture Fuel Oil) 
(Wales) Regulations 2010 (SSAFO) any slurry produced must be contained. This will include 
any liquid arising from solid manures and any liquid produced if feeding cattle on the hard 
standing as this is classified as slurry under the SSAFO Regulations. 

If any arising slurry is being directed to an existing store the applicant must ensure there is 
sufficient capacity to allow for the required minimum 4 months’ storage. 
The SSAFO Regulations 2010 require all installations to be constructed to set standards with 
a durability life of at least 20 years. Installations for storing and/or making slurry and silage 
must not be constructed within 10 metres of any inland freshwater or coastal water. 

Further information on the requirements of the SSAFO Regulations is contained within Welsh 
Government’s SSAFO Guidance Notes for Farmers. This can be viewed at 
http://wales.gov.uk/topics/environmentcountryside/farmingandcountryside/farmcountrypublica
tionindex/ssafowalesregs2010/?lang=en 

We would advise the applicant that Natural Resources Wales must be notified in writing at 
least 14 days before bringing any new or substantially altered or enlarged silage or slurry 
store into use. It is a legal requirement to submit this information prior to using the new 
structure. A form (WQE3) is available from our website at: 
http://www.naturalresources.wales/farming/good-farming-practice/?lang=en (please scroll to 
the bottom of the page)

Representations

A public site notice was erected at the site on 11th January 2018. No third party 
representations have been received by Development Management at the time of writing this 
report. 

Planning History

Page 105

http://wales.gov.uk/topics/environmentcountryside/farmingandcountryside/farmcountrypublicationindex/ssafowalesregs2010/?lang=en
http://wales.gov.uk/topics/environmentcountryside/farmingandcountryside/farmcountrypublicationindex/ssafowalesregs2010/?lang=en


6

AGRI/2011/0101 – Erection of agricultural building to house livestock. Permitted 
Development

AGRI/2017/0101- Erection of livestock building. Permitted Development

Principal Planning Policies

National Policies

Planning Policy Wales (9th Edition, 2016)
Technical Advice Note (TAN) 5: Nature, Conservation and planning (2009)
Technical Advice Note (TAN) 6: Planning for Sustainable Rural Communities (2010)
Technical Advice Note (TAN) 12: Design (2016)
Technical Advice Note (TAN) 18: Transport (2017)
Technical Advice Note (TAN) 23: Economic Development (2014)

Local Policies

Powys County Council Local Development Plan 2018

SP7 – Safeguarding of Strategic Resources and Assets
DM2 – Natural Environment
DM4 – Landscape
DM7 – Dark Skies and External Lighting
DM13 – Design and Resources
T1 – Travel, Traffic and Transport Infrastructure

RDG=Powys Residential Design Guide NAW=National Assembly for Wales TAN= Technical Advice Note 
LDP=Powys Local Development Plan, MIPPS=Ministerial Interim Planning Policy Statement

Other Legislative Considerations

Crime and Disorder Act 1998 

Equality Act 2010 

Planning (Wales) Act 2015 (Welsh language) 

Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 

Officer Appraisal

Section 38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004

Members are advised to consider this application in accordance with Section 38 (6) of the 
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, which requires that, if regard is to be had to 
the development plan for the purpose of any determination to be made under the Planning 

Page 106



7

Acts, the determination must be made in accordance with the plan unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise.

Principle of Development

Policy DM13 of the Powys Local Development Plan seeks to ensure that development is 
designed to complement and/or enhance the character of the surrounding area in terms of 
siting, appearance, integration, scale, height, massing and design detail. Developments 
should not have an unacceptable detrimental impact upon the amenities enjoyed by the 
occupants or users of nearby properties by means of noise, dust, air pollution, litter, odour, 
hours of operation, overlooking or any other planning matter. 

The proposed agricultural building is to measure 60.9 metres in length, 15.2 metres in width, 
5.5 metres in height to the eaves and 7.5 metres in height to the ridge. The building is to be 
of standard agricultural construction with concrete panel walls with gale breakers above and 
a roof clad in fibre cement sheeting in natural grey.  The proposed building is to be sited 
directly adjacent to an existing agricultural building and is considered to be an acceptable 
location for the development. The proposed building is considered to be of an acceptable 
design, scale, height, massing and materials that are considered to complement and 
enhance the character and appearance of the surrounding buildings and of the local area. 

As part of this application process Environmental Health Officers have been consulted who 
initially raised concerns over the proximity of the proposed livestock building to the dwelling 
known as ‘Dolafon’ to the north east of the site. The applicant has confirmed that this dwelling 
is within the ownership of the rural enterprise and is restricted as an agricultural workers 
dwelling. Officers do not have concerns over potential impacts upon third party neighbouring 
properties as a result of the proposal.  

In light of the above observations and notwithstanding the scale of the proposed 
development, it is considered that the proposed agricultural building is in accordance with 
planning policy. Officers consider that the proposed agricultural building is in accordance with 
policies SP7, DM2, DM4, DM7 and DM13 of the Powys Local Development Plan.

Highways Safety and Movement

Policy T1 of the Powys Local Development Plan 2018 states that development proposals 
should incorporate safe and efficient means of access to and from the site for all transport 
users, manage any impact upon the network and mitigate adverse impacts.

As part of this application process the highways authority have been consulted and they did 
not wish to comment on the application. Officers consider that the proposed development will 
not result in a significant increase in the volume of traffic entering and leaving the site and the 
proposed development would not have an unacceptable impact upon highways safety 
 
In light of the highways officer’s comments, officers consider that the proposed development 
is in accordance with planning policy, particularly policy T1 of the LDP, Technical Advice 
Note 18 and Planning Policy Wales.

Landscape Impact

Page 107



8

Guidance within policy DM4 of the Powys Local Development Plan, indicate that 
development proposals will only be permitted where they would not have an unacceptable 
impact on the environment and would be sited and designed to be sympathetic to the 
character and appearance of its surroundings. Policy DM4 requires a Landscape and Visual 
Impact Assessment to be undertaken where impacts are likely on the landscape and 
proposals should have regard to LANDMAP, Registered Historic Parks and Gardens, 
protected landscapes and the visual amenities enjoyed by users of the Powys landscape and 
adjoining areas. 

The proposed site is located within the valley slopes, west Ithon aspect area which is 
characterised as a single area that is an important component of attractive views from busy 
A483 in valley. Moderately sloping valley sides & shoulders forming a transition zone 
between upland moor & hills and valley floor, with a mixture of semi-natural rough grassland, 
wetland, improved & traditional pastures, scattered scrub, woodland & trees, and some 
craggy parts. LANDMAP recognises its scenic quality as High with its rarity being moderate. 
Its overall visual and sensory evaluation is considered to be moderate.

The proposed building is sited directly adjacent to existing farm buildings on the main farm 
complex and will be well screened from the wider landscape by the existing buildings and 
topography of the land to the west. The proposed building is designed so as to complement 
and enhance the character and appearance of the existing buildings and of the surrounding 
area whilst not having an unacceptable adverse impact upon the wider landscape. Officers 
consider that the proposed siting and scale of the agricultural building will not have an 
unacceptable adverse impact upon the wider landscape. 

In light of the above observations and notwithstanding the scale of the proposed 
development, it is considered that the proposed development is in accordance with planning 
policy. Officers consider that the agricultural building is in accordance with policies SP7, 
DM2, DM4, DM7 and DM13 of the Powys Local Development Plan.

Lighting

Policy DM7 of the Powys Local Development Plan seeks to ensure that development 
proposals that include lighting as part of the scheme do not have an unacceptable level of 
light pollution in the countryside, adverse effect upon the visibility of the night sky, nuisance 
or hazard to highway users or an unacceptable disturbance to protected species.

As part of this application process the ecologist has been consulted and has suggested that a 
lighting condition to secure a lighting scheme for any external lighting to be installed be 
secured via condition. Officers consider that the suggested condition is reasonable and will 
be included on any grant of consent. 

In light of the above, it is considered that it is appropriate to include the suggested condition 
upon any grant of consent to secure further details of any lighting to be installed. Officers are 
satisfied that the proposed development complies with policy DM7 of the Powys Local 
Development Plan.  

Ecology and Biodiversity

Page 108



9

Policy DM2 of the Powys Local Development Plan seeks to maintain biodiversity and 
safeguard protected important sites. Policy DM2 states that proposed development should 
not unacceptably adversely affect any designated site, habitat of species including locally 
important site designations. 

As part of this application process the county ecologist was consulted. Initially further details 
were sought in respect of a pollution prevention plan and also details of how the existing 
culvert and ditch were to be diverted as part of this proposal. The additional information has 
been supplied and the ecologist has raised no objections to the proposed development 
subject to conditions securing the implementation of the pollution prevention plan and a 
lighting condition to secure details of any proposed external lighting. NRW have been 
consulted on the proposal and have raised no objections to the scheme.

Due to the proximity of the proposed development to the River Wye SAC a habitats 
regulations assessment has been carried out for the proposal by our ecologist. The 
assessment concludes that there is not likely to be any significant effects on the SAC as a 
result of the proposed development. 

In light of the above and subject to the imposition of conditions suggested by the County 
Ecologist, it is considered that the proposed development is in accordance with policy DM2 of 
the Powys Local Development Plan, Technical Advice Note 5 and Planning Policy Wales. 

RECOMMENDATION

The recommendation is one of conditional consent subject to the conditions as set out below. 

Conditions:

1. The development to which this permission relates shall be begun no later than the 
expiration of five years from the date of this permission.

2. The development shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the plans stamped 
as received on 11th December 2017 (drawing no's: JP/02, EAP/03) plans received 
20th March 2018 (drawing no's: JP/04, JP/05) and amended plans received 8th May 
2018 (drawing no's: EAP/01).

3. The Method Statement and Pollution Prevention Plan for Planning Application 
P/2017/1453 dated 04 July 2017 (planning portal) shall be adhered to and 
implemented in full.

4. No external lighting shall be installed unless a detailed external lighting design 
scheme has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The external lighting scheme shall identify measures to avoid impacts on 
nocturnal wildlife.  The development shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved details.

Reasons

1. Required to be imposed by Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

Page 109



10

2. To ensure adherence to the plans stamped as approved in the interests of clarity and 
a satisfactory development.

3. To comply with Powys County Council's LDP Policies DM2  in relation to The Natural 
Environment and to meet the requirements of Planning Policy Wales (Edition 9, 
November 2016), TAN 5: Nature Conservation and Planning and Part 1 Section 6 of 
the Environment (Wales) Act.

4. To comply with Powys County Council's LDP Policies DM2, DM7 in relation to The 
Natural Environment and to meet the requirements of Planning Policy Wales (Edition 
9, November 2016), TAN 5: Nature Conservation and Planning and Part 1 Section 6 
of the Environment (Wales) Act.

____________________________________________________
Case Officer: Bryn Pryce- Planning Officer
Tel: 01597 82 7126 E-mail:bryn.pryce@powys.gov.uk  

Page 110



P
age 111



T
his page is intentionally left blank



1

Planning, Taxi Licensing and Rights of Way Committee Report

Application No: P/2017/1274 Grid Ref: 310254.79 291198.41

Community 
Council:

Newtown Valid Date:
01/12/2017

Officer:
Dunya Fourie

Applicant: Mr Lee Davies, Going Green For A Living Community Trust Ltd, The 
Cross,  Broad Street,  Newtown, Powys, SY16 2BB.

Location:  Sites A, B & C Nr. Riverside & Nr. Latham Park, Newtown, Powys. 

Proposal: Full: Proposed Green Infrastructure Project to include  Site A - Change 
of use of land to form a play park / amenity area and erection of play 
equipment; Site B - Construction of a BMX pump track; Site C - Erection 
of hub building & formation of storage compound, formation of car park, 
new entrance and all associated works

Application 
Type: 

Application for Full Planning Permission

The reason for Committee determination

The three sites are on land owned by Powys County Council

Site Location and Description

This application concerns 3 sites in Newtown, the sites include a parcel of land on Trehafren 
Hill to the east of the football grounds (marked A on the site plan), another area is on the 
banks of the River Severn to the south of the football ground and car park (marked B on the 
site plan) and the third area is again on the banks of the Severn adjacent to Severn public 
carpark and the existing formal play area (marked C on the site plan).

This application seeks consent for works in connection with a community green infrastructure 
project; Going Green.  There are a number of pending applications for different types of 
recreational facilities within Newtown.  This application seeks consent for the following 
development:

Erection of a hub building, storage and parking facility (site A), construction includes 
insulated cladding and roof panels with powder coated windows and doors.  The dimensions 
of the building would extend to 29.7m in length x 14m in width and 8.4m in height.   The 
building accommodation would be set over two floors and set into the existing topography.  
Hard standing is to be provided for up to 50 cars.  Access to the site is via Trefafren road.
Bike pump track (B); Landscaping an area of ground to provide a bicycle pump track.  The 
track would be created by changing the landscape profile round the track to make berms, 
rollers, table tops and double bumps.  The maximum height of a roller would be 5m.
Riverside play area (C); redevelopment of the existing play area, including erection of new 
fencing, new benches, landscaping to accommodate riverside terraces, new benches and 
installation of new play equipment.  Play equipment includes climber pyramid with integrated 
steel slide (7.4m in height), inclusive roundabout, nest swing (1.7m in height), timber jungle 

Page 113

4.7



2

bridge (3.2m x 1.2m), timber walk and stretch, timber stepping posts, balance beams, 
balance weave, log stack climber, robina pole castle.

Consultee Response

Newtown Town Council

Letter of the 9th January 2018

The town council supports this application

Highways Authority

Letter of the 10th April 2018

The County Council as Highway Authority for the County Unclassified Highway, U4231

Wish the following recommendations/Observations be applied
Recommendations/Observations

Prior to any other works commencing on the development site, detailed engineering drawings 
for a footway along the U4231 and associated works, and cross sections through the highway 
verge/bank along the easterly visibility splay shall be submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority.  

Prior to any works commencing on the development site, all Highway Improvements, referred 
to above, shall be fully completed to the written satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority and 
shall be retained for their designated use for as long as the development hereby permitted 
remains in existence.

HC1 Prior to the first beneficial use of the development any entrance gates shall be 
set back at least 15 metres distant from the edge of the adjoining carriageway and shall be 
constructed so as to be incapable of opening towards the highway and shall be retained in this 
position and form of construction for as long as the dwelling/development hereby permitted 
remains in existence.

HC2 The gradient of the access shall be constructed so as not to exceed 1 in 15 for 
the first 15 metres measured from edge of the adjoining carriageway along the centre line of 
the access and shall be retained at this gradient for as long as the development remains in 
existence.

HC3 The centre line of the first 15 metres of the access road measured from the 
edge of the adjoining carriageway shall be constructed at right angles to that edge of the said 
carriageway and be retained at that angle for as long as the development remains in 
existence.

HC4 Prior to the commencement of the development the access shall be constructed 
so that there is clear visibility from a point 1.05 metres above ground level at the centre of the 
access and 2.4 metres distant from the edge of the adjoining carriageway, to points 0.6 metres 
above ground level at the edge of the adjoining carriageway and 43 metres distant in each 

Page 114



3

direction measured from the centre of the access along the edge of the adjoining carriageway.  
Nothing shall be planted, erected or allowed to grow on the area(s) of land so formed that 
would obstruct the visibility and the visibility shall be maintained free from obstruction for as 
long as the development hereby permitted remains in existence.

HC7 Prior to the commencement of the development the area of the access to be 
used by vehicles is to be constructed to a minimum of 410mm depth, comprising a minimum of 
250mm of sub-base material, 100mm of bituminous macadam base course material and 
60mm of bituminous macadam binder course material for a distance of 15 metres from the 
edge of the adjoining carriageway.  Any use of alternative materials is to be agreed in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority prior to the access being constructed.

HC8 Prior to the first beneficial use of the development, provision shall be made 
within the curtilage of the site for the parking of not less than 50 cars and one heavy goods 
vehicle together with a turning space such that all vehicles serving the site may both enter and 
leave the site in a forward gear. The parking and turning areas shall be retained for their 
designated use for as long as the development hereby permitted remains in existence.

HC11 Prior to the commencement of the development provision shall be made within 
the curtilage of the site for the parking of all construction vehicles together with a vehicle 
turning area.  This parking and turning area shall be constructed to a depth of 0.4 metres in 
crusher run or sub-base and maintained free from obstruction at all times such that all vehicles 
serving the site shall park within the site and both enter and leave the site in a forward gear for 
the duration of the construction of the development.

HC12 The width of the access carriageway, constructed as Condition 7 above, shall 
be not less than 5.5 metres for a minimum distance of 15 metres along the access measured 
from the adjoining edge of carriageway of the county highway and shall be maintained at this 
width for as long as the development remains in existence.

HC13 Prior to the first beneficial use of the development a radius of 10.5 metres shall 
be provided from the carriageway of the county highway on each side of the access to the 
development site and shall be maintained for as long as the development remains in 
existence.

HC21 Prior to the first beneficial use of the development the area of the access to be 
used by vehicles is to be finished in a 40mm bituminous surface course for a distance of 15 
metres from the edge of the adjoining carriageway. This area will be maintained to this 
standard for as long as the development remains in existence,

HC30 Upon formation of the visibility splays as detailed in HC4 above the centreline of 
any new or relocated hedge should be positioned not less than 1.0 metre to the rear of the 
visibility splay and retained in this position as long as the development remains in existence.

HC32 No surface water drainage from the site shall be allowed to discharge onto the 
county highway.

Letter of the 11th January 2018

The County Council as Highway Authority for the County Unclassified Highway, U4231

Page 115



4

Wish the following recommendations/Observations be applied

Recommendations/Observations

This application should be deferred.

Reasons for Deferral

A full application such as this should include full highway access details.

The visibility splay for the car park access is drawn incorrectly and does not include pertinent 
detail such as gradient[s], width, and means of draining the access.  

No blue line plan has been submitted, therefore, we are unsure if the proposed visibility splay 
is within land in the control of the applicant. 

Drawing number SO61.1.1.11 Rev A shows that the embankment to the west of the proposed 
access is to be “cut back”, yet no cross sections of the proposed cut have been submitted for 
consideration.  The same drawing shows that an access track for the Severn Trent, yet no 
other detail is included.  

The proposed radius of “5 metre” is considered to be too tight due to the vehicles sizes which 
are to use the proposed access.  Furthermore the access road in its proposed location will 
undermine the root system of the existing tree.

There is no footway link to the site currently, as such, the applicant should submit a revised 
plan showing a footway link to tie into the existing footway/footpath in each direction.

The applicant has failed to submit any detail is relation to the proposed movements from the 
car park and Hub Building, nor a breakdown of the vehicle sizes.

Should the applicant submit revised reflecting the above comments, we shall comment further.

To ensure that adequate provision is made for highway access onto the County Unclassified 
road to serve the approved development in accordance with policies GP1 and GP4 of the 
Powys Unitary Development Plan.

Wales & West Utilities

E mail of the 19th December 2018

Our records show those pipes owned by Wales & West Utilities (WWU) in its role as a 
Licensed Gas Transporter (GT). Service pipes, valves, syphons, stub connections, etc. may 
not be shown but their presence should be anticipated. No warranties are therefore given in 
respect of it.

They also provide indications of gas pipes owned by other GTs, or otherwise privately 
owned, which may be present in this area. This information is not information of WWU and 
WWU is unable to verify this information or to confirm whether it is accurate or complete. 

Page 116



5

Severn Trent Water

E mail of the 22nd December 2018

With Reference to the above planning application the company’s observations regarding 
sewerage are as follows.

I can confirm that we have no objections to the proposals subject to the inclusion of the 
following condition:

·         The development hereby permitted should not commence until drainage plans for the 
disposal of foul and surface water flows have been submitted to and approved by the Local 
Planning Authority, and
·         The scheme shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details before the 
development is first brought into use. This is to ensure that the development is provided with 
a satisfactory means of drainage as well as to reduce or exacerbate a flooding problem and 
to minimise the risk of pollution

Clean Water Comments

We have apparatus in the area of the planned development, the developer will need to 
contact Severn Trent Water, New Connections team as detailed below to assess their 
proposed plans for diversion requirements.

To request a water map please follow the link, https://www.stwater.co.uk/building-and-
developing/estimators-and-maps/request-a-water-sewer-map/ select “Water and / or Sewer 
map request form” fill out the relevant details and fee payment and return to: 

Environmental Health

E mail of the 5th January 2018

Environmental Protection has no objection to the application.

Contaminated Land Officer

E mail of the 14th January 2018

In relation to Planning Application P/2017/1274, there would be no requirements in relation to 
land contamination.

Powys Ecologist

E mail of the 5th January 2018

Thank you for consulting me with regards to planning application P/2017/1274 a full planning 
application for proposed Green Infrastructure Project to include Site A - Change of use of 
land to form a play park / amenity area and erection of play equipment; Site B - Construction 
of a BMX pump track; Site C - Erection of hub building & formation of storage compound, 

Page 117

https://www.stwater.co.uk/building-and-developing/estimators-and-maps/request-a-water-sewer-map/
https://www.stwater.co.uk/building-and-developing/estimators-and-maps/request-a-water-sewer-map/


6

formation of car park, new entrance and all associated works at sites A, B & C  Nr. Riverside 
& Nr. Latham Park, Newtown.

I have reviewed the proposed location plans, aerial images as well as local records of 
protected and priority species and designated sites within 1km of the proposed development. 
The data search identified 879 records of protected and priority species within 1km of the 
proposed development including records of bats, reptiles and otter - no records were for the 
site itself.

There are no statutory or non-statutory designated sites within 1km of the proposed 
development.

Site A – Regarding the Felling of an existing Oak Tree

Bat species have been recorded in close proximity to the proposed development site. Bats 
may be potentially utilising the area to roost or for foraging and commuting purposes.  

Bat tree-roosts are extremely difficult to identify, and it should be assumed that any mature 
native-species tree is an actual roost.

Bats utilise tree features such as trunk hollows, knot holes, splits/cracks and also roosting 
behind dense ivy. Its appears that a number of the sycamore trees within the proposed 
development site are covered in ivy.  

All British bat species are European Protected Species by virtue of their listing under Annex 
IV of EC Directive 92/43/EEC (‘The Habitats Directive’). This Directive has been transposed 
into British Law under the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010.

Regulation 9(5) of the 2010 Regulations requires all local planning authorities, in the exercise 
of all their functions, to have regard to the provisions of the Habitats Directive so far as they 
might be affected by those functions. 

Under Regulation 41 of the 2010 Regulations it is an offence to: 
(1) deliberately capture, injure or kill any wild animal of a European protected  species; 
(2) deliberately disturb animals of any such species. Disturbance of animals includes in 
particular any disturbance which is likely—

(a) to impair their ability— 
(i) to survive, to breed or reproduce, or to rear or nurture their young; or 
(ii) in the case of animals of a hibernating or migratory species, to hibernate or migrate; or 
(b) to affect significantly the local distribution or abundance of the species to which they 
belong

(3) deliberately take or destroy the eggs of such an animal; or 
(4) damage or destroy a breeding site or resting place of such an animal (including sites that 
are currently unoccupied).

Furthermore that all British bats are protected under Schedule 5 of the Wildlife and 
Countryside Act (1981) (as amended). This legislation makes it an offence to intentionally to 
kill, injure, take from the wild, possess or trade in any species of British Bat, as well as 

Page 118



7

intentionally or recklessly  damage, destroy or obstruct access to any structure or place 
which bats use for shelter or protection. It is also an offence to disturb a bat/ bats whilst they 
are using such a place. 

There are no available photographs or images of the site or the existing oak tree.

Therefore, further information to enable assessment of the tree for its bat roost potential and 
the potential for any impacts is required, this could take the form of:
 A preliminary bat assessment by a suitably qualified and experienced 
ecologist
OR
 Up to date pictures of the existing tree to demonstrate if it has potential to 
support roosting bats

I have attached a guidance document which provides information regarding roosting bats and 
features which are used for roosting purposes to help the applicant determine whether or not 
a bat assessment may be necessary.

If a preliminary bat roost assessment is undertaken and identifies potential bat roosting 
opportunities and/or actual bat roosts that will be affected by the proposals then further bat 
survey work will be required.

Bat activity surveys will need to be undertaken in accordance with Powys County Council’s 
planning application guidance note (Powys Bat Survey Guidance 2009) and the Bat 
Conservation Trust’s Bat Surveys for Professional Ecologists – Good Practice Guidelines 3rd 
Edition, 2016. Therefore, the survey should be undertaken by suitably licensed and qualified 
ecologists and comprise a thorough internal and external inspection and three activity 
surveys; two dusk surveys and a dawn survey during the recognised activity season May – 
September, the surveys should be spread throughout the activity season (as far as 
reasonably possible to do so) to allow a broad picture of any bat roost use of the site to be 
developed. Where deviations from the standard guidelines are considered to be necessary, 
full justifications for the methods used will be required.

Ecological reports submitted to support a planning application should include the required 
information identified in Appendix A of Powys UDP, Interim Development Control Guidance - 
Biodiversity (April 2009). 

If bats are found to be using the building for roosting purposes and there is potential for the 
roost to be destroyed or disturbed i.e. an offence is likely to be committed a European 
protected species licence would be required to allow the works to proceed, as part of the 
planning process the Local Planning Authority must establish whether the three tests as 
defined by the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 (as amended) have 
been met prior to determining the application. If the Wildlife Licensing Unit at Natural 
Resources Wales (NRW) is also happy that these Tests have been satisfied, then an EPS 
development licence can be granted.
The three tests that must be satisfied are:
1. That the development is “in the interests of public health and public safety, or 
for other imperative reasons of overriding public interest, including those of a social or 
economic nature and beneficial consequences of primary importance for the environment”.
2. That there is “no satisfactory alternative”

Page 119



8

3. That the derogation is “not detrimental to the maintenance of the populations 
of the species concerned at a favourable conservation status in their natural range”

In order to address the 3rd test appropriate mitigation would need to be identified. The 
proposed mitigation will need to be located in a suitable location and appropriate to the 
species identified. Mitigation details need to be clearly illustrated on the architectural plans 
and must provide sufficient detail to enable them to be subject to a planning condition/s106 
agreement.

Details of ecological consultants working in Powys can be found at 
http://www.cieem.net/members-directory (please note this is not a Powys County Council 
approved list of ecological consultants but lists ecological consultants who are members of 
the Chartered Institute of Ecology and Environmental Management). I have also attached 
some guidance notes regarding commissioning ecological consultants to undertake survey 
work.

Pollution Prevention Plan

I note from reviewing aerial images of the proposed development sites the river Severn is in 
close proximately to the North of all the sites. Given the proximity of proposed development 
to the watercourse present and the nature of the proposed works it is considered that a 
pollution prevention plan will need to be identified to ensure no negative impact is caused 
during construction activities and during operation of the site. I therefore recommend that a 
Pollution Prevention Plan is secured through a planning condition. However as further 
information has been requested the provisions of details submitted at this stage would avoid 
the need for a pre-commencement condition requiring this information.

It is recommended that reference is made to Pollution Prevention Guidelines Series in 
particular PPG 6 - Working at construction and demolition sites and GPP 5 – Works and 
maintenance in or near water; these documents can be found at:

http://www.netregs.org.uk/environmental-topics/pollution-prevention-guidelines-ppgs-and-
replacement-series/guidance-for-pollution-prevention-gpps-full-list/

Tree and Hedgerow Replacement

From the submitted information it is unclear if trees or hedgerow will be impacted by the 
proposed development (except for the felling of one oak tree on site A). The UDP policies 
ENV2 and ENV6 identify the need to protect or provide compensation for impacts to 
hedgerows and trees. UDP Policy ENV2 states that: 

‘Proposals which are acceptable in principal should:

3.       Seek to conserve native woodlands, trees and hedgerows’

UDP Policy ENV6: Sites of Regional and Local Importance, makes reference to Powys LBAP 
habitats and species which include hedgerows under the Linear Habitats Action Plan – 
‘Linear habitats are important to a wide variety of species as refuges, breeding and feeding 
sites and as links between habitats of high biodiversity value’. Hedgerows are also listed as a 
"habitat of principal importance for the purposes of conserving biodiversity" as identified in on 

Page 120

http://www.cieem.net/members-directory
http://www.netregs.org.uk/environmental-topics/pollution-prevention-guidelines-ppgs-and-replacement-series/guidance-for-pollution-prevention-gpps-full-list/
http://www.netregs.org.uk/environmental-topics/pollution-prevention-guidelines-ppgs-and-replacement-series/guidance-for-pollution-prevention-gpps-full-list/


9

Section 7 of the Environment (Wales) Act 2016, and are beneficial to a wide range of 
biodiversity including bats, nesting birds, small mammals, lichens and fungi. 

Where impacts to hedgerows are identified an appropriate compensation strategy will be 
required, where possible translocation of the existing hedgerow should be considered, if this 
is not considered possible at this location replacement hedgerow planting would need to be 
identified.

Where it is necessary to remove any trees or hedgerows a Tree and Hedgerow 
Replacement. This plan will need to identify appropriate compensation planting for the loss of 
any trees or hedgerow – details of the location, length and species as well as an appropriate 
aftercare scheme will need to be identified – species used will need to be native and reflect 
the hedgerows present in the local area. A tree and hedgerow replacement plan could be 
secured through a planning condition, however the provisions of details submitted with a 
planning application would avoid the need for a pre-commencement condition requiring this 
information.

Tree Protection Plan

Given the proximity of development and works to the surrounding trees on the proposed 
development sites, it is considered prudent to require information from the applicant as to 
how these features biodiversity importance for wildlife will be protected during the 
construction period of works. A tree protection plan could be secured through a planning 
condition, however the provisions of details submitted with a planning application would avoid 
the need for a pre-commencement condition requiring this information.

Tree Protection Plan in accordance with BS:5837:2012

Landscaping Planting Scheme

If it is proposed to provide landscaping as part of the potential development consideration 
should be given to the development of a native landscape planting scheme. It is 
recommended that details of any landscaping proposed are submitted in a detailed 
Landscape Planting Scheme including proposed species mixes, planting and aftercare 
schedules. A Landscaping Plan could be secured through a planning condition, however as 
further information has been requested the provisions of details submitted at this stage would 
avoid the need for a pre-commencement condition requiring this information. 

Lighting

Careful consideration will need to be given to any external lighting of the proposed 
development, measures will need to be identified to minimise impacts to nocturnal wildlife 
commuting and foraging in the local area or woodland. This information could be secured 
through a planning condition, however the submission of a Wildlife Sensitive Lighting Plan 
with a planning application would avoid the need for a pre-commencement condition 
requiring this information.

Biodiversity Enhancements 

As further information has been requested it is therefore recommend that consideration is 
given to opportunities to incorporate biodiversity enhancements to ensure net biodiversity 
benefits through the proposed development - In accordance with Part 1 Section 6 of the 

Page 121



10

Environment (Wales) Act 2016 Local Authorities are required to Maintain and Enhance 
biodiversity through all of its functions – this includes the planning process.

These measure could include:

•Provision of bird and bat boxes including the details of the number, type and location of 
these boxes; 

•A wildlife buffer strip and a scheme of appropriate management of these areas, hedgerows 
should be retained within buffer strips and should be unlit or lighting to be directed away from 
the hedgerows to create dark movement corridors for nocturnal wildlife through the site; 

•Provision of wildlife friendly landscape planting.

Should biodiversity enhancement measures be proposed as part of the development details 
of these features  identified will need to be specific and detailed on submitted plans (i.e. 
details regarding locations, dimensions and numbers will need to be provided) and 
achievable. 

Natural Resources Wales

Letter of the 15th January 2018

We recommend that you should only grant planning permission if the scheme can meet the 
following requirements and you attach the conditions listed below. These would address 
significant concerns that we have identified. Therefore, we would not object provided the 
requirements are met and you attach the conditions to the planning permission. 

We also include informative comments (end of letter) made by our Recreation Access and 
Partnership officer, as this project has developed in consultation with NRW over time. These 
comments are purely informative and do not form part of the official response, they just aim 
to provide background information on this project and a justification for any of the concerns 
raised. 

Summary of Requirements and Conditions 

Requirement 1 – Flood risk: The submission of additional construction details for the 
proposed amphitheatre and canoe access point to establish the acceptability of the proposal 
and Flood Risk Activity Permits requirements. 

Condition 2 – biosecurity: the submission and implementation of a Biosecurity Risk 
Assessment to the satisfaction of the LPA 

Condition 3 – PPP: The submission and implementation of a Waste Management Plan and a 
Pollution Prevention Plan for all operations likely to have an impact on the water quality of the 
river Severn. 

Flood Risk 

The application sites B and C lies within Zone C2 as defined by the Development Advice Map 
(DAM) referred to under Technical Advice Note 15: Development and Flood Risk (TAN15) 
(July 2004). Our Flood Map information, which is updated on a quarterly basis, confirms the 

Page 122



11

site to be within the 1% (1 in 100 year) and 0.1% (1 in 1000 year) annual probability fluvial 
flood outlines of the River Severn. 

We have no concerns with the proposed car park and Hub building at site A as this falls 
outside the floodplain. 

The BMX track at site B is close to the river bank. From a flood risk perspective, as the track 
will include engineered raised sections of ground, to avoid impact on or by out of bank flood 
flows, the preference is for the facility to be sited further from the top of bank, which would 
also ensure a suitable watercourse green corridor is maintained. This approach would be in 
line with pre-application conversation NRW had with the applicant. 

As the proposal is in the recognised floodplain, material should be sourced from within the 
floodplain, where possible, to ensure there is no detriment to floodplain storage. Any net loss 
of floodplain storage should be kept to a minimum. 

We note that some of the proposed work for the Play Park, site C, involves the construction 
of an amphitheatre very close of the river bank and a canoe access / egress point. There are 
no detailed plans for these two aspects of the proposal and therefore the information 
available to date is considered inadequate. 

Further detail on the precise location, sectional design, construction techniques and a 
justification for requirement is needed at this stage in order to agree the detailed principle. If 
this is cannot be provided at this stage then detailed, chargeable Flood Risk Activity Permits 
will be required. 

Requirement 1 – Flood risk: The submission of additional construction details for the 
proposed amphitheatre and canoe access point to establish the acceptability of the proposal 
and Flood Risk Activity Permits requirements. 

Biosecurity 

We consider biosecurity to be a material consideration owing to the nature and location of the 
proposal. In this case, biosecurity issues concern invasive non native species (INNS) and 
diseases. We therefore advise that any consent includes the imposition of a condition 
requiring the submission and implementation of a Biosecurity Risk Assessment to the 
satisfaction of the LPA. 

We consider that this assessment must include 
(i) appropriate measures to control any INNS on site, if present; and 
(ii) measures or actions that aim to prevent INNS being introduced to /allowed to disperse 
from the site for the duration of construction and operational phases of the scheme. 

Condition 2 – biosecurity: the submission and implementation of a Biosecurity Risk 
Assessment to the satisfaction of the LPA 

Protected Species 

Page 123



12

NRW has not considered European Protected Species (EPS) because the application does 
not appear to include an EPS report. Please consult NRW again if an EPS report identifies 
the presence of EPS. 

We have records of bat, otter and water vole using the river corridor in this area and we note 
the proposed works will involve changes to the river bank and its vegetation as well as 
conversion of a building to cafe. Should you decide an ecological appraisal is not required, 
we advise that a Reasonable Avoidance Measures scheme (RAMS) for the species listed 
above should be secured via appropriate conditions. 

Pollution Prevention 

Due to the proximity of some of the proposed works to the river, NRW is concerned that the 
proposal has the potential to lead to suspended solids entering the River Severn. 

A Pollution Prevention Plan will be required together with a Waste Management Plan to 
demonstrate there will be no impact on water quality. 

All works proposed along the river bank must be carried out in accordance with GPP5 ‘Works 
in, near or over watercourses’ which is available at: 
http://www.netregs.org.uk/environmental-topics/pollution-prevention-guidelines-ppgs-and-
replacement-series/guidance-for-pollution-prevention-gpps-full-list/
 
No material should be deposited within 10m of the river without discussion with Natural 
Resources Wales. 

Any waste material stored, used or disposed of must be done so in accordance with the Duty 
of Care Regulations and may require a permit or exemption under the Environmental 
Permitting Regulations 2010. 

Scope of NRW Comments
 
Our comments above only relate specifically to matters that are included on our checklist 
“Natural Resources Wales and Planning Consultations” (March 2015) which is published on 
our website: (https://naturalresources.wales/media/5271/150302-natural-resources-wales-
and-planning-consultations-final-eng.pdf). We have not considered potential effects on other 
matters and do not rule out the potential for the proposed development to affect other 
www.naturalresourceswales.gov.uk www.cyfoethnaturiolcymru.gov.uk interests, including 
environmental interests of local importance. The applicant should be advised that, in addition 
to planning permission, it is their responsibility to ensure that they secure all other 
permits/consents relevant to their development. 

Welsh Government Transport

Letter of the 20th December 2018

I refer to your consultation of 13/12/2017 regarding the above planning application and 
advise that the Welsh Government as highway authority for the A489 trunk road does not 
issue a direction in respect of this application.

Page 124

http://www.netregs.org.uk/environmental-topics/pollution-prevention-guidelines-ppgs-and-replacement-series/guidance-for-pollution-prevention-gpps-full-list/
http://www.netregs.org.uk/environmental-topics/pollution-prevention-guidelines-ppgs-and-replacement-series/guidance-for-pollution-prevention-gpps-full-list/
http://www.cyfoethnaturiolcymru.gov.uk/


13

Sports Council for Wales

E mail of 5th January 2018

Thank you for your email providing notification of the above application.  Sport Wales is the 
statutory consultee on planning applications affecting playing fields and it is noted that the 
proposed construction of the BMW pump track at site B encroaches onto a playing field 
including what appears to be a football pitch.

Sport Wales applauds the efforts of the ‘Going Green for a Living’ project to enhance the 
green spaces of Newtown and while Sport Wales does not object to the proposed BMX pump 
track as it will still be an outdoor recreation facility that will no doubt prove attractive to many 
encouraging physical activity, Sport Wales would be grateful to know what consideration has 
been given to the impact it will have on other activities most obviously football?  It is noted 
there are several other pitches running along the river corridor and elsewhere in the town, are 
these sufficient to cater for demand? 

CADW 

Letter of 21st December 2018
Advice
Having carefully considered the information provided with this planning application, we have 
no objections to the impact of the proposed development on the scheduled monument 
MG160 Newtown Hall Castle Mound. Our assessment of the application is given below.

Our role

Our statutory role in the planning process is to provide the local planning authority with an 
assessment concerned with the likely impact that the proposal will have on scheduled 
monuments, registered historic parks and gardens, registered historic landscapes where an 
Environmental Impact Assessment is required and development likely to have an impact on 
the outstanding universal value of a World Heritage Site.

We do not provide an assessment of the likely impact of the development on listed buildings 
or conservation areas, as these are matters for the local authority. It is for the local planning 
authority to weigh our assessment against all the other material considerations in determining 
whether to approve planning permission.

National Policy

Applications for planning permission are considered in light of the Welsh Government’s land 
use planning policy and guidance contained in Planning Policy Wales (PPW), Technical 
Advice Notes and circular guidance.

PPW (Chapter 6 – The Historic Environment) explains that the conservation of archaeological 
remains is a material consideration in determining a planning application, whether those 
remains are a scheduled monument or not. Where nationally important archaeological 
remains, whether scheduled or not, and their settings are likely to be affected by proposed 
development, there should be a presumption in favour of their physical protection in situ. It 
will only be in exceptional circumstances that planning permission will be granted if 

Page 125



14

development would result in an adverse impact on a scheduled monument (or an 
archaeological site shown to be of national importance) or has a significantly damaging effect 
upon its setting. Technical Advice Note 24 : The Historic Environment elaborates by 
explaining that when considering development proposals that affect scheduled monuments or 
other nationally important archaeological remains, there should be a presumption in favour of 
their physical preservation in situ, i.e. a presumption against proposals which would involve 
significant alteration or cause damage, or would have a significant adverse impact causing 
harm within the setting of the remains.

PPW also explains that local authorities should protect parks and gardens and their settings 
included in the first part of the Register of Landscapes, Parks and Gardens of Special 
Historic Interest in Wales, and that the effect of a proposed development on a registered park 
or garden or its setting should be a material consideration in the determination of a planning 
application.

Assessment

The three proposed projects are located inside 500m of scheduled monument MG160 
Newtown Hall Castle Mound but intervening buildings and vegetation will block or heavily 
screen all views between them and the scheduled monument. Consequently the proposed 
development will cause no damage to the setting of scheduled monument MG160.

Public Response

A site notice was erected at each of the three sites, no decision was made for a continuous 
period of 21 days from the date of the site notice.  No third party responses have been 
received.

Planning History

No relevant planning history

Principal Planning Policies

National Planning Policies

Planning Policy Wales (9th Edition, November 2016)
Technical Advice Note 5-Nature Conservation and Planning (2009)
Technical Advice Note 12-Design (2016)
Technical Advice Note 15-Development and Flood Risk (2004)
Technical Advice Note 16-Sport, Recreation and Open Space (2009)
Technical Advice Note 18-Transport
Technical Advice Note 24-The Historic Environment (2017)

Local Planning Policies

Local Development Plan for Powys (April 2018)

SP7-Safeguarding Strategic Resources and Assets
DM2-The Natural Environment

Page 126



15

DM4-Landscape
DM5-Development and Flood Risk
DM6-Flood Prevention Measures and Land Drainage
DM11-Protection of Existing Community Facilities and Services
DM13-Design and Resources
T1-Travel Traffic and Transport Infrastructure

RDG=Powys Residential Design Guide NAW=National Assembly for Wales TAN= Technical Advice Note LDP=Powys Local Development 
Plan, MIPPS=Ministerial Interim Planning Policy Statement

Other Legislative Considerations

Crime and Disorder Act 1998 
Equality Act 2010 
Planning (Wales) Act 2015 (Welsh language) 
Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 

Officer Appraisal

Section 38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004

Members are advised to consider this application in accordance with Section 38 (6) of the 
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, which requires that, if regard is to be had to 
the development plan for the purpose of any determination to be made under the Planning 
Acts, the determination must be made in accordance with the plan unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise.

Principle of Development

Policy DM3 concerns development proposals within public open space, the proposed 
development is either wholly or partially within public open space and as such this policy is 
relevant.

While this development proposes recreational facilities they would affect areas considered to 
be open space and as such the criteria set out under policy DM3 needs to be considered. 
The policy includes a set of criteria that seeks to ensure public space is only lost where there 
is adequate reuse and alternative uses for the space have been explored.

While this development would result in limited loss of open space, development of the sites 
through this proposal would result in formalising the use of areas of open space.  Sites B and 
C are within the River Severn green corridor which runs through the middle of Newtown, 
these sites comprise a very small portion of this band of open space, as such the alternative 
uses of these sites would still allow plenty of open space to remain.  Site A would occupy a 
small detached piece of open space which appears to be unmaintained, the size of the site is 
small in comparison to the areas of open space along the green corridor and these areas of 
open space are in easy walking distance.

The scale of the three sites in relation to the overall area of open space to be retained in 
Newtown and the proposed alternative uses are in keeping with the policy criteria set out 
under DM3 and as such the proposed formalised play areas are considered acceptable in 
principle.  

Page 127



16

Flood Risk

Sites B is located within the River Severn C2 floodzone and site C is located partially within 
the river Severn C2 floodzone, as defined by the TAN15 Development Advice Flood Maps 
(DAMs).  Site A is outside of the floodzone and NRW confirm they have no concerns 
regarding development of this site in relation to flooding.

Development on site B involves the re-profiling of a small area of land and planting trees to 
form the bike track.  The works are on an area of existing recreational land and do not 
involved the construction of any hard standing area.  The site shall remain free draining and 
the profiled bike track has been moved away from the river bank, in accordance with NRW 
comments. 

Development on site C is partially with the C2 floodzone, the area is currently used as 
informal amenity space, the proposed works would involve the erection of play infrastructure 
and the ground surface would remain amenity grass.  There would be small areas of bound 
rubber mulch safety surfacing around some of the play equipment, two of these areas would 
be within the flood zone.  

The amended plans submitted on the 16th July 2018 confirm the removal of the amphitheatre 
and canoe access which were originally sited on the riverbank and the re-sting of the 
BMX/pump track further away from the bank in line with NRW comments.  The use of the 
land would remain as existing; for recreational use, which is not classed as highly vulnerable 
to flooding.  The area of semi hard standing is very small in relation the surrounding area of 
free draining land. 

Based on the above, it is concluded the scheme would not increase surface water run off to 
cause flooding elsewhere and the scheme would not increase vulnerability to flooding above 
that which already exists. The proposed development is therefore considered to be in 
accordance with policiesy DM5 and DM6 of the Powys LDP, Technical Advice Note 15 and 
Planning Policy Wales. 

Landscape and Visual impact

The character of the surrounding landscape is a mixture of urban and riverine, the two 
structures which are of a height which could be viewable in the surrounding area are the Hub 
building on site A and the climber pyramid on site B.  Policy DM4 seeks to protect valued 
landscape characteristics and qualities from development which would have an unacceptable 
adverse effect.

The site is outside of any protected or registered landscapes and as detailed under the 
Historic section of this report, the development would not have an unacceptable adverse 
impact on the nearby SAM.  The height of the hub and pyramid are in proportion with other 
structures, including dwellings close to site A, and the structures do not occupy on exposed 
or elevated sites within the landscape.  As such it is concluded the proposed development 
would not have an unacceptable adverse impact on valued landscape characteristics and 
qualities and would be easily integrated into the existing built landscape of Newtown.

Ecological impact 

Page 128



17

It is important to be mindful of how a development proposal would impact directly and 
indirectly on biodiversity and in particular those species identified as being at risk under the 
Habitat Regulations (HR).  In accordance with the HR, policy DM2 seeks to protect 
biodiversity from development which would have an unacceptable impact on the favourable 
conservation status of protected species.

The County Ecologist raised concern regarding the loss of an oak tree on site A and its 
potential to have an impact on bat populations identified in the area.  The planning agent 
confirmed in writing of the 11th January the oak tree on the site, located at the entrance to the 
proposed car park facility, is to be retained and the site layout plan details a ‘no dig solution’ 
to the road surface close to the tree at the entrance to the site, this measure is to protect the 
root system of the tree.  The agent also confirmed the scheme would not result in the loss of 
any trees or hedges across the three sites and new tree plant is proposed on site B and C as 
shown on the approved plans.  

In light of the confirmation of development received, and in absence of any other concerns 
raised by the Ecologist in their response, no further information has been requested and it is 
concluded the development of the sites would not have a detrimental impact on the 
favourable conservation status of protected species.

Impact on highway infrastructure

In accordance with policy T1 all development proposals are assessed in relation to their 
potential to generate traffic. Suitable parking provision and a safe means are access are key 
to determining whether or not development would be acceptable in terms of highway safety.

The proposed development at sites B and C would have little to no impact on the existing 
highway infrastructure. Both sites are in close proximity of the existing large public Dolerw car 
park and are well linked to foot and bicycle access routes.

Development of site A would generate traffic to the site in connection with the facilities the 
Hub building provides and the proposal includes provision of a new parking facility associated 
with the use of the site.  The nearby highway infrastructure includes a single width traffic 
controlled section of road with a mixture of existing uses surrounding the site, including a 
football pitch, library, school and dwellings.  

Following the Highway Authority’s initial response on the 11th January, additional information 
was provided and on site discussions took place between with the Highway Authority and the 
planning agent, the initial concerns, including provision of a footway link along the U4231 and 
confirmation of suitable visibility at the entrance to the site were resolved.  An updated 
response was received from the Highway Authority on the 10th April which raises no objection 
to the scheme provided the recommended conditions form part of any forthcoming consent. 
In light of the above and subject to the recommended conditions, it is not considered that the 
proposed would unacceptably affect highway safety or movement, compliant with the 
relevant planning policies. 

Impact on the historic environment

Page 129



18

Historic assets are a finite resource and as such in accordance with policy SP7 and TAN24, 
development proposals need to be carefully assessed in terms of the impact on these 
strategic assets.

Sites B and C are in proximity to Newtown Hall Castle Mound (MG160) and as such the 
visual impact of the proposals on the mound need to be carefully assessed.  The intervening 
buildings and vegetation between the development sites and the Mound ensure the setting of 
the Mound would not be compromised through the proposed development.  CADW confirm in 
their response of the 21st December the development would cause no damage to the 
scheduled ancient monument.

On the basis of the above and comments received, Officers consider the proposal to be in 
accordance with policy SP7 of the Powys LDP, Technical Advice Note 24 and Planning 
Policy Wales. 

Impact on residential amenity

Site A is adjacent to dwellings on the Trehafren residential development, the amenity of the 
residents needs to be considered in terms of whether their amenity would be reduced 
through disturbance from the use of the proposed site.  Access to the site would utilise the 
existing road network and new parking facilities are being provided on site in association with 
the use of the Hub building.  The Hub building would include 3 rooms which it is proposed 
would be used for conferences and as a training facility.  There would also be an equipment 
storage facility.

It is anticipated the use of the building and associated traffic generation would not reduce the 
amenity currently enjoyed by dwellings on the adjacent side of the road to the site entrance 
and as such the development is considered in accordance with policy DM13.

RECOMMENDATION

Having carefully considered the proposed development, Officers consider the proposal to be 
in accordance with planning policy and therefore, the recommendation is one of approval 
subject to the conditions detailed below.

Conditions:

1. The development to which this permission relates shall be begun no later than the 
expiration of five years from the date of this permission.
2. The development shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the plans as 
approved.  The plan references include updated riverside play park pan (2940-012 rev A), 
updated pump track plan (2940-021 rev A), proposed hub site plan (option 3 dated 31.07.17), 
location plan (S061.1.0.01 dated 29.06.17)
3. Prior to the first beneficial use of the development any entrance gates shall be set 
back at least 15 metres distant from the edge of the adjoining carriageway and shall be 
constructed so as to be incapable of opening towards the highway and shall be retained in 
this position and form of construction for as long as the dwelling/development hereby 
permitted remains in existence.
4. The gradient of the access shall be constructed so as not to exceed 1 in 15 for the 
first 15 metres measured from edge of the adjoining carriageway along the centre line of the 

Page 130



19

access and shall be retained at this gradient for as long as the development remains in 
existence.
5. The centre line of the first 15 metres of the access road measured from the edge of 
the adjoining carriageway shall be constructed at right angles to that edge of the said 
carriageway and be retained at that angle for as long as the development remains in 
existence.
6. Prior to the commencement of any other development the access shall be 
constructed so that there is clear visibility from a point 1.05 metres above ground level at the 
centre of the access and 2.4 metres distant from the edge of the adjoining carriageway, to 
points 0.6 metres above ground level at the edge of the adjoining carriageway and 43 metres 
distant in each direction measured from the centre of the access along the edge of the 
adjoining carriageway.  Nothing shall be planted, erected or allowed to grow on the area(s) of 
land so formed that would obstruct the visibility and the visibility shall be maintained free from 
obstruction for as long as the development hereby permitted remains in existence.
7. Prior to the commencement of any other development the area of the access to be 
used by vehicles is to be constructed to a minimum of 410mm depth, comprising a minimum 
of 250mm of sub-base material, 100mm of bituminous macadam base course material and 
60mm of bituminous macadam binder course material for a distance of 15 metres from the 
edge of the adjoining carriageway.  Any use of alternative materials is to be agreed in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority prior to the access being constructed.
8. Prior to the first beneficial use of the development, provision shall be made within the 
curtilage of the site for the parking of not less than 50 cars and one heavy goods vehicle 
together with a turning space such that all vehicles serving the site may both enter and leave 
the site in a forward gear. The parking and turning areas shall be retained for their 
designated use for as long as the development hereby permitted remains in existence.
9. Prior to the commencement of any other development provision shall be made within 
the curtilage of the site for the parking of all construction vehicles together with a vehicle 
turning area.  This parking and turning area shall be constructed to a depth of 0.4 metres in 
crusher run or sub-base and maintained free from obstruction at all times such that all 
vehicles serving the site shall park within the site and both enter and leave the site in a 
forward gear for the duration of the construction of the development.
10. The width of the access carriageway, constructed as Condition 7 above, shall be not 
less than 5.5 metres for a minimum distance of 15 metres along the access measured from 
the adjoining edge of carriageway of the county highway and shall be maintained at this width 
for as long as the development remains in existence.
11. Prior to the first beneficial use of the development a radius of 10.5 metres shall be 
provided from the carriageway of the county highway on each side of the access to the 
development site and shall be maintained for as long as the development remains in 
existence.
12. Prior to the first beneficial use of the development the area of the access to be used 
by vehicles is to be finished in a 40mm bituminous surface course for a distance of 15 metres 
from the edge of the adjoining carriageway. This area will be maintained to this standard for 
as long as the development remains in existence,
13. Upon formation of the visibility splays as detailed in condition 6 above the centreline 
of any new or relocated hedge should be positioned not less than 1.0 metre to the rear of the 
visibility splay and retained in this position as long as the development remains in existence.
14. No surface water drainage from the site shall be allowed to discharge onto the county 
highway.

Page 131



20

15. Prior to the erection of any external lighting, a lighting scheme shall be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  Works shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved scheme.
16. Prior to commencement of development of sites b and c, as shown on the approved 
location plan, a biosecurity risk assessment shall be submitted to and approved in writing by 
the local planning authority.  The risk assessment shall include:
(i) appropriate measures to control any INNS on site, if present; and 
(ii) measures or actions that aim to prevent INNS being introduced to /allowed to disperse 
from the site for the duration of construction and operational phases of the scheme. 
Thereafter, the development shall be undertaken strictly in accordance with the biosecurity 
risk assessment as approved.
17. Prior to the commencement of development on sites B and C as shown on the 
approved location plan, a scheme detailing reasonable avoidance measures for otters, water 
vole and bats shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  
The development shall thereafter be undertaken strictly in accordance with the reasonable 
avoidance measures as approved. 
18. Prior to the commencement of development on sites B and C as shown on the 
approved location plan, a pollution prevention plan shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the local planning authority.  The development shall thereafter be undertaken 
strictly in accordance with the pollution prevention plan as approved. 
19. Prior to the commencement of development on sites B and C as shown on the 
approved location plan, a waste management plan shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the local planning authority.  The development shall thereafter be undertaken 
strictly in accordance with the waste management plan as approved.

Reasons:

1. Required to be imposed by Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.
2. To ensure adherence to the plans stamped as approved in the interests of clarity and 
a satisfactory development.
3. In the interests of highway safety and to accord with Local Development Plan policies 
DM13 and  T1 (2018), Planning Policy Wales (2016) and Technical Advice Note 18-Transport 
(2007)
4. In the interests of highway safety and to accord with Local Development Plan policies 
DM13 and T1 (2018), Planning Policy Wales (2016) and Technical Advice Note 18-Transport 
(2007)
5. In the interests of highway safety and to accord with Local Development Plan policies 
DM13 and T1 (2018), Planning Policy Wales (2016) and Technical Advice Note 18-Transport 
(2007)
6. In the interests of highway safety and to accord with Local Development Plan policies 
DM13 and T1 (2018), Planning Policy Wales (2016) and Technical Advice Note 18-Transport 
(2007)
7. In the interests of highway safety and to accord with Local Development Plan policies 
DM13 and T1 (2018), Planning Policy Wales (2016) and Technical Advice Note 18-Transport 
(2007)
8. In the interests of highway safety and to accord with Local Development Plan policies 
DM13 and T1 (2018), Planning Policy Wales (2016) and Technical Advice Note 18-Transport 
(2007)

Page 132



21

9. In the interests of highway safety and to accord with Local Development Plan policies 
DM13 and T1 (2018), Planning Policy Wales (2016) and Technical Advice Note 18-Transport 
(2007)
10. In the interests of highway safety and to accord with Local Development Plan policies 
DM13 and T1 (2018), Planning Policy Wales (2016) and Technical Advice Note 18-Transport 
(2007)
11. In the interests of highway safety and to accord with Local Development Plan policies 
DM13 and T1 (2018), Planning Policy Wales (2016) and Technical Advice Note 18-Transport 
(2007)
12. In the interests of highway safety and to accord with Local Development Plan policies 
DM13 and T1 (2018), Planning Policy Wales (2016) and Technical Advice Note 18-Transport 
(2007)
13. In the interests of highway safety and to accord with Local Development Plan policies 
DM13 and T1 (2018), Planning Policy Wales (2016) and Technical Advice Note 18-Transport 
(2007)
14. In the interests of highway safety and to accord with Local Development Plan policies 
DM13 and T1 (2018), Planning Policy Wales (2016) and Technical Advice Note 18-Transport 
(2007)
15. In the interests of ecology and to accord with local authority plan policies DM2 and 
DM13 (2018) and Planning Policy Wales (2016) and Technical Advice Note 5 (2009)
16. In the interests of ecology and to accord with local authority plan policies DM2 and 
DM13 (2018) and Planning Policy Wales (2016) and Technical Advice Note 5 (2009)
17. In the interests of ecology and to accord with local authority plan policies DM2 and 
DM13 (2018) and Planning Policy Wales (2016) and Technical Advice Note 5 (2009)
18. In the interests of ecology and to accord with local authority plan policy policies DM2 
and DM13 (2018) and Planning Policy Wales (2016) and Technical Advice Note 5 (2009)
19. In the interests of ecology and to accord with local authority plan policy policies DM2 
and DM13 (2018) and Planning Policy Wales (2016) and Technical Advice Note 5 (2009)

Informative Notes

Clean Water Comments

We have apparatus in the area of the planned development, the developer will need to 
contact Severn Trent Water, New Connections team as detailed below to assess their 
proposed plans for diversion requirements.

____________________________________________________
Case Officer: Dunya Fourie- Planning Officer
Tel: 01597 82 7111 E-mail:dunya.fourie@powys.gov.uk  

Page 133



This page is intentionally left blank



P
age 135



T
his page is intentionally left blank



1

Planning, Taxi Licensing and Rights of Way Committee Report

Application No: P/2018/0592 Grid Ref: 306290.08 261902.33

Community 
Council:

Llandrindod Wells Valid Date:
31/05/2018

Officer:
Sara Robinson

Applicant: Powys County Council

Location: Trefonnen Church In Wales School, Trefonen Lane, Llandrindod Wells, 
Powys, LD1 5EB

Proposal: Section 192 application for a certificate of lawful development for a 
proposed use for a single storey rear extension to school

Application 
Type: 

App. Proposed Certificate Lawful Development Proposed use or 
development

The reason for Committee determination

The applicant is Powys County Council.

Site Location and Description

The application site is Trefonnen Church in Wales School located adjoining the settlement 
development boundary for Llandrindod Wells. The application site is located directly to the 
south of the existing school. To the north and east of the school is the existing playground, to 
the west is the car park and to the south beyond the application site is the unclassified 
highway U1660.

Consent is sought under Section 192 for a certificate of lawful development for a proposed 
use for a single storey rear extension to the school. The proposed extension will measure 
approximately 13 metres in length by approximately 3.5 metres in width reaching a height of 
approximately 3 metres. The extension will cover an overall floor space of approximately 
45.5m2.

Planning History

P/2009/1034 – Construction of replacement primary school, new access, associated parking 
and other external works and demolition of existing school – Conditional Consent

Principal Planning Policies

National Planning Policy

Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order (As Amended) 2014

Page 137

4.8



2

Welsh Government Guidance Note (April 2014) -Permitted development rights, Industrial and 
Warehouse Development Schools, Colleges, Universities and Hospitals, Office Buildings, 
Shops, Financial and Professional Services

RDG=Powys Residential Design Guide NAW=National Assembly for Wales TAN= Technical Advice Note 
LDP=Powys Local Development Plan, MIPPS=Ministerial Interim Planning Policy Statement

Other Legislative Considerations

Crime and Disorder Act 1998 

Equality Act 2010 

Planning (Wales) Act 2015 (Welsh language) 

Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 

Officer Appraisal

Principle of Development

Under the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order, Part 32 and 
guidance sought from the Welsh Government Guidance Note the Permitted development 
rights, Industrial and Warehouse Development Schools, Colleges, Universities and Hospitals, 
Office Buildings, Shops, Financial and Professional Services (April 2014). Permitted 
development under Part 32, Class A is for the:

A) Erection, extension or alteration of a school, college, university or hospital building.

Development not permitted 

A.1 Development is not permitted by Class A— 

(a) if the cumulative gross floor space of any buildings erected, extended or altered would 
exceed— 

(i) 25% of the gross floor space of the original school, college, university or hospital 
buildings; or 

(ii) 100 square metres, 
whichever is the lesser; 

(b) if any part of the development, would be within 5 metres of a boundary of the curtilage of 
the premises; 

(c) if, as a result of the development, any land used as a playing field at any time in the 5 
years before the development commenced and remaining in this use could no longer be so 
used; 

(d) if the height of any new building erected would exceed 5 metres; 

(e) if the height of the building as extended or altered would exceed— 
(i) if within 10 metres of a boundary of the curtilage of the premises, 5 metres; or 

Page 138



3

(ii)  in all other cases, the height of the building being extended or altered; 

(f) if the development would be within the curtilage of a listed building; 

(g) the development would lead to a reduction in the space available for the parking or 
turning of vehicles; or 

(h) unless— 
(i) in the case of school, college or university buildings, the predominant use of the 

existing buildings on the premises is for the provision of education; or 
(ii) in the case of hospital buildings, the predominant use of the existing buildings on the 

premises is for the provision of any medical or health services.

Having reviewed the information submitted in support of the application is it is considered as 
follows:

 The proposed floor space for the extension is approximately 45.5 metres, permitted 
development for schools allows for a cumulative gross floor space of 25% of the 
original school or 100m2. The existing school has a floor space of approximately 
1,750m2 and therefore it is considered that the floor space would comply with the 
above criteria.

 The proposed extension is located in excess of 5 metres of the curtilage of the building
 The area for the siting of the proposed extension is currently an area of hard standing 
 The proposed extension reaches a height of approximately 3.1 metres and therefore 

does not exceed 5 metres in height
 The building is not within the curtilage of a listed building
 The proposed extension will not encroach on the existing car park and will not lead to 

reduction in parking spaces available

In light of the above it is considered that the proposed development falls under the Permitted 
development under Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order, 
Part 32, Class A.

RECOMMENDATION

In accordance with the information submitted it is considered that the proposed development 
would fall under permitted development rights and therefore under Part 192 is considered to 
be lawful.

____________________________________________________
Case Officer: Sara Robinson- Planning Officer
Tel: 01597 827229 E-mail:sara.robinson@powys.gov.uk  

Page 139



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 141



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Planning, Taxi Licensing and Rights of Way Committee Report

Application No: P/2018/0467 Grid Ref: 311249.4 291900.05

Community 
Council:

Newtown Valid Date:
08/05/2018

Officer:
Dunya Fourie

Applicant: Powys County Council

Location: Y Ffrydd, Canal Road, Newtown, Powys, SY16 2JY.

Proposal: Full : New parking arrangements and associated works

Application 
Type: 

Application for Full Planning Permission

The reason for Committee determination

The applicant is Powys County Council

Site Location and Description

The site is located in Newtown to the front of the dwellings along Y Ffrydd road.  Access to 
the site is via a single access road off Canal Road.

This application seeks consent to change the use of land along the edge of Y Ffydd road, 
from informal amenity land to parking provision.  The works would require some changes to 
the ground level and surfacing.

Consultee Response

Newtown Town Council

No response received.

Highway Authority

Letter of the 19th July 2018

The County Council as Highway Authority for the County Unclassified Highway, U4267

Wish the following recommendations/Observations be applied

Recommendations/Observations

The development is to be constructed in accordance with drawing number D/001 Rev C.

Severn  Trent Water

Page 143

4.9



2

E mail of 24th may 2018

With Reference to the above planning application the company’s observations regarding 
sewerage are as follows:

As the proposal has minimal impact on the public sewerage system I can advise we have no 
objections to the proposals and do not require a drainage condition to be applied.

Representations

A site notice was erected at the site, no decision was made for a continuous period of 21 
days from the date of the site notice.  No third party responses have been received.

Planning History

No relevant planning history

Principal Planning Policies

National Planning Policy 

Planning Policy Wales (9th Edition, November 2016)
Technical Advice Note 18-Transport (2007)

Local Planning Policy-Local Development Plan (April 2018)

DM3 - Public Open Space
DM4 - Landscape
DM13 - Design and Resources
T1-Travel, Traffic and Transport Infrastructure

Other Legislative Considerations

Crime and Disorder Act 1998 
Equality Act 2010 
Planning (Wales) Act 2015 (Welsh language) 
Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 

Officer Appraisal

Section 38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004

Members are advised to consider this application in accordance with Section 38 (6) of the 
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, which requires that, if regard is to be had to 
the development plan for the purpose of any determination to be made under the Planning 
Acts, the determination must be made in accordance with the plan unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise.

Impact on the free flow of traffic and parking provision on Y Ffrydd road

Page 144



3

In accordance with policy T1, development should be supported by sufficient parking 
provision and should not impact the free flow of traffic along the highway.

Y Ffydd is a public road serving the adjacent dwellings and access to Canal Road and Barn 
Lane.   Vehicle access is narrow, there is allocated parking for 9 cars adjoining the footway in 
front of the properties along Y Ffrydd. During the site visit it was evident there is a degree of 
on street parking along the footway adjoining the allocated parking bays.

This application seeks consent (as amended) to carry out streetworks to the footway in order 
to provide an additional 4 parking bays, in line with those which already exist.

In accordance with their response of the 19th July 2018, the Highway Authority confirms they 
have no objection to the amended scheme. In light of the above, it is considered that the 
proposal is in accordance with planning policy. 

RECOMMENDATION

The proposed development is considered to be in accordance with planning policy and 
therefore the recommendation is one of conditional consent. 

Conditions:

1. The development to which this permission relates shall be begun no later than the 
expiration of five years from the date of this permission.

2. The development shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the approved plans; 
references include site plans 216602 D/001C and location plan Y Ffrydd Land Ownership 

Reasons: 

1. Required to be imposed by Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

2. To ensure adherence to the plans stamped as approved in the interests of clarity and 
a satisfactory development.

____________________________________________________
Case Officer: Dunya Fourie- Planning Officer
Tel: 01597 82 7111 E-mail:dunya.fourie@powys.gov.uk  

Page 145



This page is intentionally left blank



P
age 147



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Page 1 of 11 
 

CYNGOR SIR POWYS COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

PLANNING, TAXI LICENSING AND RIGHTS OF WAY COMMITTEE 
2nd August 2018 

 
REPORT BY: HEAD OF LEISURE AND RECREATION 
 
SUBJECT:  Application to correct the Register of Common Land  
 

 
REPORT FOR: DECISION 
______________________________________________________________ 

 
Application to correct the Register of Common Land, sections 22 and 
Schedule 2 of the Commons Act 2006 – Application 17-001CA, Register unit 
MCL76, area Y – Land at Rhiwgriafol, community of Glantwymyn 
 
The application: 
1. Application 17-001CA was made by Mrs JM Wilkins, of 55 Church Road, 

Whitchurch, Cardiff, CF14 2DY. The application was received on 11th October 2017 
and was assessed as having been duly made. A copy of the application can be 
found at appendix 1. 
 

2. The effect of this application, if granted, would be to remove 19.27 hectares of land 
from the Register of Common Land. The land affected is part of ‘Area Y’ of 
registered common MCL76 (known as Cwm Ednant, Rhiw Goch, Moelfre, Waen 
Ty Isaf, Cwm Wern-Fach, Ffridd Dolgadfan, Bwlch Glynmynydd, Banc 
Bronderwgoed, Banc Melyn, Moelfre Fach and Llanerch -yr-Aur.) 

 
3. A location plan showing the site can be found at appendix 2. A more detailed plan 

showing the area affected can be found at appendix 3. 
 

4. The land that is subject of this application is all within the ownership of Mrs JM 
Wilkins (the applicant.) 

 
5. The land affected by the application is currently being leased.  

 
6. There are no registered graziers on this area of common land.  
 
7. The documents that were supplied to accompany the application are as follows: 

• A supporting document list (appendix 4); 

• An extract from a current Ordnance Survey map, showing the land subject of 
the application (appendix 5); 

• An extract from the Land Registry title plan for the land affected by the 
application (appendix 6); 

• A 2010 aerial photograph from the Welsh Government Single Application Form, 
showing the land subject of the application and a pink hatched overlay denoting 
the areas registered as common land (appendix 7); 

• A 1922 conveyance, from Mrs Margaret Francis and others to Mr Richard Jones 
of freehold hereditaments and premises known as Rhiwgriafol (appendix 8);  

Page 149

7



Page 2 of 11 
 

• An extract from the Tithe Map for Penegoes dated 1846 (appendix 9); 

• A copy of the Finance Act 1910 ‘Duties on Land Values’ for hereditament 170 
(House and Land, Rhiwgriafol) (appendix 10); 

• A copy of the Finance Act 1910 ‘Duties on Land Values’ for hereditament 171 
(Woodlands, Rhiwgriafol) (appendix 11); 

• An extract from the Finance Act 1910 map, showing hereditament 170 and field 
no 1786 (appendix 12); 

• A Welsh Government Glastir map, showing the boundary of the Glastir parcels 
subject of the application and including the land affected by the application 
(appendix 13); 

• A Welsh Government Glastir survey plan, with the boundaries of the land 
affected by the application marked (appendix 14); 

• Annotated plans from, and relating to the Register of Common Land for Area Y 
of registered common MCL76 (appendix 15); 

• Annotated text and map extracts from the Register of Common Land for 
registered common MCL76 (appendix 16); 

• A statutory declaration from Mr G Wigley of Rhosdyrnog Farm (appendix 17.) 
 

8. The documents that were later supplied in response to representations are: 

• A letter dated 9th April 2018, outlining the sequence of transfers of the land 
subject of the application (appendix 18); 

• A copy of the grant of probate to the estate to Mrs Wilkins’ grandfather, Richard 
Jones (appendix 19); 

• A copy assent of the estate of Mrs Wilkins’ grandfather to her grandmother, Mrs 
H Jones (appendix 20); 

• A copy of the 1953 grant letters of administration to the estate of Mrs Wilkins’ 
grandmother, to her father Mr EH Jones (appendix 21);  

• A copy of the 1955 assent whereby Mr EH Jones vested the title to the lands at 
Rhiwgriafol into his sole name (appendix 22); 

• A copy of the 1985 conveyance through which Mr EH jones transferred title to 
the land to the joint names of himself and Mrs Wilkins’ mother, Mrs ME Jones 
(appendix 23.)  

• Letter dated 19th June 2018, listing the transfers of title of the land at Rhiwgriafol 
from 20th January 1922 to 27th June 1997 (appendix 24.) 

 
9. In addition, the Commons Registration Authority is entitled to consider the statutory 

documents that it holds in relation to the Register of Common Land, including the 
original applications for registration and the Register itself. The applicant is not 
required to provide copies of documents if the Registration Authority issued the 
document, was a party to it, or the document has been deposited with the 
registration authority in accordance with any enactment. 
 

10. The evidence accompanying this application is almost entirely documentary, with 
only one statutory declaration from a personal witness. For this application, witness 
evidence is not key to meeting the legal criteria; the legal criteria are described 
below. As a result, it is proposed that the application be determined on the basis of 
the documentary evidence supplied, without a hearing. 

 
 

Page 150



Page 3 of 11 
 

Legal criteria: 
11. This application has been made under the provisions of section 22 and 

Schedule 2 to the Commons Act 2006. Section 22 relates to non-registration or 
mistaken registration of land under the Commons Registration Act 1965. 
Paragraphs 1 to 9 of schedule 2 set out the circumstances under which an 
application may be made under section 2. 
 

12. The applicant has chosen to make their application under the provisions of 
paragraph 7 of Schedule 2. Under that paragraph, an application may be made to 
remove ‘Other land wrongly registered as common land’ from the Register.  

 
13. Under paragraph 7,the legal requirements are that: 

(a) the land was provisionally registered as common land under section 4 of the 
1965 Act; 

(b) the provisional registration of the land as common land was not referred to a 
Commons Commissioner under section 5 of the 1965 Act; 

(c) the provisional registration became final; and 
(d) immediately before its provisional registration the land was not any of the 

following— 
(i) land subject to rights of common; 
(ii) waste land of a manor; 
(iii) a town or village green within the meaning of the 1965 Act as originally 

enacted; or 
(iv) land of a description specified in section 11 of the Inclosure Act 1845 

(c. 118). 
 
Publicity for application: 
14. Under The Commons Act 2006 (Correction, Non-Registration or Mistaken 

Registration) (Wales) Regulations 2017, publicity must be given to this type of 
application via the Council website and site notices. Notice of the application must 
also be served on statutory consultees. 
 

15. The public notice of application and a plan of the land appeared on the Council 
website on 22nd November 2017. The same notices were put up on site on 28th 
November 2017. To allow the required period of not less than 42 days, the deadline 
for receipt of objections and representations was Friday 12th January 2018. 

 
16. In line with statutory requirements, notice of the application was served on: 

(a) The owner of the land to which the application relates, being Mrs Wilkins; 
(b) Any occupier or lessee of that land; the tenant has been notified; 
(c) Every other local authority for that area, being Glantwymyn Community Council. 
(d) The persons who have requested that notice of application be emailed to them.  

 
17. Notice of application should also be served on any owner of rights of common ‘in 

gross’ that are exercisable over the area of land affected by the application. 
However, no person is registered as owning rights of common in gross over area 
Y. 
 

18. There is a requirement to serve notice on Commons Councils and anyone who has 
made a declaration of entitlement to rights in the Register of Common Land. 

Page 151



Page 4 of 11 
 

However, the provisions to form Commons Councils or make these declarations 
are not in force in Wales at the moment, so there are no Commons Councils or 
holders of declarations on whom notice can be served. 

 
19. In addition, a copy of the notice was sent to Mr IH Lewis, who represents the 

graziers who are registered as holding rights exercisable over other areas of 
registered common MCL76. 

 
Objections and representations: 
20. Representations have been received to this application, from Mr H Craddock of the 

Open Spaces Society. As the Open Spaces Society does not have a legal interest 
in the land subject of the application, it must be determined by the Council, as the 
Commons Registration Authority. 
 

21. There are a series of emails from the objector, as follows: 

• Email dated 10th January 2018 (appendix 25); 

• Email dated 15th January 2018 (appendix 26); 

• Email dated 7th February 2018 (appendix 27); 

• Email dated 6th March 2018 (appendix 28); 

• Email dated 5th April 2018 (appendix 29); 

• Email dated 16th April 2018 (appendix 30); 

• Email dated 27th June 2018 (appendix 31.) 
 

22. The applicant has provided the following responses, in addition to the documentary 
evidence listed above: 

• Email dated 24th January 2018 (appendix 32); 

• Letter dated 15th February 2018 (appendix 33); 

• Letter and documents dated 16th March 2018 (appendix 34); 

• Letter dated 28th April 2018 (appendix 35.) 
 

23. The applicant and objector have been provided with copies of each other’s 
responses and any additional documents supplied, as required by the Regulations. 

 
 

Assessment of the evidence against legal criteria: 
Whether the land was provisionally registered as common land under section 4 of the 
1965 Act: 
24. Section 4 of the Commons Registration Act 1965 required that a registration 

authority should “..register any land as common land or a town or village green or, 
as the case may be, any rights of common over or ownership of such land, on 
application duly made to it and accompanied by such declaration and such other 
documents (if any) as may be prescribed for the purpose of verification or of proving 
compliance with any prescribed conditions.” 
 

25. The Land section of the Register of Common Land records that registered common 
MCL76 was provisionally registered under the Commons Registration Act 1965 on 
4th November 1969. It was registered pursuant to a statutory application for 
registration of land as common land, (number 398) which was made by The 
Rambler’s Association of 124 Finchley Road, London on 27th October 1969. An 
extract from the written Land section of the Register can be found at appendix 36. 

Page 152



Page 5 of 11 
 

That the provisional registration of the land as common land was not referred to a 
Commons Commissioner under section 5 of the 1965 Act: 
26. The application for registration of Land as common land in relation to registered 

common MCL76 was disputed. The Register of Common Land records that the 
entry was modified accordingly, as follows: 

 

• The area to read 404.804 HA ( 1000.505 Acres) or thereabouts. 

• The land hatched black comprising an area of 371.110 HA (917.227 acres) has 
been removed from the Register.  
 

27. These modifications did not affect the land registered as Area Y; an extract from 
the Register Plan can be found at appendix 37. Some of the areas removed from 
the registration can be seen and do not include Area Y. 
 

28. The modifications were agreed through negotiation between the Commons 
Registration Authority and the applicant. The Register does not record any 
Commons Commissioner’s decision, as the matter was not referred to them. 

 
29. The Open Spaces Society representative did query this point, in his email of 10th 

January 2018. On receipt of clarification and the relevant extracts from the Register 
of Common land from the Commons Registration service, he accepted that the 
registration had not been subject of a referral (see email of 15th January 2018.) 

 
Whether the provisional registration became final: 
30. The Land section of the Register records that the registration of unit MCL76, 

(including Area Y) became final on 26th July 1973. This has not been not disputed 
by the Open Spaces Society. 

 
That immediately before its provisional registration the land was not land subject to 
rights of common:  
31. Section 22 of the Commons Registration Act 1965 sets out the criteria under which 

land was eligible for registration as common land. The first of these is land that the 
land was subject to rights of common, at the time of registration.  
 

32. MCL76 is divided into a number of lettered areas. Rights of common are registered 
as being exercisable over parts of MCL76, but the rights have not been registered 
as being exercisable over the whole common. The original applications for 
registration of rights of common all specified that the rights concerned were 
exercisable over specific lettered areas of MCL76. No applications were made to 
register rights of common that were exercisable over area Y.  
 

33. The applicant has provided a statutory declaration from Mr Geraint Wigley, who 
has spent most of his life living in the Talywern / Darowen area. He farmed 
Rhosdyrnog in Talywern, which he took over from his father in 1971. Mr Wigley 
notes that Rhosdyrnog is close to Rhiwgriafol. He states that by his late father’s 
account, area Y has been exclusively grazed by the Rhiwgriafol flock since the early 
20th century. Mr Wigley notes that he is not aware of anyone else who has declared 
an interest in, or challenged the right to graze livestock there.  

 

Page 153



Page 6 of 11 
 

34. No other evidence has been submitted to suggest that the land affected by the 
application was subject to rights of common, immediately before its provisional 
registration.  
 

That immediately before its provisional registration the land was not land waste land 
of a manor: 
35. Under section 22 of the Commons Registration Act 1965, land was also eligible 

for registration as common land if it was waste land of a manor. For an application 
under paragraph 7 and Schedule 2 of the Commons Act 2006, ‘waste land of a 
manor’ is land that at the time of provisional registration was both: 

• part of a manor; and 

• open, uncultivated and unoccupied. 
 

36. In support of their case, the applicants have provided a number of documents in 
relation to this point, as described below. 

 
37. Extracts from the Tithe Map and Apportionment: 

The Tithe Maps and statutory apportionments for the whole of Wales have now 
been digitised and are available to the public via the Places of Wales website. 
The applicants have referred to this in their letter of 16th March 2018, but have 
also provided copy extracts of the Tithe Map and a screenshot extract of the Tithe 
apportionment.  
 

38. The Tithe Map for this area is titled ‘Map of the inclosed land of the parish of 
Darowen in the County of Montgomery’ and is dated 1846. The map identifies the 
land subject of this application as being enclosure 1033. The written apportionment 
describes this enclosure as being part of Graigfach; the state of cultivation is 
described as being ‘Pasture’. The occupier at the time of the apportionment was 
noted as being William Bebb and the landowner was Richard Hughes. The land 
was subject to a tithe payment.  
 

39. The applicant’s comment on the Tithe map is that parcel numbers 1033 and 1031 
are “shown as pastureland and there is no mention of them being common land or 
sheep walk. They were owned by a Richard Hughes of Cwmcarnedd Estate, 
Llanbrynmair and tenanted by a William Bebe who later emigrated to America.” 

 
40. This would suggest that although enclosure 1033 may have been owned by the 

Cwmcarnedd Estate, it was not regarded as being common land or ‘waste of the 
manor’ in 1846. The enclosure was occupied by a single tenant and used as 
pasture. The depiction of common land on Tithe Maps does vary. Common land 
may be shown and described as such on Tithe Maps and Apportionments. 
Alternatively, it may be outside the boundary of the apportionment, or with no 
enclosure number, although sometimes may be labelled as ‘Common.’  

 
41. The Open Spaces Society representative has acknowledged that the Tithe Map 

provides evidence of the historic status of the application land, in his email of 5th 
April 2018. He comments that he agrees that ”..this tends to show that the land was 
not sheepwalk at the date of tithe commutation (about 1840). It provides good 
evidence of the status of the land at that time, although it cannot show that the land 

Page 154



Page 7 of 11 
 

was not common land at the date of provisional registration — only that it rules out 
the possibility that the land was historically not common land.” 

 
42. Extracts from the Finance Act 1910 map and ‘Duties on Land Values’ book, for 

hereditaments 170 and 171: 
The application land falls within the area shown on the Finance Act 1910 Map as 
being hereditament 170. Hereditament 171 is not shown on the map extract 
provided by the applicant. 

 
43. The Finance Act 1910 records note the use and state of occupation of land at the 

time of survey. They provide some detail about easements, rights and restrictions 
on the land. This includes any deductions claimed for rights of common.  
 

44. The extract from the ‘Duties on Land Values’ book for hereditament 170 describes 
the land as ‘House and Land’ at Rhiwgriafol. The occupier at that time was Evan 
Jones; the person making the return was Margaret Francis.  

 
45. It is of note that the return does include a line titled ‘If copyhold, name of the Manor’; 

this has not been completed for hereditament 170, presumably because in the line 
above, the land as noted as being in freehold ownership. 

 
46. The land is described as being a farm and outbuilding, and ‘Wholly agricultural.’ 

The land is not described as being waste of the manor, or subject to any right of 
common. The owner of the land would be entitled to claim a deduction from the 
rateable value, in relation to rights of common. Claiming a deduction falsely would 
be an offence, so where one is claimed, it is good evidence of the existence of the 
right. However, there was no requirement to declare and claim a deduction, so the 
fact that none has been claimed cannot rule out the existence of rights of common. 

 
47. In his email of 27th June 2018, the Open Spaces Society representative queried 

whether the land subject of this application was open, uncultivated and unoccupied 
at the date of provisional registration.  

 
48. The Finance Act 1910 map does provide some useful information in relation to this. 

The Ordnance Survey base map used – which was at a scale of 25 inches to the 
mile (1:2500) – does show a boundary feature, along the northern, southern, 
western and part of the eastern sides of the application land. This boundary is in 
the same location as the boundary line shown on the current Ordnance Survey 
maps and on the 1:10,560 scale base map used for the Register of Common land 
itself; it does not appear to have changed. However, the eastern boundary is not 
complete and the land is partially open to the rest of the common. 

 
49. 1922 conveyance, from Mrs Margaret Francis and others to Mr Richard Jones of 

freehold hereditaments and premises known as Rhiwgriafol: 
This records the transfer of land at Rhiwgriafol from Mrs M Francis to Mr Jones 
and includes a plan of the land concerned. 
 

50. First, it is of note that the land was transferred from Mrs Francis – who completed 
the return for the Finance Act 1910 – to Mr Jones. This suggests that certainly in 
the period from 1910 to 1922, the land was not owned by a manor. 

Page 155



Page 8 of 11 
 

 
51. Second, the Schedule to the conveyance lists both the named and numbered fields 

subject of the transfer, and ‘Also Sheepwalk.’ The conveyance notes that the farm, 
outbuildings and parcels of land called Rhiwgriafol are described in the Schedule 
to the conveyance. It is noted that the ‘Abuttals and boundaries thereof’ are 
delineated and coloured on the plan, with farm and lands being pink and the 
‘Sheepwalk’ being green. 

 
52. As the applicant notes in their letter of 24th January 2018, the land subject of this 

application is coloured in pink, in the same way as the enclosures surrounding 
Rhiw-griafol house and the adjoining woodland. None of the other areas coloured 
in pink on this 1922 conveyance were subsequently registered as common land.  

 
53. Most (although not all) of the area coloured in green to indicate the sheepwalk is 

now registered as being part of MCL76; it forms areas C, Q and K of the common.  
 

54. A copy of the grant of probate to the estate to Mrs Wilkins’ grandfather: 
This is dated 11th April 1951 and records the grant of probate of the estate of the 
late Mr Richard Jones (Mrs Wilkins’ grandfather) to his executor, Mr EH Jones.  
 

55. A copy assent of the estate of Mrs Wilkins’ grandfather to her grandmother: 
This records the vesting of the estate of the late Mr Richard Jones to his widow, 
Mrs H Jones (Mrs Wilkins’ grandmother.) It is dated 12th December 1951 and 
describes the land as being ‘All that farm with the messuage or farmhouse farm 
and other outbuildings, closes or parcels of land called Rhiwgriafol’ and also the 
Sheepwalk; it refers back to the Schedule to the 1922 conveyance and so includes 
the application land. 
 

56. A copy of the 1953 grant letters of administration to the estate of Mrs Wilkins’ 
grandmother, to her father Mr EH Jones:  
This is dated 7th August 1953 and records the grant of probate of the estate of Mrs 
Wilkins grandmother (Mrs H Jones) to her father, Mr EH Jones. 
 

57. A copy of the 1955 assent whereby Mr EH Jones vested the title to the lands at 
Rhiwgriafol into his sole name: 
This is dated 16th March 1954 and relates to the vesting of the title to the lands at 
Rhiwgriafol in Mr EH Jones’ sole name. It refers back to and includes the lands 
subject of the 1922 conveyance; it notes the sheepwalk as being coloured in green. 
 

58. A copy of the 1985 conveyance through which Mr EH jones transferred title to the 
land to the joint names of himself and Mrs Wilkins’ mother, Mrs ME Jones: 
This is dated 9th August 1985 and records the transfer of title to the land at 
Rhiwgriafol into the joint names of Mr EH Jones and Mrs ME Jones, who was Mrs 
Wilkins’ mother. Again, it refers back to all of the land includes the 1922 
conveyance, so includes the application land.  
 

59. The above series of documents does provide evidence that in the period from 1922 
to 1985, the land subject of this application was owned by and transferred between 
members of Mrs Wilkins’ family, so not part of a manor. It does span the date of 
provisional registration of this area of common land, which was 4th November 1969. 

Page 156



Page 9 of 11 
 

 
60. Photographic evidence obtained from officer site visit: 

The Commons Registration Authority can make use of the site visit to put up notices 
as an opportunity to make a site inspection. As noted above, a site visit was made 
on 28th November 2018 by the Definitive Map and Commons Registration Officer 
and site photos were taken. 
 

61. Some of the photos are at appendix 38. The application land is similar in character 
and vegetation to the adjoining areas of registered common MCL76. However, the 
partial boundary on the eastern side of the common is still very much in evidence 
on the ground, as a pronounced embankment. The ground to the north and south 
of the application land slopes away very steeply, to deep valleys. 
 

Whether immediately before its provisional registration the land was a town or village 
green within the meaning of the 1965 Act as originally enacted: 
62. To meet this requirement, the applicant must be able to demonstrate that at the 

date of provisional registration, the land was not: 

• Land which has been allotted by or under any Act for the exercise or recreation of 
the inhabitants of any locality; or 

• Land on which the inhabitants of any locality have a customary right to indulge in 
lawful sports and pastimes; or 

• Land on which the inhabitants of any locality have indulged in such sports and 
pastimes as of right for not less than twenty years. 

 
63. Recreational allotments, which were later eligible to be registered as Town or 

Village Greens, were set out in Inclosure Awards. However, no Inclosure Award 
has been identified which includes the land subject of this application. Neither has 
any person put forward any evidence that the land has been allotted by or under 
any other Act for the exercise or recreation of the inhabitants of any locality. 
 

64. No person has put forward any evidence that the land was subject to any customary 
right to indulge in lawful sports and pastimes, or that they indulged in such sports 
or pastimes in the 20 years prior to the date of provisional registration. Glantwymyn 
Community Council were consulted; notices were placed on site and on the Council 
website, so opportunity was provided for any such evidence to be put forward.  

 
65. In his statutory declaration, Mr Wigley comments that for as long as he can 

remember, the land subject of the application (area Y) has formed part of 
Rhiwgriafol and has never been regarded as a village green. Mr Wigley goes on to 
explain that he understands a Town or Village Green to be an open space which 
has been used by local inhabitants for the purpose of recreation or playing games. 

 
66. The Open Spaces Society representative notes that Mr Wigley’s statutory 

declaration is “helpful, but not sufficient.” He has not commented on whether the 
application land was a Town or Village Green at the date of provisional registration. 
 

Whether immediately before its provisional registration, the land was of a description 
specified in section 11 of the Inclosure Act 1845 (c. 118). 
67. Section 11 of the Inclosure Act 1845 describes several classes of land that are not 

true common land, including regulated pastures. Some of these areas of land were 

Page 157



Page 10 of 11 
 

put forward for registration under the Commons Registration Act 1965, although 
they did not actually meet the definition set out under the 1965 Act for registration 
as common land. Although these areas should not have been registered pursuant 
to the 1965 Act, provision has not been made to remove them from the Register 
now, under the Commons Act 2006. 

 
68. As noted above, no Inclosure Award has been identified that includes the area of 

land subject of this application. No other evidence has been put forward to indicate 
that the land subject of this application was of a description specified in section 11 
of the Inclosure Act 1845.  

 
Officer summary: 
69. The first three legal criteria are matters of fact that are evidenced from the Register 

of Common Land itself. The Register records that the land was provisionally 
registered under part 4 of the Commons Registration Act 1965, that the registration 
became final and that it was not referred to a Commons Commissioner. No rights 
of common are registered as being exercisable over this area of land. 
 

70. The representations from the Open Spaces Society focus mainly on whether the 
land subject of this application was waste land of the manor, at the date of its 
provisional registration as common land. In relation to that, it is felt that the applicant 
has demonstrated that the land was not part of a manor at the date of provisional 
registration, being 4th November 1969. This is supported by the Finance Act 1910 
documents and subsequent series of conveyances and transfers between 
members of Mrs Wilkins’ family, which span the date of provisional registration.  

 
71. There is less clarity about whether the land was open, uncultivated and unoccupied 

at the time of provisional registration, because the boundary on the eastern side of 
the land seems to have been incomplete. However, as the Open Spaces Society 
representative has commented, the applicant is only required to demonstrate that 
one of the two criteria for the land being waste of the manor is not met, to fulfil this 
legal test.  

 
72. Little information has been provided about whether the land might have been a 

Town or Village Green at the time of provisional registration. The applicant has 
provided one statutory declaration that refers to this issue; no counter evidence has 
been provided. 

 
73. In summary, on the basis of the information put forward by the applicant and the 

documents already in the keeping of the Commons Registration Authority, it is 
considered that this application meets the criteria set out under paragraph 7 of 
Schedule 22 to the Commons Act 2006.  

 
RECOMMENDATION:   
That application 17-001CA be granted as made and that 19.27 hectares of land be 
removed from the Register of Common Land, as shown on the plan at appendix 3. 
 
 
 
 

Page 158



Page 11 of 11 
 

Appendices: 
 
Appendix 
number: 

Description: 

1 Copy of application 17-001CA 
2 Location plan showing application land 

3 Detailed plan showing application land 
4 A supporting document list 
5 Ordnance Survey map, showing the land subject of the application  
6 Extract from the Land Registry title plan  
7 2010 aerial photograph from the Single Application Form  
8 1922 conveyance, from Mrs M Francis and others to Mr Richard Jones 

9 An extract from the Tithe Map for Penegoes dated 1846 
10 Copy of Finance Act 1910 ‘Duties on Land Values’ for hereditament 170 
11 Copy of Finance Act 1910 ‘Duties on Land Values’ for hereditament 171  
12 An extract from the Finance Act 1910 map, showing hereditament 170  
13 Welsh Government Glastir map 
14 Welsh Government Glastir survey plan 
15 Annotated plans from, and relating to the Register of Common Land for 

Area Y of registered common MCL76  

16 Annotated text and map extracts from the Register of Common Land for 
registered common MCL76 

17 Statutory declaration from Mr G Wigley of Rhosdyrnog Farm  
18 Applicant letter of 9th April 2018, outlining sequence of land transfers  
19 Copy of the grant of probate to the estate to Mrs Wilkins’ grandfather  
20 Copy assent of the estate of Mrs Wilkins’ grandfather to her grandmother 
21 Copy of the 1953 grant letters of administration to the estate of Mrs 

Wilkins’ grandmother, to her father Mr EH Jones 

22 A copy of the 1955 assent to Mr EH Jones sole name 
23 Copy of the 1985 conveyance to the joint names of Mr EH Jones and 

Mrs Wilkins’ mother 
24 Applicant’s letter dated 19th June 2018 
25 OSS email dated 10th January 2018 
26 OSS email dated 15th January 2018 
27 OSS email dated 7th February 2018  
28 OSS email dated 6th March 2018 

29 OSS email dated 5th April 2018 
30 OSS email dated 16th April 2018 
31 Email dated 27th June 2018 
32 Applicant email dated 24th January 2018 
33 Applicant letter dated 15th February 2018 
34 Applicant letter and documents dated 16th March 2018 

35 Applicant letter dated 28th April 2018 
36 Commons Register extract, written Land section 
37 Commons Register extract, Register plan 
38 Site photographs taken 28th November 2018 

 

Page 159



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1

Page 161



Page 162



Page 163



Page 164



Cyngor Sir County Council

Appendix 2

P
age 165



T
his page is intentionally left blank



P
at

h

Track

Track

Fedw

Shaft

Track

Sidan
Nant Gwidol

Ponds

Ford

Ford

Nant Gwidol

Cyngor Sir County Council

Printed by: 

 

clairer Date 31/10/2017 For Identification Purposes only

COMMONS REGISTRATION AUTHORITY

Application to remove land forming part of register unit (CL76) Montgomeryshire

Registered Common Land

Land subject to application

MCL076

© Crown copyright and database rights 2017 Ordnance Survey 100025371
© Hawlfraint y Goron a hawliau cronfa ddata 2017 Arolwg Ordnans 100025371
Additional information © Powys County Council 2017 No additional copies should be made without the permission of the Council.
Gwybodaeth ychwanegol © Cyngor Sir Powys 2017 Ni ddylid gwneud unrhyw gopïau ychwanegol heb ganiatâd y Cyngor.

284750

284750

285000

285000

285250

285250

285500

285500

285750

285750

286000

286000

286250

286250
29

95
00

29
95

00

29
92

50

29
92

50

29
90

00

29
90

00

29
87

50

29
87

50

500 m

Appendix 3

P
age 167



T
his page is intentionally left blank



?,. l\enei �')� � la.,__.J 'u..... 'V-4-9-h°cn,... Af:' 1w>.f �10. 

� ���CJL � lcu.,.J.. � ( q � � v\,� -R �c..lui.u:1 d � 

L � -� 6r- � ...:Je..-- '51/4W.J_, _) � l.,__.,__ �� .k . ...J 
L6v\�,e_J. 

5. � 'ro.,,_� -C-� ,M.o__p 124-o � --S,� �- /033...,tc,�
9\-�� r��� 

b. �� � \J�� � lC\to ���\,'-�- (18\).
/<-ef .. 17 0 }7t'"D V'J'� % lCl-1.,j. V�. l O g.�

t. �� ��, �.__�ct-- �-';)\� v - �� �CQJ.
� l<L.r-Jl l y ' � 8t�-cl.A lAo. 71 \ 3.

�- ��$ .((_�S�� "� �'tf-s� J_4-�� d.COl\- - �

� \� 'Y' �� � � e_� c��� --b � 
� � �vo...u. �t��5) �� -

q. $�\:� �� � �'-� ���.

Appendix 4

Page 169



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 5

Page 171



This page is intentionally left blank



, 
/ 

, 
.1 I ,, 

'I, ' 
\ 

\ 

' 
:,,,•'

1' 
,1 

1' ,1 
1' i'I I d. 
,, ,, 
1• ,,,,,, ,,
tl 

,,,, ,, 
1' 
1' ,,,, 

r' 
,,,, ,, ,,

I 
I 

,,, 
I 

I 

,, 
I I 

I 
I 

JI 

,, 
I 

I 

I 
I 

I 

I 
I 

,, 
I I 

Ir 
I I 

I I 

, ,,, ,, 
I

t 

1' ,,,,
t 

I 
,, ,, 
1' ,, ,, ,.,,•',,,,,,•',, : f...::_:-:_::--=_::_-::_:-:_::--=_::_-=-::-=-=-::-.• 
,, ,,,, 
,I 

;, 

:,

/,!
'

{{ 
JI 
JI "
JI 

II 

II 

/I ,. 
II 

,, ,, ,,,, ,, ,,,,,,,,,,,,,,
,1 
J, 

I!

II 

1 I 
,,,, , , 

, 1 ,. ,,,, 
,,,, 

.d 

\ 

\ 
\ 
\ 

,1 
I 
I 
I 
I 

I 
JI 

II 
II 

II 
/J 

II 
II 

II 
/I 

II 

II 
// 

/I 

I/ 
II 

II 

II 
11 

II 

II 
II 

JI 
,,
II 

II 
""

____ 
Ill 

fl 
JI 
II 
II 

11 
I 
II 
II 
IJ ,, 

II 
I' 

II 
(I 

Ii 
II 
II 
11 
JI 
IJ 
II 

II 
Ii 
II 
fl 
Ii 

I 

I 

I 
I 
I 
I 

:1 I ,, 
I I ,, 

I I 

,,/' ,, ,, ,,
I I 

I I 

,,,, ,, ,, 
I, 

I 
I 

I I 

,,,, 
,,,,,, 

I 
I 
I ' 
I 
I 
I 
I 
J 
I 

I 
I ' 
I ,, 
I ,, 
I '�, 
I 'I,\ ,, ,, ,, ,, ,,

\ 

\ \ 

...... .. .... ' ' 

I 
I 

\ 

/I 

'\ 

N \ ,, I ,,, 
\ # 

,,; \ 
H 

I 

I 
I '

I 
I 
I 

I '
I 

, 

:z 

, 
I , 

, 
I 

I 

I 
1 ... ,-,

er. 
a 
ro 

""'CJ 
-

OJ 
::J 

' 

, 

', 
\ 

,. ... I 
j I 

I , , 
I 

I 
I 

\-

Appendix 6

Page 173



Page 174



Appendix 7

P
age 175



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 8

Page 177



Page 178



Page 179



Page 180



Page 181



Page 182



Page 183



Page 184



Ap
pe

nd
ix

 9

Page 185



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 10

Page 187



Page 188



Page 189



Page 190



Page 191



Page 192



Appendix 11

Page 193



Page 194



Page 195



Page 196



Ap
pe

nd
ix

 1
2

Page 197



Page 198



Appendix 13

P
age 199



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 14

Page 201



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 15

P
age 203



Page 204



Page 205



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 16

P
age 207



Page 208



Page 209



Page 210



Appendix 17

Page 211



Page 212



Page 213



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 18

Page 215



Page 216



Appendix 19

Page 217



Page 218



Appendix 20

P
age 219



Page 220



Page 221



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 21

Page 223



Page 224



Appendix 22

P
age 225



Page 226



Page 227



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 23

Page 229



Page 230



Page 231



Page 232



Appendix 24

Page 233



Page 234



Page 235



This page is intentionally left blank



�

���������	�
��������������
�����������
�

����� ��������		
��� �
���
������

����� ���������������������

��� �
��
�������������
�� �!"�#�$������%

�������� �&��'
�����
(��))*�����
�������+�	���	��������
��
���,������-

Hi Claire 

Thank you very much for the scans of the supporting information, and for the clear way in which 
they were labelled — this has made handling the documents so much easier! 

We wish to object to this application, but in doing so, we believe that clarification of and addition to 
the evidence may enable us to withdraw the objection.  We therefore would welcome further 
comment.  The society has no legal interest in the land. 

Firstly, there is the question of whether the application land satisfies the test in para.7(2)(a)–(c) of 
Sch.2 to the 2006 Act.  In the extract of the land section of the register (item N), it is stated: 
'Commons Commissioners Decision: The registration at entry no.1 above, became final on the 
26th July 1973, with the following modification:– [A as regards a correction of the area] B The land 
hatched black comprising an area of 371.110 ha (917.227 acres) has been removed from the 
register.'  It is not clear whether those modifications were in fact the product of a referral to the 
Commissioner — in which case, application cannot now be made under para.7 — or whether they 
are merely the result of a withdrawal of an original application to provisionally register the land 
hatched black.  We do not have a copy of the Commons Commissioner's decision into the 
registration of the land, but one may exist. 

The application data contain some evidence that the application land was historically regarded as 
part of Rhiwgriafol farm, and not common land.  However, it is difficult to see the whole picture, as 
there is no overall analysis of the evidence, its meaning, and the conclusions which may be drawn 
from it as a whole.  I will comment on the evidence in turn, and using the same labels as you 
used; where there is no comment, it does not seem to offer any evidential value: 

• A: Application form: it is stated (item 9) that the Ramblers 'applied to have the land
registered as common land but subsequently agreed it was not'.  However, no evidence is
supplied of this agreement.

• C: OS plan identifying land.

• D: Land Registry title plan.

• E: SPS map.

• F: 1922 conveyance: this asserts the application land to be part of the holding vice the
'Sheepwalk' at the date of conveyance.

• G: Parish tithe map: this shows the application land to be assigned parcel 1033, but no
evidence is adduced as to the stated use of the land in the apportionment.

• H/I: Finance (1909–1910) Act 1910: this shows that the owner of hereditaments 170 and
171 did not claim, nor was awarded, any deduction for the status of any part of the land as
common land (item (p)(iv)).  However…

• J: Finance Act map: …as the map shows that hereditament 170 included much, if not all, of 
what was subsequently registered as register unit CL76, including land which was
expressly recognised in the 1922 conveyance as 'Sheepwalk', it follows either than the
owner did not wish to seek a deduction, or that the owner did not recognise any of that land
as common land in 1913 (when the return was made).  Either way, nothing can be deduced 

Appendix 25

Page 237



�

from items H–J about the status of the application land.  (The extent of hereditament 171 is 
not marked on the item J map.) 

• K: Glastir map. 

• L: Glastir survey map. 

• M/N: Common land register extracts: these are not in colour, and it is difficult to infer what 
land is registered within common land register unit CL76.  There are various annotations 
which do not explain themselves (e.g. 'Entry 3 — GIS Map').  There is no evidence as to 
what rights (if any) were registered as exercisable over the application land, and whether 
the right holders accede to the application. 

• O: Statutory declaration by Geraint Wigley: this is helpful, but not sufficient. 

In summary, we do not find the evidence, as presented, is sufficient to show that the statutory 
tests for deregistration set out in para.7(2)(d) of Sch.2 to the 2006 Act are satisfied as regards the 
application land.  In particular, there is little information as to whether the land satisfied those tests 
at the date of provisional registration. 

The statutory tests for deregistration under para.7 are intended to be challenging.  There was no 
intention, in enacting the 2006 Act, that the registers should generally be reopened to enable any 
registration under the 1965 Act to be cancelled.  It is not for objectors to provide evidence that the 
application land was properly registered, but for the applicant to supply evidence that the statutory 
tests are satisfied.  At present, the application does not do that, and must be refused. 

regards 

Hugh  

 
�

��������		
���

������������

������������
������

����������������

�������
��������

�� ���!�

"����#�� ��

&&&%
%
��%���

���#�'() (��*+�+��

,������
��������-�&
���.
�	��/�0�	��	�����	�����	���

1��������	����"�����	���	�0���/�������	��
���������2���*3)4�(4�

��������	������������2���(())3)'5�

�

������������	��
�������������� 
�����������������������������������
���
�

�
 

----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

The Open Spaces Society has staff with exhaustive experience in handling matters  

related to our charitable purposes.  While every endeavour has been made to give  

our considered opinion, the law in these matters is complex and subject to differing 

interpretations.  Such opinion is offered to help members, but does not constitute  

formal legal advice. 

----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

 
 

Page 238



�

����������	
��
���������������	���
��
	���
��������������	
��
��� ����!����"#��

���	��$%�&
�
�'
	��$�(�$)��*�


���+�!,��	�����"�
�����	��-.��/����
��0��  ���������	
�
��
�����
	��,
��������1����$$*�

�

��������	�

�


	���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������	������������ ���!����

�	������������	������������������������������	��������������������"������	��� �������������

�

#����$�������

�

Claire Lewis 
Swyddog Cynorthwyol Cofrestru Tir Comin a Mapiau Diffiniol 
Assistant Commons Registration and Definitive Map Officer 
Ffon/Tel: 01597 827625  Ffacs/Fax: 01597 829062 
Ebost/Email: claire.lewis@powys.gov.uk�

Page 239



This page is intentionally left blank



�

���������	�
��������������
�����������
�

����� ��������		
��� �
���
������

����� ���������������������

��� �
��
�������� �� �
��!�"#�$�%������&

�������� �'��(
 ����
)��**+��� �
�������,�	���	��� ����
��
���-� ����.

Hi Claire 

Thank you for your email, and the copy of the land section of the register.  We are happy with your 
assurance that the provisional registration of MCL076 was not referred to the Commons 
Commissioner. 

Under r.5(3) of the 2017 Regulations, the applicant is not required to enclose with an application a 
copy of a document which is issued by the commons registration authority, or which is deposited 
with it.  This will certainly exclude any requirement to submit a copy of the register itself, or of 
many of the documents contained in the authority’s historic records archive.  I do not know 
whether a tithe map and apportionment were specifically required to be deposited with the county 
council, and it may be that the council’s copies were acquired by agreement from individual parish 
councils, rather than on statutory deposit. 

Even if the applicant is, under r.5(3), not required to submit a copy, the application must cite the 
document and explain why it is relevant, else the document cannot be part of the application.  In 
this case, I do not think that the applicant has demonstrated why the extract from the tithe map is 
relevant and how it helps the applicant’s case, even if the relevant documents fall within the scope 
of r.5(3).  The tithe apportionment does not appear in the list of supporting documents (item B 
among the scanned attachments), so it cannot form part of the application (as originally made). 

If an applicant does rely on r.5(3), and does not submit a copy of document, but lists it, and 
explains its relevance, the implication must be that the commons registration authority will make a 
copy of the document available for inspection under r.13.  Unfortunately, this is not quite the effect 
of r.13(1)(a), which requires the authority to make available ‘copies of the application and any 
accompanying documents’ (whereas a document omitted under r.5(3) will not ‘accompany’ the 
application as such).  But we think that must be the intention, and it is a matter of natural justice 
that other parties can see the applicant’s case and the documents on which the applicant relies — 
and without having to make separate, and time-consuming, enquiries to another part of the 
council’s services. 

We have no objection if part of the applicant’s evidence relies on a document which is freely 
available on the web.  But if it is, we would expect the document either to be copied as part of the 
application, or at the very least, a URL provided which downloads the document without significant 
further interaction.  In practice, a reference merely to places.library.wales can be quite unhelpful, 
particularly for someone who is not computer literate, as identifying the relevant part of the 
relevant apportionment will inevitably be quite time consuming. Perhaps it is possible to give a 
URL to the relevant part of the parish apportionment?  But just to reiterate our original point, so far 
as we are aware, the applicant has not yet sought to rely on the apportionment. 

You might like to raise these issues with your colleagues in the Association of Commons 
Registration Authorities: you are welcome to copy our exchange to Martin or other directors if you 
wish. 

regards 

Hugh 

�

��������		
���

Appendix 26

Page 241



�

������������

������������
������

����������������

�������
��������

�� ���!�

"����#� ���

&&&%
%
��%���

���#�'() (��*+�+��

,������
��������-�&
���.
�	��/�0�	��	�����	�����	���

1��������	����"�����	���	�0���/�������	��
���������2���*3)4�(4�

��������	������������2���(())3)'5�

�

������������	��
�������������� 
�����������������������������������
���
�

�
----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

The Open Spaces Society has staff with exhaustive experience in handling matters  

related to our charitable purposes.  While every endeavour has been made to give  

our considered opinion, the law in these matters is complex and subject to differing 

interpretations.  Such opinion is offered to help members, but does not constitute  

formal legal advice. 

----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

 

�����������	�
	��������������������	��	����	����������������	��	���������� ����!"����	
���������������

#	 ����������������$	�	�����
�
�������%��������&�'�����&�

����(� )��������!�
����
����*����	��+��������������	�	��	�����	���)	���������,����&&-�

�

��������	�

�


�����������������������������������������������������	�������������������������������������������������������

�	�������������������������������
������������������������������	����	��������������������������� ���

!"#$%&���������������������#���'������"������"������������(������)	��������	������������������������

���	������������������������������������������)	���	�������������������������������	��������������������	��

���������������������������	��	��������������
������	������������	��#���'����������	�����������������������

������������*����	����������������	��"#%&��������������������������	���������������	��������������������)	��

+��������*��������������������������,&�	�-����./%0��

�

1�2���	�����2���
���������������������	���	����2����	�������������������������������������������)	�����������

�����������������������������������������������������2���������������	�����������3������������������������

�����������	��+�����������*��	���������	������4���'	�������������	�����������������	�������������2����������������	��

���������������������	��	���������������������������������������	����������������������������	��	��

����������5���

�

'�����������	�������������	���''�2���������������������	������	����������������������5�
�������	����������������	��

�''�	�2���6��������	��������������	�2�����2��������6������������	����6������	��)��	��!������2���	������������

�������	����788��������������������8��������������������������	�������������������������������	���������������	��

�6������	����	��"+*�������������������������	���2����	���������5�

�


���������������������������������	�������	�����������2������������������������������������������

�

9���+�������

�

Claire Lewis 
Swyddog Cynorthwyol Cofrestru Tir Comin a Mapiau Diffiniol 

Page 242



.

Assistant Commons Registration and Definitive Map Officer 
Ffon/Tel: 01597 827625  Ffacs/Fax: 01597 829062 
Ebost/Email: claire.lewis@powys.gov.uk�

Page 243



This page is intentionally left blank



�

���������	�
��������������
�����������
�

����� ��������		
��� ���
������

����� ����������������������

��� ������� �!���"�#$�%��
�&'����	��#��(����)

�������� *+��,--����'�
&�.
������*������(�	��&	���'����
//
&��,�'����01�2&�'�.
��3� �0�

454

Hi Claire 

Thank you for the applicant's further statement. 

I'm sure that Mrs Wilkins is trying to do her best, but I'm afraid we're not there yet. 

The information regarding the tithe apportionment (i.e. the entries for each parcel of land identified 
by number on the tithe map) is relevant, but we have not seen a copy of the particular entries, only 
Mrs Wilkins' recital of them.  We really should see this — or a link to where they can be seen 
online (and as previously stated, a bit more specific than a pointer to the national database). 

I don't think the other comments take us much further forward.  We commented on the Finance 
(1909–1910) Act 1910 evidence in the original objection. 

While Mrs Wilkins' assertion that the land 'wasn't waste of the manor as far as I know' is no doubt 
sincerely made, it does not really amount to evidence (nor is it more than one might expect any 
applicant to assert). 

There also appears to be some misunderstanding, because the final paragraph of the statement 
suggests that Mrs Wilkins wishes to be registered as the legal owner of the application land, and 
to have it registered in her name.  This application will achieve neither (although I had assumed 
that Mrs Wilkins already was the owner). 

regards 

Hugh 

�

��������		
���

������������

������������
������

����������������

�������
��������

�� ���!�

"����# ��

&&&%
%
��%���

���#� �

,������
��������-�&
���.
�	��/�0�	��	�����	�����	���

1��������	����"�����	���	�0���/�������	��
���������2���*3)4�(4�

��������	������������2���(())3)'5�

�

������������	��
�������������� 
�����������������������������������
���
�

�

----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

The Open Spaces Society has staff with exhaustive experience in handling matters  

related to our charitable purposes.  While every endeavour has been made to give  

Appendix 27

Page 245



�

our considered opinion, the law in these matters is complex and subject to differing 

interpretations.  Such opinion is offered to help members, but does not constitute  

formal legal advice. 

----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

 
 

 

�����������	�
	��������������������	��	����	����������������	��	���������� ����!"��

���	���#�$��������%�&��'�()�

���*� +��������!�

�����	��,�����������-���%%��.��	�	��	�����	���+	���������,����%%'/�0����-���1�
)'�232�

�

��������	�

�


���������������	������������������	������������������������������������������	�����	��������	������������

�

�������������

�

Claire Lewis 
Swyddog Cynorthwyol Cofrestru Tir Comin a Mapiau Diffiniol 
Assistant Commons Registration and Definitive Map Officer 
Ffon/Tel: 01597 827625  Ffacs/Fax: 01597 829062 
Ebost/Email: claire.lewis@powys.gov.uk�

�

 

Page 246



�

���������	�
��������������
�����������
�

����� ��������		
��� ��
������

����� �������������������

��� ��������������� !�"��
�#$�%��	�� ��&����'

�������� ()��*++����$�
#�,
������(������&�	��#	����
--
#��*�$����./�0#�$�,
������1.�

*����232

Hi Claire 

Thank you for sight of Mrs Wilkins' further comments.  I am a little confused by these: the covering 
letter dated 12 February is new, but the 'amended letter' appears to be a manuscript version of the 
email to you dated 24 January (which you have previously copied to me), now with amendments, 
also in manuscript.  It is not entirely clear what are the amendments, but I note that there is a new 
sentence beginning, 'In the apportionment schedule of the farmland to go with the Valuation 
Map,… .'  But I'm afraid I simply don't understand this new sentence: it refers to tithes and we are 
referred to (I assume) the online tithe documentation, but these have no connection with the 
valuation map, and precede it by around 70 years. 

On the third page of the enclosed pdf (this follows the amended manuscript letter), there is a 
document labelled, 'Map of the inclosed land of the parish of darowen in the County of I', but the 
copy is not of a map, and the quality of the reproduction makes it impossible to read the text. It 
may be an illegible page from the relevant tithe apportionment. 

I'm afraid this response doesn't take us any further forward.  Again, we are happy to review further 
evidence, but it must be in a form which we can work with, and relate to what we have already 
seen.  I can appreciate that Mrs Wilkins is struggling to make her case, but the Society's 
objectives generally are to oppose the deregistration of common land, and it is not unreasonable 
to expect that, where an application is made, the burden lies on the applicant to make her case, 
and not on the society, or any other objector, to assist the applicant to make it.  I have no doubt 
that professional advice can be obtained if needs be. 

regards 

Hugh 

�

��������		
���

������������

������������
������

����������������

�������
��������

�� ���!�

"����#�����$
%
��%���

&&&%
%
��%���

���#�'() (��*+�+��

,������
��������-�&
���.
�	��/�0�	��	�����	�����	���

1��������	����"�����	���	�0���/�������	��
���������2���*3)4�(4�

��������	������������2���(())3)'5�

�

������������	��
�������������� 
�����������������������������������
���
�

�

Appendix 28

Page 247



�

 

----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

The Open Spaces Society has staff with exhaustive experience in handling matters  

related to our charitable purposes.  While every endeavour has been made to give  

our considered opinion, the law in these matters is complex and subject to differing 

interpretations.  Such opinion is offered to help members, but does not constitute  

formal legal advice. 

----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

 
 

 

�����������	�
	��������������������	��	����	����������������	��	���������� ����!"��

���	���#�$	%�������&�'��&�#&�


���(� )��������!�
�����	��*�����������+���&&��,��	�	��	�����	����������*����&&-.�/����+���0�
&1-�*�	��232�

�

��������	�

�


������	����������	����������������������������������������������������������������	����	�����������

�

�������������

�

Claire Lewis 
Swyddog Cynorthwyol Cofrestru Tir Comin a Mapiau Diffiniol 
Assistant Commons Registration and Definitive Map Officer 
Ffon/Tel: 01597 827625  Ffacs/Fax: 01597 829062 
Ebost/Email: claire.lewis@powys.gov.uk�

Page 248



1

Claire Lewis (CSP - Countryside Services)

From: Hugh Craddock < >

Sent: 04 April 2018 09:11

To: Claire Lewis (CSP - Countryside Services)

Subject: RE: Application No. 001CR received under the Commons Act 2006, Unit No. MCL76 

'Y'

Hi Claire 

Thank you for your email of 20 March, enclosing a new representation from the applicant and 
enclosures. 

To my surprise, I was successfully able to transcribe the manuscript URL, and obtained the 
relevant extract from the tithe apportionment (the URL is here, for the record).  I agree that this 
tends to show that the land was not sheepwalk at the date of tithe commutation (about 1840).  It 
provides good evidence of the status of the land at that time, although it cannot show that the land 
was not common land at the date of provisional registration — only that it rules out the possibility 
that the land was historically not common land.  We also note evidence of the Ramblers' 
Association's subsequent resilement from the provisional registration made by it. 

So far as I recall, we have had no evidence on the question of whether the land was manorial 
waste at the date of provisional registration, other than the applicant's assertion.  However, it may 
be, as maps suggest, that the application land is enclosed from the common by fencing or walls, 
and the applicant can show that this was the case at the date of provisional registration. 

We have no further comments. 

regards 

Hugh 

Hugh Craddock 

Case Officer 

Open Spaces Society 

25a Bell Street 

Henley-on-Thames 

RG9 2BA 

Email:  

www.oss.org.uk 

Tel:  

Please note that I work Mondays, Wednesdays and Thursdays 

(Registered in England and Wales, limited company number 7846516 

Registered charity number 1144840) 

Lost commons: the rescue begins 
Please support our effort to record them 

----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

The Open Spaces Society has staff with exhaustive experience in handling matters  

related to our charitable purposes.  While every endeavour has been made to give  

our considered opinion, the law in these matters is complex and subject to differing 

interpretations.  Such opinion is offered to help members, but does not constitute  

formal legal advice. 

Appendix 29

Page 249



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Claire Lewis (CSP - Countryside Services)

From: Hugh Craddock < >

Sent: 16 April 2018 09:52

To: Claire Lewis (CSP - Countryside Services)

Subject: RE: Application No. 001CR received under the Commons Act 2006, Unit No. MCL76 

'Y'

Hi Claire 

Thank you for sight of the applicant’s letter dated 9 April. 

I am not sure of the relevance of the ownership information, as ownership is immaterial to a para.7 
application — anyone can apply, provided that they can adduce the required evidence. 

I note that the applicant cannot add any new evidence on the status of the application land as not 
being (or no longer being) waste of the manor, and we therefore cannot add to our comment in the 
third paragraph of our email dated 5 April (beginning, ‘So far as I recall’). 

However, I note that there is a typo in the second paragraph of that email (beginning, ‘To my 
surprise’).  After the em dash, it should read, ‘only that it rules out the possibility that the land was 
historically common land.’  (At least, historically in the sense of the first half of the nineteenth 
century.) 

regards 

Hugh 

Hugh Craddock 

Case Officer 

Open Spaces Society 

25a Bell Street 

Henley-on-Thames 

RG9 2BA 

Email:  

www.oss.org.uk 

Tel:  

Please note that I work Mondays, Wednesdays and Thursdays 

(Registered in England and Wales, limited company number 7846516 

Registered charity number 1144840) 

Lost commons: the rescue begins 
Please support our effort to record them 

----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

The Open Spaces Society has staff with exhaustive experience in handling matters  

related to our charitable purposes.  While every endeavour has been made to give  

our considered opinion, the law in these matters is complex and subject to differing 

interpretations.  Such opinion is offered to help members, but does not constitute  

formal legal advice. 

----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

Appendix 30

Page 251



2

From: Claire Lewis (CSP - Countryside Services) [mailto:claire.lewis@powys.gov.uk]  

Sent: 13 April 2018 15:06 

To: Hugh Craddock 
Subject: RE: Application No. 001CR received under the Commons Act 2006, Unit No. MCL76 'Y' 

 

Dear Hugh 

 

For your information I am attaching a redacted copy of a letter and accompanying documents received from the 

applicant in response to the comments contained in the final paragraph of your email of 09.11 dated 4th April. 

 

Kind Regards 
 
Claire Lewis 
Swyddog Cynorthwyol Cofrestru Tir Comin a Mapiau Diffiniol 
Assistant Commons Registration and Definitive Map Officer 
Ffon/Tel: 01597 827625  Ffacs/Fax: 01597 829062 
Ebost/Email: claire.lewis@powys.gov.uk 

 

Page 252



�

���������	�
��������������
�����������
�

����� ��������		
��� ���
������

����� ������������������

��� ������������� �!"�#��
��$�%��	��!��&����'

�������� ()��*++����$�
��,
������(������&�	���	���$����
--
���*�$����./�0��$�,
��1���.�

232

Hi Claire 

Thank you for sight of the letter on behalf of the applicant.  However, I don't think it quite 
addresses the point. 

The Welsh Government's guidance, Common land and greens: guidance on making corrections, 
is wholly inadequate in explaining the requirements of an application under para.7, but at page 5 
(in the context of applications under para.4) it does state that— 

'Waste land of a manor is land that fulfils all of the following: 

• the land was at any point, or still is, part of a manor;

• the land is open, uncultivated and unoccupied…'

(the remaining text is relevant only to a para.4 application). 

Let's assume that the land is manorial in origin (the applicant is welcome to demonstrate that it is 
not).  Was the land 'open, uncultivated and unoccupied at the date of provisional registration?   If 
the applicant can show it was not — that at least one of these three elements was not satisfied — 
that will meet one of the key criteria for a para.7 application.  Were there walls enclosing the land, 
intended to keep stock on the land — if so, then the land was not 'open'?  Was the land occupied 
in the sense of being used for some productive activity apart from extensive unimproved 
grazing?  Very probably, as we have seen the conveyances, but the conveyances do not prove 
occupation in themselves, and some contemporary evidence of use and maintenance of the land 
by the farmer (rather than commoners) for grazing would be helpful. 

I can see that we are in a position where it is tempting to draw inferences from the evidence that 
we have already seen, that the application land was, at the date of provisional registration, 
ordinary inbye land (is that 'ffridd' in Wales?), farmed as such land is and was usually farmed, and 
that it therefore cannot have been waste land of a manor.  But the fact remains that the land was 
registered as common land, and the burden rests on the applicant to prove that the criteria are 
met, and it cannot be enough to rely on a circular assumption that a mistake was made in the 
original registration. 

regards 

Hugh 

�

��������		
���

������������

������������
������

����������������

�������
��������

�� ���!�

"����#� �

&&&%
%
��%���

���#�'() ��

,������
��������-�&
���.
�	��/�0�	��	�����	�����	���

Appendix 31

Page 253



�

1��������	����"�����	���	�0���/�������	��
���������2���*3)4�(4�

��������	������������2���(())3)'5�

 �

������������	��
������������������������

������	��
���������������

�������
���������
�������������
����� 
�

�
 

----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

The Open Spaces Society has staff with exhaustive experience in handling matters  

related to our charitable purposes.  While every endeavour has been made to give  

our considered opinion, the law in these matters is complex and subject to differing 

interpretations.  Such opinion is offered to help members, but does not constitute  

formal legal advice. 

----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

 
 

 

 

�����������	�
	��������������������	��	����	����������������	��	���������� ����!"��

���	���#�$��	��%�&��'�%(�

���)� *��������!�

�����	��+,��-�����������.���%%��+��	�	��	�����	���*	���������-����%%#/�0����.���1�
'#�232�

�

��������	�

�


����������������������������	����������������������������������������������������������������	�������������

������������������������������������������������������������������� �	�!���"�������������	�������������	��

����������������������#�����$��������������	���������

�

%	�������������$��������#��������������!�������

�

&���'�������

�

(�����)�$��

*$������(�����	$����(���������%��(������+������������

!��������(�������'����������������������+���,������


���-%��.�����/�0�/ ����
����-
�1.�����/�0��� ��

 

Page 254



�

���������	�
��������������
�����������
�

����� ��������	��
����� 	��
���������������

����� ���������������������

���  ������!�	���" #$�%� �����������#��&����'

�������� ())���������*����� +��,����*��- !./�010

Dear Claire, 

Here is my statement: 

In support of my application to de-register common land Y part of CL76(Montgomeryshire) I wish to 

clarify a few points:- 

According to the 1846 Tithe Map,(earliest document) parcel nos.1033 and 1031 are shown as pastureland 

and there is no mention of them being common land or sheep walk.It was owned by a Richard Hughes of 

Cwmcarnedd Estate, Llanbrynmair and tenanted by a William Bebe who later emigrated to America. 

My great grand-father,Evan Jones,took on the tenancy of Rhiwgriafol farm and was there at the time of the 

Valuation Map of 1910.This parcel of land numbered 1786 shows it as pastureland belonging to the 

Holding,not common land o r sheep walk. 

It was in 1922 that my grand-fatherRichard Jones bought it.On the conveyance plan the freehold was 

marked red as opposed to the neighbouring sheepwalk marked green.The parcel of land in question was 

included in the red section- pastureland.It was probably enclosed because even to-day one can see remnants 

of earthbanks and hedging.The sheep walk was rougher pastureland and heathland. 

The Land Registry map shows this parcel edged black (with two other parcels).It would be logical for this 

land to be freehold pastureland to gain access to fields 7718 and 9318. 

In the Commons Registration Map of 2004 ,the owner of land Y was shown to be my father Evan Hughes 

Jones.It wasn't waste of the manor as far as I know or commonland or village green,as confirmed by the 

statutory declaration of Geraint Wigley dated October8 2017. 

Therefore I should be recognised as the Legal owner of this parcel  of land Y and it should now be re-

registered in my name as the owner of Rhiwgriafol Farm. 

Please let me know if this is sufficient. 

Margaret Wilkins. 

Appendix 32

Page 255



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 33

Page 257



Page 258



Page 259



Page 260



Appendix 34

Page 261



Page 262



Page 263



Page 264



Page 265



Page 266



Page 267



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 35

Page 269



Page 270



Appendix 36

P
age 271



Page 272



Appendix 37

P
age 273



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 38 – Site photographs taken 28th November 2018 

 

Page 275



Appendix 38 – Site photographs taken 28th November 2018 

 

Page 276



Page 1 of 4 
 

CYNGOR SIR POWYS COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

PLANNING, TAXI LICENSING AND RIGHTS OF WAY COMMITTEE 
2nd August 2018 

 
REPORT BY: HEAD OF LEISURE AND RECREATION 
 
SUBJECT:  Opposed Diversion Order 2017: Abandonment and 

making of a new public path Order 
 
 
REPORT FOR: DECISION 
______________________________________________________________ 

 
Footpaths C15 and C18, Wernllwyd (Community of Welshpool.)  
Proposed abandonment of diversion Order 2017 and making of a new 
diversion Order under section 119 of the Highways Act 1980 
 
Background: 
1. An application was made by Mr DM Jones on 3rd February 2010, to divert 

parts of footpaths C15 and C18 at Wernllwyd. Initially, this application was 
made to move the paths out of the working farmyard and so it was placed 
on file to await processing.  

 
2. However, in 2014, a planning application (P/2014/0352) was made to 

construct an agricultural building; the proposed location was on the line of 
footpath C18. Given that, the applicant was advised that the path would 
need to be formally diverted before they could implement the development. 
The applicant was asked to undertake the pre-Order consultations. 

 
3. Mr F Jones took over as the applicant for the diversion at that time, although 

the land affected remains in the ownership of his father, Mr DM Jones.  
 
Consultation: 
4. Pre-Order consultation was carried out in 2016, by the agent to the applicant 

(Mr R Corbett of Roger Parry and Partners.) The following parties were 
consulted: 

a. Welshpool Town Council; 
b. The local member at the time, being Cllr P Pritchard and also Cllr 

S Hayes, as the site is very close to the boundary with the 
neighbouring ward. 

c. Path user groups, including the Rambler’s Association, Open 
Spaces Society and Byways and Bridleways Trust; 

d. Natural Resources Wales; 
e. North and Mid Wales Trunk Road Agency; 
f. The Council’s Planning Service, Highways, Transport and 

Recycling service and Cycling officer; 
g. Utility companies. 

 

Page 277

8



Page 2 of 4 
 

5. No objections were received, so a diversion Order was made in July 2017. 
A copy of the Order can be found at appendix A. 
 

Objections: 
6. One objection to the Order was received, from Mr Peter Newman of the 

Open Spaces Society. His letter can be found at appendix B. 
 

7. Some of Mr Newman’s objections related to the planning process. The 
points relevant to the legal criteria for this diversion are that: 

 

• He felt that the proposed diversion exceeded what was required to 
allow for the development to be carried out, as the diversion extends 
beyond the ‘red line’ area identified on the planning application. 

• The diverted path would follow a lengthy route around the perimeter of 
several small fields and this would appear to be designed to allow the 
path to be fenced in. His concern was that the path width was set out at 
2 metres in the Order and that if the path directly abutted the 
hedgerow, this could then leave a width of only 1-1.5 metres available 
to the public. 

• There is no connection proposed between point J and the canal 
towpath, which would mean that walkers approaching the canal 
towpath from the south would need to unnecessarily detour over 200m. 

• That he felt that the work to install the new gates should be specified in 
the Order, rather than the gates being authorised separately under 
section 147 of the Highways Act 1980. 

• That the diversion of the section of path to between point B and the 
main road would result in more road walking for those seeking to 
access the paths from Welshpool. 
 

8. The points made in response to Mr Newman are in the email of 19th October 
2017 (appendix C.) In summary, these were: 
 

• That part of footpath C15 was included in the diversion because it is an 
important connecting route with footpath C18. There is a need to ensure 
that the road crossing between footpaths C15 and C18 is as direct and 
safe as possible, given that this is a busy trunk road. Leaving this section 
of footpath C15 in place would result in a staggered crossing, which the 
North and Mid Wales Trunk Road Agency would not support. 

• Keeping the path close this development site may be the shortest route, 
but it would mean taking a route that is close to regular movement of 
heavy vehicles and machinery and through enclosed areas with 
intensive farming activity. The proposed route keeps the public away 
from the busiest and most industrialised areas of the farm by using the 
adjoining pasture land. 

• The proposed route of footpath C18 has been drawn onto the Order 
plan with the centre line being a minimum of 4 metres from the centre 
of the field boundary. That effectively means that there is a strip of at 
least a metre wide between the edge of the path and field boundary, 
even without specifying a width greater than 2 metres for the path itself. 

• The Canal and River Trust were initially approached about diverting the 
path via point J and over the towpath, but did not give consent for that. 

Page 278



Page 3 of 4 
 

• The form of words for a diversion Order under section 257 of the Town 
and Country Planning Act 1990 does not allow for limitations and 
conditions (i.e. structures such as gates) to be specified at all. If gates 
are needed for livestock control, they must be authorised separately. 
 

Options and further consultations: 
9. By the time the response was sent to Mr Newman, officers had visited the 

site. It was apparent that the new building subject of the planning consent 
had already been constructed. As such, it is no longer possible to confirm 
the diversion Order that was made in 2017, under section 257 of the Town 
and Country Planning Act 1990. Under this legislation, a public path Order 
cannot be confirmed if the development for which it is needed is already 
substantially complete. 

 
10. Given this, the applicant was advised that a new Order would need to be 

made, under section 119 of the Highways Act 1980 and that they would be 
expected to meet the costs of doing so.  

 
11. Subsequent to that, Mr Newman contacted the Canal and River Trust 

himself, to find out whether they would consent to a short linking spur 
footpath, between point J and the canal towpath. There is a gate in place at 
this location already. The Canal and River Trust advised that they felt that 
this was a good idea in principle, but would not consent to a public path 
being created over the towpath. The emails are at appendix D.  

 
12. The liability created by such a link would be shared between the landowner 

and the Council, with the landowner being responsible for the gate in the 
boundary near point J, adjoining the towpath. The new path would be 
entirely over land in the ownership of Mr Jones; his agent has advised that 
he would be willing to create this linking path. 

 
13. There is no option to continue with the 2017 Order, given that the building 

is already in place. Given that, the options are: 
 

a. To abandon the 2017 Order and make a new one, under section 
119 of the Highways Act 1980 for the same routes as the 2017 
Order, as per the plan at appendix E; 

b. To add a creation agreement to the diversion, for a footpath link 
between the towpath and point J as per the plan at appendix F;  

c. Or to abandon the 2017 Order and either seek and consult on 
completely different routes, or take alternative action to reopen 
the footpaths. 
 

14. The routes subject of the 2017 Order have broad agreement, other than the 
points raised by Mr Newman. Mr Newman’s concerns could be addressed 
by adding a linking path from point J. As the applicant would be meeting the 
cost of making a new Order, it is proposed that the 2017 Order be 
abandoned and that a new Order be made for the same diversion routes, 
but with an added linking path between point J and the canal towpath. 

 

Page 279



Page 4 of 4 
 

RECOMMENDATIONS:   
1. That the diversion Order made in 2017 for footpaths C15 and C18 under 

section 257 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, as at Appendix A, 
be formally abandoned, as it cannot be confirmed; and 
 

2. That a new diversion Order be made in replacement, under section 119 of 
the Highways Act 1980 for the routes shown on the plan at appendix E; and 

 
3. That the Council enters into a creation agreement with the landowner, to 

create a linking section of path between point J and the canal towpath, as 
per the plan at appendix F. This would come into effect only if the new 
diversion Order can be confirmed. 

 
Appendices: 
 
Appendix: Description: 
A Diversion Order 2017, footpaths C15 and C18 Welshpool 
B Objection letter from Mr Newman, 22nd August 2017 
C Email from Countryside Services to Mr Newman, 19th October 

2017 
D Emails from Mr Newman to Canal and Rivers Trust, December 

2017 
E Plan of diversion routes for proposed new Order 
F Plan of suggested additional linking footpath 

 
 

Page 280



Appendix A

Page 281



Page 282



Page 283



Page 284



Page 285



Page 286



Appendix B

Page 287



Page 288



From: Sian Barnes (CSP - Countryside Services)
To: Newman, Peter
Cc: Martin Davies (CSP - Countryside Services); Calum Carr (CSP - Countryside Services)
Subject: Proposed diversion of footpaths C15 and C18, Welshpool
Date: 19 October 2017 17:55:00
Attachments: img-823144156-0001.pdf

Dear Mr Newman,

First, I am writing to formally acknowledge receipt of your attached letter 22nd August 2017. On
discussion with our Legal Services department, I realise that you may not have received written
acknowledgement until now, so many apologies for that. Further to our conversation about this
a few weeks ago, I have now been out on site and would like to respond to the points in your
letter.

The planning process takes into account many factors, of which public rights of way is one
consideration. In this case, the Planning Officer has acknowledged the existence of the public
footpaths at Wernllwyd, but has also noted that there is a separate legal process for seeking to
divert them. The detail of the planning process is outside my area of expertise and so it would
not be appropriate for me to comment on the legal criteria in relation to that. However, the fact
is that planning consent was granted for development affecting the public rights of way. In
considering a diversion proposal under those circumstances, we can only consider the merits of
the proposed changes to the public rights of way; we cannot reopen the planning process or re-
examine the merits of any planning permission given, and neither can a Planning Inspector. The
planning and diversion processes are separate legally, each with their own means to appeal.

In this case, the diversion put forward does include a short section of footpath C15, because this
is clearly an important connecting route with C18. The reason for proposing to divert part of
footpath C15 is to ensure that the road crossing between the two paths is as direct and safe as
possible, given that this is a busy trunk road. The Mid Wales Trunk Road Agency has advised that
if changes are being made, a staggered crossing is not acceptable from its point of view; we are
concerned that leaving the section of footpath C15 from point B to the road would encourage
use of a staggered crossing.

We do try to ensure that as well as moving the sections of a path that are directly affected by
proposed development, we also look to find the most enjoyable and convenient route possible
for the public. Keeping the path close this development site may be the shortest route, but we
are concerned that it would not provide path users with a very enjoyable experience; it would
mean taking a route that is close to regular movement of heavy vehicles and machinery and
through enclosed areas with intensive farming activity. The proposed route keeps the public
away from the busiest and most industrialised areas of the farm by using the adjoining pasture
land.

The proposed route of footpath C18 has been drawn onto the Order plan with the centre line
being a minimum of 4 metres from the centre of the field boundary. That effectively means that
there is a strip of at least a metre wide between the edge of the path and field boundary, even
without specifying a width greater than 2 metres for the path itself. We did contact the Canal
and River Trust to seek a connection with the towpath in the location that you have suggested,
but they have not given consent for that.

Appendix C

Page 289



Having visited the site, it has become apparent that the developer has, regrettably, already
constructed the new building over the line of footpath C18. As such, we will not be able to
confirm the diversion Order made under the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. It is clear that
the paths cannot remain as they are, so I will need to seek the view of the Planning, Taxi
Licensing and Rights of Way Committee about making and advertising a new Order under the
Highways Act 1980. That would then allow for the gates to be included in the legal Order.
 
Regards,
Sian
 
Sian Barnes
Definitive Map and Commons Registration Officer
Gwasanaethau Cefn Gwlad / Countryside Services
Cyngor Sir Powys / Powys County Council
Ffon / Tel: 01597 827595
 
Visit our website at Cyngor Sir Powys County Council: Countryside
Find us on www.facebook.com/powys.countryside
Follow us on https://twitter.com/PowysCountry
 
 

Page 290



Page 291



> Works Engineer (Manchester, Pennine & Potteries and North Wales &
> Borders waterway areas)
>
> Description: Description: Description: Description: Description:
> J:\M&C\Marketing Services 86150\CRT rebrand\01_Brand identity
> guidelines\Logos\Office use (Word & Powerpoint)\England\CRT
> Logo_English_strapline_black.jpg
>
> Canal & River Trust, Red Bull Wharf, Congleton Road South, Church
> Lawton, Stoke-on-Trent, ST7 3AP
>
> Tel: 
>
> Email

>
> __
>
> For further information and a copy of the 3^rd Party Code of Practice
> please follow this link -
>
> https://canalrivertrust.org.uk/business-and-trade/undertaking-works-on-our-property-and-our-code-of-practice
>
>
> ------------------------------------------------------------------------
>
> Keep in touch Sign up for the Canal & River Trust e-newsletter
> canalrivertrust.org.uk/newsletter Become a fan on
> facebook.com/canalrivertrust Follow us on twitter.com/canalrivertrust
> and instagram.com/canalrivertrust This email and its attachments are
> intended solely for the use of the intended recipient. If you are not
> the intended recipient of this email and its attachments, you must take
> no action based upon them; please delete without copying or forwarding
> and inform the sender that you received them in error. Any views or
> opinions expressed are solely those of the author and do not necessarily
> represent those of The Canal & River Trust. Canal & River Trust is a
> charitable company limited by guarantee registered in England & Wales
> with company number 7807276 and charity number 1146792. Registered
> office address First Floor North, Station House, 500 Elder Gate, Milton
> Keynes MK9 1BB.
>
> Cadw mewn cysylltiad Cofrestrwch i dderbyn e-gylchlythyr Glandwr Cymru
> canalrivertrust.org.uk/newsletter Cefnogwch ni ar
> facebook.com/canalrivertrust Dilynwch ni ar twitter.com/canalrivertrust
> ac instagram.com/canalrivertrust
>
> This email and its attachments are intended solely for the use of the
> intended recipient. If you are not the intended recipient of this email
> and its attachments, you must take no action based upon them; please
> delete without copying or forwarding and inform the sender that you
> received them in error. Any views or opinions expressed are solely those
> of the author and do not necessarily represent those of The Canal &
> River Trust. Canal & River Trust is a charitable company limited by
> guarantee registered in England & Wales with company number 7807276 and
> charity number 1146792. Registered office address First Floor North,
> Station House, 500 Elder Gate, Milton Keynes MK9 1BB.
>
> Mae’r e-bost hwn a’i atodiadau ar gyfer defnydd y derbynnydd bwriedig yn
> unig. Os nad chi yw derbynnydd bwriedig yr e-bost hwn a’i atodiadau, ni
> ddylech gymryd unrhyw gamau ar sail y cynnwys, ond yn hytrach dylech eu
> dileu heb eu copïo na’u hanfon ymlaen a rhoi gwybod i’r anfonwr eich bod

Page 292



> wedi eu derbyn ar ddamwain. Mae unrhyw farn neu safbwynt a fynegir yn
> eiddo i’r awdur yn unig ac nid ydynt o reidrwydd yn cynrychioli barn a
> safbwyntiau Glandwr Cymru.
>
> Mae Glandwr Cymru yn gwmni cyfyngedig drwy warant a gofrestrwyd yng
> Nghymru a Lloegr gyda rhif cwmni 7807276 a rhif elusen gofrestredig
> 1146792. Swyddfa gofrestredig: First Floor North, Station House, 500
> Elder Gate, Milton Keynes MK9 1BB.
>

---
This email has been checked for viruses by Avast antivirus software.
https://www.avast.com/antivirus

Page 293



This page is intentionally left blank



74.4m

73.9m

ED Bdy

CR

C
H

CF

Wernllwyd

Greycot

Maes Isaf

Brithdir Isaf

T
ow

 P
at

h

Lay-b
y

E
T

L

Track

Drain

Sinks

Issues

(d
is

us
ed

)

M
on

tg
om

er
ys

hi
re

 B
ra

nc
h

Issues

Issues

E

C
A

B

G

K

J

F

D

H

I
F

oo
tp

at
h  

C
1 6

Footpath C15

Footpath C
18

Cyngor Sir County Council

Printed by: barness Date 10/02/2017



Public path diversion Order:
Public footpaths C15 and C18 (parts), Wernllwyd
Community of Welshpool
Scale 1:2500            OSGR SJ 204,027

320200

320200

320300

320300

320400

320400

320500

320500

320600

320600
30

30
00

30
30

00

30
29

00

30
29

00

30
28

00

30
28

00

30
27

00

30
27

00

30
26

00

30
26

00

30
25

00

30
25

00

© Crown copyright and database rights 2017 Ordnance Survey 100025371
© Hawlfraint y Goron a hawliau cronfa ddata 2017 Arolwg Ordnans 100025371
© Crown copyright. All rights reserved. Countryside Council for Wales, 100018813 2017
© Hawlfraint y Goron. Cedwir pob hawl. Cyngor Cefn Gwlad Cymru, 100018813 2017
Additional information © Powys County Council 2017 No additional copies should be made without the permission of the Council.
Gwybodaeth ychwanegol © Cyngor Sir Powys 2017 Ni ddylid gwneud unrhyw gopïau ychwanegol heb ganiatâd y Cyngor.

FOOTPATH TO
BE CREATED

FOOTPATH TO
BE EXTINGUISHED

KEY TO NOTATION

EXISTING FOOTPATH
UNAFFECTED

E B F D

G H I J K

A B C D

Appendix E

Page 295



This page is intentionally left blank



74.4m

73.9m

ED Bdy

C
R

C
H

CF

Wernllwyd

Greycot

Maes Isaf

Brithdir Isaf

T
o

w
P

a
t h

Lay-
by

E
T

L

Track

Drain

Sinks

Issues

(d
is

u
se

d
)

M
o

n
tg

o
m

e
ry

s
h
ir
e

B
ra

n
c
h

Issues

Issues

E

C

A

B

G

K

J

F

D

H

I
F

o
o
tp

a
th

C
1
6

Footpath C15

F
o
o
tp

a
th

C
1
8

Cyngor Sir County Council

Printed by: barness Date 10/02/2017

�

Public path diversion Order:

Public footpaths C15 and C18 (parts), Wernllwyd

Community of Welshpool

Scale 1:2500            OSGR SJ 204,027

320200

320200

320300

320300

320400

320400

320500

320500

320600

320600
3
0
3
0
0
0

3
0
3
0
0
0

3
0
2
9
0
0

3
0
2
9
0
0

3
0
2
8
0
0

3
0
2
8
0
0

3
0
2
7
0
0

3
0
2
7
0
0

3
0
2
6
0
0

3
0
2
6
0
0

3
0
2
5
0
0

3
0
2
5
0
0

© Crown copyright and database rights 2017 Ordnance Survey 100025371

© Hawlfraint y Goron a hawliau cronfa ddata 2017 Arolwg Ordnans 100025371

© Crown copyright. All rights reserved. Countryside Council for Wales, 100018813 2017

© Hawlfraint y Goron. Cedwir pob hawl. Cyngor Cefn Gwlad Cymru, 100018813 2017

Additional information © Powys County Council 2017 No additional copies should be made without the permission of the Council.

Gwybodaeth ychwanegol © Cyngor Sir Powys 2017 Ni ddylid gwneud unrhyw gopïau ychwanegol heb ganiatâd y Cyngor.

FOOTPATH TO

BE CREATED

FOOTPATH TO

BE EXTINGUISHED

KEY TO NOTATION

EXISTING FOOTPATH

UNAFFECTED

E B F D

G H I J K

A B C D

Suggested 

 linking 

 path

Appendix F

Page 297



This page is intentionally left blank



Taxi Licensing Sub-Committee Tuesday, 1 May 2018

MINUTES OF A MEETING OF THE TAXI LICENSING SUB-COMMITTEE HELD AT 
COUNCIL CHAMBER - NEUADD MALDWYN, WELSHPOOL, POWYS ON 

TUESDAY, 1 MAY 2018

PRESENT
County Councillor L George (Chair)

County Councillors H. Hulme and K Lewis

1. RESOLUTION TO EXCLUDE THE PUBLIC AND THE PRESS 

RESOLVED that in accordance with Section 100(a)(4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 the public and press were excluded from the meeting 
on the grounds that there would be disclosure to them of exempt 
information under Paragraphs 12 and 18 of Schedule 12a Part 7 of the 
above Act in respect of the following item[s].

2. REVIEW OF A JOINT HACKNEY CARRIAGE AND PRIVATE HIRE 
DRIVER'S LICENCE 

2.1. Sub-Committee procedures 

The Chair introduced the Sub-Committee and its Clerk.

The Clerk to the Sub-Committee on behalf of the Solicitor to the Council 
explained the procedures to be followed by the Sub-Committee.

2.2. Review of a licence 

Licence holder – M.R.E.

The Licensing Officer presented the licensing authority’s position as outlined in 
the report [copy filed with the signed minutes].  

The Children’s Manager for north Powys attended the meeting and explained 
that the disclosure of inappropriate behavior was made by a vulnerable 16 year 
old to her case work support officers. 

The Licensing Officer explained that MREs licence had been suspended based 
on allegations concerning the above matter and previous convictions.  The 
Licensing Officer referred to the recommendations in a Safeguarding Report of a 
Professional Strategy Meeting held on the 13th April 2018.  The Sub-Committee 
also considered written representations from MRE and three references supplied 
by him.

The Sub-Committee withdrew to consider, in private, the review and the 
evidence they had heard, with the support of the Clerk.  

On their return the Chair announced their decision.  In reaching the decision 
members took into account the relevant written and verbal representations.  

Page 299

9



Taxi Licensing Sub-Committee Tuesday, 1 May 2018

RESOLVED Reason for decision
To revoke the Hackney Carriage 
and Private Hire Driver’s Licence 
held by M.R.E.  

That he is not a fit and proper 
person to hold a hackney 
Carriage and Private Hire Driver’s 
Licence.

The Clerk to the Sub-Committee advised that he would confirm the decision in 
writing and reminded parties of their right to appeal. 

The Chair thanked all for attending.

3. THE SUB-COMMITTEE TO AGREE TO MOVE INTO OPEN SESSION 

The Sub-Committee agreed to move into public session for the remainder of the 
meeting.

4. APPLICATION FOR A PLATE EXEMPTION ON PRIVATE HIRE LICENSED 
VEHICLE 

4.1. Sub-Committee procedures 

The Chair introduced the Sub-Committee and its Clerk.

The Clerk to the Sub-Committee on behalf of the Solicitor to the Council 
explained the procedures to be followed by the Sub-Committee.

4.2. Application for a plate exemption 

Applicant – Silver Service

The Licensing Officer presented the licensing authority’s position as outlined in 
the report [copy filed with the signed minutes].  

All parties confirmed that they had been able to make their representations.

The Sub-Committee withdrew to consider, in private, the application and the 
evidence they had heard, with the support of the Clerk.  

On their return the Chair announced their decision.  In reaching the decision 
members took into account the relevant written and verbal representations.  

RESOLVED Reason for decision
To grant Silver Service its 
application for a licence plate 
exemption (including for a 
replacement vehicle of a similar 
or improved standard as the 
vehicle being replaced).

The applicant has made out a 
justifiable business case for 
claiming the exemption and such 
an exemption would not be 
detrimental to public safety.

Page 300



Taxi Licensing Sub-Committee Tuesday, 1 May 2018

The Clerk to the Sub-Committee advised that he would confirm the decision in 
writing and reminded parties of their right to appeal. 

The Chair thanked all for attending.

5. APPLICATION FOR A PLATE EXEMPTION ON PRIVATE HIRE LICENSED 
VEHICLES 

5.1. Sub-Committee's procedures 

The Chair introduced the Sub-Committee and its Clerk.

The Clerk to the Sub-Committee on behalf of the Solicitor to the Council 
explained the procedures to be followed by the Sub-Committee.

5.2. Application for a plate exemption 

Applicant – Mid Wales Limousines

The Licensing Officer presented the licensing authority’s position as outlined in 
the report [copy filed with the signed minutes].  

All parties confirmed that they had been able to make their representations.

The Sub-Committee withdrew to consider, in private, the application and the 
evidence they had heard, with the support of the Clerk.  

On their return the Chair announced their decision.  In reaching the decision 
members took into account the relevant written and verbal representations.  

RESOLVED Reason for decision
To grant Mid Wales Limousines 
its application for a licence plate 
exemption.

The applicant has made out a 
justifiable business case for 
claiming the exemption and such 
an exemption would not be 
detrimental to public safety.

The Clerk to the Sub-Committee advised that he would confirm the decision in 
writing and reminded parties of their right to appeal. 

The Chair thanked all for attending.

6. APPLICATION FOR A PLATE EXEMPTION ON PRIVATE HIRE LICENSED 
VEHICLES 

6.1. Sub-Committee procedures 

The Chair introduced the Sub-Committee and its Clerk.

The Clerk to the Sub-Committee on behalf of the Solicitor to the Council 
explained the procedures to be followed by the Sub-Committee.

Page 301



Taxi Licensing Sub-Committee Tuesday, 1 May 2018

6.2. Application for plate exemption 

Applicant – Tiny’s Limo

The Licensing Officer presented the licensing authority’s position as outlined in 
the report [copy filed with the signed minutes].  

All parties confirmed that they had been able to make their representations.

The Sub-Committee withdrew to consider, in private, the application and the 
evidence they had heard, with the support of the Clerk.  

On their return the Chair announced their decision.  In reaching the decision 
members took into account the relevant written and verbal representations.  

RESOLVED Reason for decision
To grant Tiny’s Limo its 
application for a licence plate 
exemption.

The applicant has made out a 
justifiable business case for 
claiming the exemption and such 
an exemption would not be 
detrimental to public safety.

The Clerk to the Sub-Committee advised that he would confirm the decision in 
writing and reminded parties of their right to appeal. 

The Chair thanked all for attending.

County Councillor L George (Chair)

Page 302


	Agenda
	4 Planning applications for consideration by the Committee
	4.2 P/2018/0587 Abermule Business Park, Abermule, Powys
	P20180587

	4.3 P/2018/0632 Brynllywarch Residential School, Kerry, Newtown Powys SY16 4PB
	P20180632

	4.4 P/2018/0507 Land at West Street, Knighton, Powys, LD7 1EN
	P20180507

	4.5 P/2018/0627 Land Adjacent to Llanbister County Primary School, Llanbister, Llandrindod Wells, Powys, LD1 6TN
	P20180627

	4.6 P/2017/1453 Dolygarn, Llanbadarn Fynydd, Llandrindod Wells Powys LD1 6YL
	P20171453

	4.7 P/2017/1274 Sites A, B & C Nr. Riverside & Nr. Latham Park, Newtown, Powys
	P20171274

	4.8 P/2018/0592 Trefonnen Church In Wales School, Trefonen Lane, Llandrindod Wells, Powys, LD1 5EB
	P20180592

	4.9 P/2018/0467 Y Ffrydd, Canal Road, Newtown, Powys, SY16 2JY
	P20180467

	7 Application to correct the Register of Common Land
	Appendix 1_17-001CR J M Wilkins Application Form
	Appendix 2_Location plan
	Appendix 3_Application 17-001CA Notice Plan Rhiwgriafol
	Appendix 4_Supporting Document List
	Appendix 5_Extract from Ordnance Survey Map, land edged in red_extract
	Appendix 6_Land Registry Title Plan Extract of Rhiwgriafol Farm
	Appendix 7_Aerial photograph SAF Map 2010
	Appendix 8_Conveyance of land in 1922
	Appendix 9_Penegoes Parish Tithe Map Extract 1840
	Appendix 10_Finance Act 1910 Duties&Land Values parcel 170
	Appendix 11_Finance Act 1910 Duties&Land Values parcel 171
	Appendix 12_Finance Act Map showing reference area 170 and field no. 1786
	Appendix 13_WAG Glastir Map
	Appendix 14_WAG Glastir survey map
	Appendix 15_CR document plans
	Appendix 16_CR register extracts & map
	Appendix 17_Stat Dec Mr Wigley
	Appendix 18_Covering Letter dated 9.4.18 from Applicant
	Appendix 19_Document (i) Copy of Grant of Probate to the estate of R Jones
	Appendix 20_Document (ii) Copy Assent dated 12.12.51
	Appendix 21_Document (iii) Copy Grant letters of Administration
	Appendix 22_Document (iv) Copy Asssent dated 16.3.54
	Appendix 23_Document (v) Conveyance dated 9.8.85
	Appendix 24_Covering Letter from M Wilkins inc list of accompanying deeds
	Appendix 25_18.01.10 Email Objection from the Open Spaces Society
	Appendix 26_18.01.15 Email from OSS to CRA re documents
	Appendix 27_18.02.07 Email from OSS re MCL076 Area 'y'
	Appendix 28_18.03.06 Email from OSS assessing recent statement from the applicant
	Appendix 29_ 18.04.05 Email from OSS with final comments
	Appendix 30_18.04.16 Email from OSS with comments on ownership application
	Appendix 31_18.06.27 Email from OSS with waste land of the manor comments
	Appendix 32_18.01.24 Email statement from Applicant in response to objection
	Appendix 33_18.02.15 Letter from applicant J M Wilkins
	Appendix 34_18.03.16 Letter & documents from applicant M Wilkins
	Appendix 35_18.04.28 Letter from the applicant
	Appendix 36_Commons Register Land section
	Appendix 37_Commons Register Plan extract
	Appendix 38_Site photos

	8 Opposed Diversion Order 2017: Abandonment and making of a new public path Order
	Appendix A - Diversion Order 2017 Footpaths C15 & C18
	Appendix B - Objection letter Mr Newman
	Appendix C - Email to Mr Newman
	Appendix D - Email from Mr Newman to Canal & River Trust
	Appendix E - Diversion route proposal
	Appendix F - Suggested link plan

	9 Minutes of Taxi Review Panels



